Public Document Pack

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk

You are requested to attend a meeting of
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
on Friday, 26 April 2019, at 11.00 a.m.
in the Bindloss Room, Kendal Town Hall
Committee Membership
Councillors
Pat Bell
Helen Chaffey
Brian Cooper
Anne Hall
Hazel Hodgson
Vicky Hughes (Chairman)
Anne Hutton
Janette Jenkinson
Ian Mitchell
Doug Rathbone (Vice-Chairman)
Vivienne Rees
Mark Wilson

Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”.
Monday, 15 April 2019
Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)
For all enquiries, please contact:Committee Administrator:
Committee Services
Telephone:
01539 733333
e-mail:
committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I

1

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2

MINUTES
To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting of the Committee held on 1 February 2019.

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this
Agenda.
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct,
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s
Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as
any other registrable or other interests.
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

4

DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP
In accordance with Rule 17 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, any
Member who is subject to a party whip on any item must declare the existence
and nature of the whip.

5

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be
considered in the presence of the press and public.

6

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the
meeting. Information on how to make the application can be obtained by
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.
(1)

Questions and Representations

To receive any questions or representations which have been received from
members of the public.
(2)

Deputations and Petitions

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from
members of the public.

5 - 16

7

MORECAMBE BAY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
To receive a presentation from a representative of the Morecambe Bay NHS
Foundation Trust.

8

MORECAMBE BAY CCG
To receive a presentation from a representative of the Morecambe Bay CCG.

9

COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 4 2018/19

17 - 60

To monitor progress against the measures of success as detailed within the
current Council Plan and to consider any recommendations to be made to
Cabinet.

10

PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - CULTURE AND LEISURE

61 - 64

To consider the annual report from the Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder on
the progress made within the portfolio area and their plans for the future.

11

PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - HEALTH AND WELLBEING

65 - 70

To consider the annual report from the Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder on
the progress made within the portfolio area and their plans for the future.

12

DRAFT SOUTH LAKELAND
STRATEGY 2019 - 2024

DISTRICT

COUNCIL

HOMELESSNESS

71 - 128

To consider the draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy
2019-2024 and make any comments for recommendation to Cabinet.

13

PARKS AND OPEN SPACES STRATEGY

129 - 170

To consider the draft Parks and Open Spaces Strategy and make any
comments for recommendation to Cabinet.

14

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - SECOND CONSULTATION

171 - 280

To consider the responses to the first stage of the public consultation carried out
as part of the Community Governance Review.

15

DRAFT SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

281 - 290

To consider the draft Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19.

16

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS AND SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS
REPORT

291 - 298

To consider the annual Review of Effectiveness and an update on progress
made by Cabinet in implementing the adopted recommendations of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

17

WORK PROGRAMME SETTING 2019/20

299 - 308

To agree the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme for 2019/20.

18

SOUTH CUMBRIA COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP REVIEW 2018/19
To consider an update on the South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership.

19

CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE
To receive an update, if any, on the work of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny
Committee from the Council’s representative or substitute.

309 - 318

PART II
Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this Part of the Agenda.

Item No.2
41
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in
the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Friday, 1 February
2019, at 10.30 a.m.
Present
Councillors
Vicky Hughes (Chairman)
Doug Rathbone (Vice-Chairman)
Pat Bell
Helen Chaffey
Brian Cooper

Anne Hall
Anne Hutton
Janette Jenkinson

Vivienne Rees
Mark Wilson

Officers
Inge Booth
Lawrence Conway
John Davies
Rachel Earnshaw
Ian Hassall
Lee Hurst
Fiona Inston
Anthea Lowe
Shelagh McGregor
Fraser Robertson
Simon Rowley
Helen Smith
David Sykes

Senior Committee Services Officer
Chief Executive
Performance and Risk Officer
Public Protection Officer
Assistant Director Strategic Development
Chief Accountant
Public Protection Manager
Solicitor to the Council
Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)
Senior Communications Officer
Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services
Financial Services Manager
Director People and Places

Also in attendance were Councillors Philip Dixon (Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder),
Andrew Jarvis (Finance Portfolio Holder) and Graham Vincent (Economy and Assets
Portfolio Holder).

O&S/51

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT
The Chairman welcomed Councillor Helen Chaffey who was taking Councillor
Robin Ashcroft’s place on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee following his recent
appointment to the Cabinet.
The Chairman also took the opportunity to advise Members that Morecambe Bay NHS
Foundation Trust had provided late notification that they were unable to send a
representative to make the presentation at Agenda Item No.9. Concern was expressed in
this regard and it was suggested that the Chairman write to the Trust expressing the
Committee’s disappointment that they had been unable to send anyone at all and seeking
firm commitment for attendance by a named representative at the next meeting of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 April 2019 to make a short presentation followed
by a question and answer session.

Page 5

42
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to write to Morecambe Bay NHS
Foundation Trust expressing disappointment and seeking commitment for attendance by
a representative at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 April 2019
along the lines discussed and outlined above.

O&S/52

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 January 2019, marked “to follow”
on the agenda, had been circulated prior to the meeting.
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes
of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 January 2019.

O&S/53

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised at this stage in
the proceedings.

O&S/54

DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of the party whip were raised.

O&S/55

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the Agenda.

O&S/56

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Harry Brunskill spoke with regard to the Cumbria Public Health Strategy on behalf of a
group – Clean Air for Ulverston.
Mr Brunskill pointed out that air pollution killed more than 20 times more people than road
traffic accidents in this country; 40,000 a year from fumes, compared to fewer than 1,800
from road accidents. Air pollution caused a wide range of health effects, including
cardiovascular disease, dementia, diabetes, miscarriage, cancer of all kinds and, possibly
most worrying, permanent damage to children’s lungs.
Mr Brunskill felt that the fact that the levels of air pollution in Ulverston were lower than in
other places seemed of little relevance, since air pollution had recently been shown to be
harmful, even at low levels. He stressed that there were no safe levels, so any reduction
in air pollution, in Ulverston’s case from vehicle emissions, would lead to a reduction in
deaths and other health effects.
Mr Brunskill stated that Mr Cox focussed on particulates from woodburners in the Strategy
document. While a reduction in the use of woodburners, if not a complete Government
ban, would be welcomed by the group, Mr Brunskill stressed that woodburners must not
be used as a reason to avoid action on traffic fumes. The particulates referred to were
also, of course, present in vehicle emissions, and not only from diesels or lorries.
Based on the same 2019 Public Health England figures that Mr Cox referred to in the
document, the group estimated deaths in Ulverston from traffic fumes to be running at a
conservative estimate of about 20 a year. The group was asking for this to be reduced, by
pedestrianisation of the town centre and a 20mph speed limit throughout the town.
Mr Brunskill said that there seemed to be backing for the 20mph limit from all political

Page 6

43
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

parties in Ulverston. In addition, he pointed out that, according to the figures from the
campaign group, “20’s Plenty”, it would only cost about £18,000 for the whole of the town,
so the group did not see why this was not going ahead immediately. Mr Brunskill pointed
out that pedestrianisation would cost even less – a few no entry signs. It was also popular
– a survey carried out by the group in summer had shown that at least nine out of ten
people asked had been in favour of the idea. This was also supported by many traders,
who saw the potential of a traffic-free town centre. As Mary Portas had put it, for high
streets to thrive, shopping had to be about “the experience”. In other words, it had to take
place in a pleasant environment, which traffic-free streets provided. Mr Brunskill
highlighted that the group had sent studies to Council officers and Members when last
addressing the Committee, showing that pedestrianisation increased footfall and trade by
up to 40%. So pedestrianisation should increase trade, and certainly could not be worse
than present policies, where they existed at all, to combat the two trends of out-of-town
shops and, increasingly, online shopping. However, it was the group’s view that trade
should be a secondary consideration only. The principal one should be to reduce the
effects of traffic fumes on the town’s health.
There had been calls all over the country for 20mph speed limits and pedestrianisation,
which the group believed would soon be the norm as people woke up to the need to do
something about climate change, which was impacted on by traffic fumes, as well as
wanting to improve their quality of life. These clean air zones could work in other towns
and villages in Cumbria, and could put the county ahead of the curve. The group wanted
to lead the way in Ulverston. Mr Brunskill pointed out that, if 20 people a year in a small
town like Ulverston were dying as a result of road traffic accidents, something would soon
be done. So the group was appealing to the Committee to work with it to implement a
20mph speed limit and pedestrianisation as soon as possible.
Mr Brunskill hoped that Colin Cox would address the points raised during his presentation.

O&S/57

WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN
The Solicitor to the Council provided a verbal update on the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee Work Programme 2018/19 and the contents of the latest Forward Plan
published on 8 January 2019.
As reported at the previous meeting, the date for consideration by the Committee of the
Homelessness Strategy 2019-2024 would now be 26 April 2019. In addition, the
Committee would, on 26 April, be asked to consider an additional item, the Parks and
Open Spaces Strategy. The Solicitor to the Council referred to the Green Team Update
which was shown within the Programme as an item for today’s meeting. This would also
be moved to the agenda for 26 April, however, she advised that the Assistant Director
Strategic Development was present to provide a brief update under this item.
The Solicitor to the Council advised that expressions of interest had been sought for the
task and finish group on the development of locality working through Customer Connect.
It had been intended that this task and finish group would commence in February 2019,
however, following a request for an urgent workshop to be held on the potential impact of
a no deal Brexit on Cumbria, expressions of interest for which would shortly be sought,
the locality working task and finish group would commence instead in March.
A suggestion was raised at this point for Members to give authorisation to the Chairman
and Vice-Chairman, on behalf of the Committee, to continue correspondence with
Northern Rail with regard to rail issues, as and when necessary, instead of having to wait
until the next meeting of the Committee.

Page 7

44
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Assistant Director Strategic Development then provided a brief update with regard to
progress being made by the Green Team which had been established approximately nine
months ago. The Group, consisting of officers, partners and the Leader had met on a
number of occasions, culminating in the production of a draft Climate Change Policy
which was due to be considered by Cabinet and Council and which would form part of the
revisions to the Council Plan in order to bring the issue to the fore, as well as through
various communication channels.
The group had produced a list of activities to assist in influencing behaviours. A large
amount of work had been done to support the Climate Change Agenda and a low carbon
economy, in relation to, for example, air pollution, cycling, Local Plan development and
development standards. There had been engagement with partners in order to seek
ideas from the community and to help inform the schedule of actions. In addition, the
group was working with Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS). A programme of work
was in place with regard to the energy efficiency of Council buildings. Another key issue
was that work being carried out in partnership with Cumbria County Council and the Lake
District National Park Authority, and a meeting was scheduled to be held the following
week for joint discussions.
In response to a query, the Assistant Director Strategic Development explained that
although not fully involved to date, there was regular dialogue with the Yorkshire Dales
National Park Authority. He undertook, however, to follow up a suggestion for
engagement with that Authority in addition to Cumbria County Council and the Lake
District National Park Authority.
RESOLVED – That
(1)

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s current Work Programme be noted;

(2)

the Forward Plan published on 8 January 2019 be received;

(3)
the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be
authorised, on behalf of the Committee, to continue correspondence with Northern Rail
with regard to rail issues, as and when necessary; and
(4)

O&S/58

the verbal update on the Green Team be noted.

CUMBRIA PUBLIC HEALTH STRATEGY
The latest version of Appendix 1 to the report, the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy
had been circulated prior to the meeting.
The Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder thanked Mr Brunskill for his thought-provoking
comments regarding air quality. The Portfolio Holder introduced the item and explained
that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee was being given an opportunity to consider the
draft Strategy prior to presentation of the document to Cabinet. He stressed the
importance of the Public Health Strategy and the need for local government to seek to
influence people and promote good health. The Portfolio Holder welcomed Colin Cox to
the meeting.
Colin Cox, Director of Public Health, who had led on the creation and development of the
Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy, provided Members with a detailed presentation on
the draft Strategy which focussed on tackling the wider determinants of health.

Page 8

45
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The presentation, together with the substantive report, indicated how officers with multidisciplinary backgrounds and expertise from South Lakeland District Council (SLDCE), the
other district councils, Cumbria County Council and the Lake District National Park
Authority had contributed to the writing and the shaping of specific thematic areas.
The Public Health Strategy sat under the Cumbria Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2019-2029. This strategy was currently in production, and would be presented to the
Cumbria Health and Wellbeing board in April. This was a document which set out how the
Health and Wellbeing Board would work together over the next ten years. All Clinical
Commissioning Groups, local authorities and NHS England plans would need to take the
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy into account.
The vision of the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy was to, “enable Cumbrian
communities to be healthy and to tackle health inequalities.” This corresponded with the
existing SLDC Public Health Strategy, and the proposed Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
The Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy took a different approach to previous public
health strategies as, instead of focusing on individuals, it acknowledged the conditions in
which a person was born, lived, worked and how ages impacted on their access and
ability to live a healthier life. These were known as the wider determinants of health, and
included housing, education, employment, working conditions, the natural environment,
food production and water. These were incorporated into Figure 1 of the report – the wider
determinants of health and how SLDC interacts with these different layers. Estimates
varied, however, it was broadly accepted that health care was accountable for
approximately 10% of the contribution to health. This meant that, whilst access to good
quality health care was very important, health was primarily determined by socioeconomic factors.
The framework of the Strategy was based on the “Five Capitals Model,” which included
the following:





Natural Capital (Planet): A high quality natural environment that provides opportunities
for engagement with the natural world.
Human Capital (People): People with the skills, knowledge, and experience that give
them the capacity to take part in society and have meaningful and fulfilling lives.
Social Capital (Participation): A good social infrastructure, with networks and
institutions that allow people to connect to each other.
Physical Capital (Place): A good physical infrastructure including housing, transport,
and a commercial environment that promotes healthy behaviours.
Financial Capital (Prosperity): Adequate financial resources that are fairly distributed.

In outlining the Natural Capital (Planet) theme, Mr Cox expanded on the issue of air
quality which had been raised by Mr Brunskill at Minute No.56 above. He explained that
the Strategy did not focus on woodburning stoves and that transport was a major factor to
consider in relation to the impact on health of poor air quality. The impact of traffic in
urban areas was complex in nature and required monitoring to ensure that the correct
benefits were achieved. For example, with regard to the suggestion for pedestrianisation,
this could lead to pushing traffic out into other areas.
This Strategy provided a strong framework which demonstrated the cross cutting nature of
the work undertaken by SLDC. Adopting this strategic approach would improve the
Council’s contribution to promoting, enabling and providing services which improved the
health of its communities.

Page 9

46
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Joint Cumbria Public Health Strategy correlated strongly with the developing SLDC
Council Plan.
The major themes were: health and environment; housing and
communities; and economy and culture. These had all been incorporated within the
Strategy. It also included sub themes of reducing inequality and sustainability, which were
strongly embedded within the Strategy document.
The report detailed the key topics and aims within the Strategy and how SLDC contributed
to them.
The current SLDC Public Health Strategy was for the time period 2014-19, and therefore
expired this year. The new Joint Cumbria Public Health Strategy had been co-written by
SLDC, the other Cumbrian local authorities and other partners. This Strategy provided a
well-developed framework for actions on the wider determinants of health. It included
many aims which correlated with SLDC’s own Council Plan. Due to its wider determinants
focus, it was felt to be an appropriate strategy for a district council to adopt.
Implementation of the Strategy would require a collaborative cross-organisational
approach, bringing together different sectors and specialisms. Following adoption, SLDC
together with other local authorities would work with partners on developing an approach
to implement the Strategy. If this was to be through the Health and Wellbeing Forums,
then a review of this group would need to take place. A South Lakeland-based group
setup around this Strategy framework would need to mirror the different aspects of health
which were included in the Strategy.
Mr Cox closed in stressing that the draft Strategy had been strongly influenced by local
authorities and drawing attention to the timescales for moving forward.
The Chairman thanked Mr Cox for his presentation.
A lengthy discussing ensued during which Mr Cox responded to questions raised by
Members.
In response to a query raised with regard to where the district’s particulates were going
and whether South Lakeland’s air quality was safe, Mr Cox explained that this was a
complex issue and that particulates arising from different sources were measured in
different ways. With regard to South Lakeland, Morecambe and Lancaster, all councils
were engaged and carrying out good work in addressing this matter. Where a challenge
was raised with regard to air quality, action was taken.
Reference was made to the first slide of the presentation which appeared to focus on the
wider determinants of health and concern was expressed with regard to a lack of detail
relating to the other three areas around health protection, heath and care services, and
lifecourse. Mr Cox explained that the Strategy focussed on the wider determinants of
health and that plans in relation to the other three areas were being developed by
Morecambe Bay NHS Trust.
The question of how the key measures of progress would be monitored in a useful and
engaging way was raised. Mr Cox advised that the key measures of progress were still
being drafted but that these would help shape this work. Once identified, there would be
regular reporting and monitoring through the Health and Wellbeing Board, fora and other
groups. The fora would have the opportunity to engage with local communities and the
information would be brought back to councils. Members looked forward to having sight
of the lines of communication. It was further raised that the Strategy was being firmed up
prior to agreement of triggers and aspirations, and Mr Cox advised that these would be
worked up after the decision-making process had taken place, the document becoming a
strategy with councils subsequently developing their own monitoring mechanisms.

Page 10

47
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The issue of social isolation was raised and, in particular, the public transport system. A
question was raised with regard to how the relevant decision-makers could be influenced
on this topic. Mr Cox said that the issue of transport was a real challenge in a large rural
area such as Cumbria. He explained that the Strategy identified this challenge and raised
the question of how best to address it through developing more innovative and
imaginative ways of providing transport. Mr Cox felt that here was a real opportunity for
joint discussions on just this type of issue.
In response to a query on the health of people in South Lakeland, Mr Cox explained how,
when looking at large districts, rural areas could mask inequalities in health and wellbeing.
He reported, however, that South Lakeland in general showed good patterns in health.
Mr Cox responded to concern expressed regarding how to bring together the relevant
people, for example with regard to bus services in rural areas. He supported the need for
people to come together and plan jointly and hoped that the Strategy would, in the future,
achieve exactly this type of co-ordination.
The Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder addressed concerns in relation to takeaway
food businesses, saying that this needed to be dealt with intelligently through policies.
It was questioned why the Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority had not as yet been
involved in joint discussions in relation to the Strategy. Mr Cox advised Members that the
Lake District National Park Authority had been involved in meetings and acknowledged
the need to include the organisation moving forward.
Although it was noted that the Strategy was an aspirational document, a query was raised
with regard to the cost of the services and where the money would come from. Mr Cox
informed the Committee that this was a ten year strategy which set the direction. There
were multiple ways in which to achieve the aspirations and the opportunities lay with many
people. The Strategy would help draw in additional resources in addition to those which
already existed.
Mr Cox acknowledged that exercise was key. The Strategy highlighted the importance of
supporting an environment in which people could be active.
A request was made for copies of slides of the presentation to be sent to Committee
Members.
RESOLVED – That the draft Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy be noted.

O&S/59

MORECAMBE BAY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
As indicated earlier in the meeting, no representative of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation
Trust being able to attend to make a presentation, this item would be deferred to the next
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 April 2019.

O&S/60

COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 3 2018/19
On behalf of the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder, the Finance
Portfolio Holder introduced the Council Plan Performance Monitoring report for Quarter 3
of 2018/19. The report highlighted areas of significantly good or poor performance
relating to the measures of success set out in the current Council Plan.

Page 11

48
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Portfolio Holder reported that the Council continued to deliver on its housing targets.
He drew attention to the need to monitor the plateauing figures in relation to waste
recycling, however, stressed the fact that none of South Lakeland’s waste was currently
sent to landfill. He also commended the reduction in the annual target for carbon
emissions.
The report also included the latest Strategic Risk Register and the Portfolio Holder drew
attention to the recent addition of two further risks which had been included in order to
enable officers to ensure that the appropriate mitigations were in place:Risk 20 – Capacity for business as usual during the transition to the new organisational
model; and
Risk 21 – Accountable body for large value schemes.
The high figure for business start-ups was noted, however, it was queried as to how many
of these businesses were still in existence. The Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder
explained that the Council was good at nurturing start-up businesses and undertook to
provide a written response with regard to the figures.
Attention was drawn to the measure for the overall level of reported crime not exceeding
3,425 and to the actual total of 3,884 crimes to date for 2018/19. It was queried whether
the target was realistic and, if so, what lessons had been learnt. The Finance Portfolio
Holder undertook to provide a written response.
Reference was made to Risk 9 on the Strategic Risk Register – Essential strategic
partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan do not operate effectively – and strong
concern was again expressed with regard to the fact that Morecambe Bay NHS
Foundation Trust had not sent a representative to make the presentation scheduled for
this meeting. The Finance Portfolio Holder acknowledged the Plan’s objective for the
Council to work in partnership with other organisations, however, pointed out that some of
the contents of the Plan were not in the sole control of the Council. The Council, although
not responsible for health matters, played a role in this area. The health of the
neighbourhood was of great importance and the Council would continue to attempt to
drive forward joint working on the issue. The Chief Executive informed the Committee of
ongoing work and provided assurance that the Council was involved. Both the Leader
and himself had met with the Trust and had made the Council’s expectations clear. They
had received a positive response and had been invited to the Trust’s strategic
development day.
A query was raised with regard to the statistics shown within the report relating to the
measures of success for Culture and Wellbeing and to the fact that this was old data
relating to 2012-14. It had been understood that the figure for life expectancy had since
decreased and a request was made for the provision of up-to-date figures. The
Performance and Risk Officer advised that the 2012-14 figures were the most recent ones
provided by Publish Health England, however, undertook to seek alternative sources of
data.
With regard to another question relating to the crime figures provided by Cumbria
Constabulary and the need for an explanation as to whether they were good or bad, the
Performance and Risk Officer explained that there had been a change in the way crime
was recorded and that these latest figures had become the benchmark figures.

Page 12

49
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The good work carried out by the Council in relation to housing was acknowledged,
however, the importance of making parishes and communities aware of what they could
do themselves to bring sites in their areas forward for development was raised. The
Finance Portfolio Holder acknowledged that this was a good point and undertook to ask
the Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio Holder to provide a written response.
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:-

O&S/61

(1)

the Summary of Performance, as detailed within the report; and

(2)

the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1 to the report.

CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING QUARTER 3 2018/19
The Finance Portfolio Holder presented the third quarter financial monitoring report of
201819. The report provided an update on how the financial situation was progressing
during this year. In part, it was backward looking, highlighting the Council’s expenditure
and income during the first nine months of the financial year, but also including the
Council’s current projections of expenditure during the rest of the year.
The Portfolio Holder provided details relating to the revenue budget, capital expenditure,
collection of Council Tax and business rates and the Council’s current position with regard
to debt collection, details of which were contained within the report and appendices.
Appendix 1 set out the revenue variances to date. Overall, at the end of Quarter 3,
budget monitoring had identified a forecast year-end underspend of £260,000. In
addition, there was projected to be £273,000 of carry-forward requests. Trends identified
in these budget monitoring results had been fed into the 2019/20 budget setting process.
Appendix 2 set out the position on the Capital Programme. The capital budget at Quarter
2 2018/19 had stood at £9.795m. Carry-forwards to 2019/20 of £1.557m relating to the
ERDF Flood Alleviation scheme and £300,000 relating to the Cross-a-Moor development
and an increase to the Millerground Play scheme of £12,000 due to additional funding had
been approved by Council on 18 December 2018 as part of the updated Capital
Programme submitted with the 2019/20 Draft Budget. This resulted in a 2018/19 Capital
Programme of £7.950m at the end of Quarter 3. Expenditure against this Programme to
the end of Quarter 3 had been £3.205m. There was anticipated to be significant
expenditure during Quarter 4 and £0.458m of further re-profiling had been identified. A
revised Programme was presented as part of the budget process, including any new
schemes prioritised against the available funding.
Appendix 3 provided an update on Treasury Management for the quarter. There was one
issue to report in terms of compliance with the approved Treasury Management Strategy
relating to counterparty limits which had arisen as a result of an administrative error, as
detailed within the report.
Investments had performed better than the relevant
benchmarks except in relation to long-term core investments due to the change in interest
rates. No repayment of existing borrowing or new borrowing was anticipated up to the
end of the financial year.
The Portfolio Holder closed in thanking the Finance Team for highlighting the challenges
in the budgets for the rest of the year and having allowed the Management Team to take
corrective action.

Page 13

50
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

A query was raised with regard to the final cost to the Authority in relation to Treasury
Management and where the Council had exceeded the counterparty limit with one of its
Money Market Funds by £1.2m. The Portfolio Holder explained that there had been no
cost as a result of the situation which had arisen as a result of an administrative error,
however, that steps had been taken to avoid this happening again.
In response to a question as to why local authority partners were allowed to make late
payments on sundry debts, the Portfolio Holder advised that this was not a chronic
problem. The Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) undertook to provide a
written response.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted.

O&S/62

PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - ECONOMY AND ASSETS
Note – During consideration of this item of business, Councillor Janette Jenkinson
declared a non-pecuniary interest by virtue of the fact that she was a Board Member
of the Ulverston Community Enterprise, which managed the Ulverston indoor and
outdoor markets on behalf of South Lakeland District Council. She remained in the
Chamber during the discussion and voting on the item.
The Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder presented his annual report on progress made
and plans for the future within the portfolio area, and highlighted a number of areas within
his report.
The Portfolio Holder referred in particular to the joint work being carried out by South
Lakeland, Barrow Borough and Lancaster City councils which had brought the
partnership’s economic position into sixth place in the North West, behind Manchester,
Cheshire East, Cheshire West, Liverpool, Chester and Trafford. Morecambe Bay was
establishing a strong economic position.
In response to a query raised, the Portfolio Holder explained that the consultation on ways
to improve Kendal indoor and outdoor markets had not yet commenced. This was a
protracted process requiring a lot of work, the key aim of which was to establish a clear
strategy to take the markets forward to ensure they thrived in the longer term. He
provided assurance that the consultation with stallholders and users would commence
officially later in the year. It was raised that Ulverston Community Enterprise, which
managed the Ulverston indoor and outdoor markets on behalf of South Lakeland District
Council, was currently examining ways of increasing footfall. This being the case, it was
suggested that there could be joint working between Kendal and Ulverston. The Portfolio
Holder felt that this was an appropriate point, and also drew attention to the Council’s
responsibility for the small market in Ambleside. He felt that there may be benefit from
discussion with Ulverston and undertook to raise the suggestion with the Council’s
Corporate Asset Manager. It was further suggested that Ambleside Together may wish to
become involved.
Reference was made to the forthcoming Strategic Car Parking Study and the need to
ensure that all areas were taken into consideration. The Portfolio Holder indicated that
the study had not yet concluded, however, explained that all opinions would be taken into
consideration.

Page 14

51
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Concern was raised with regard to recent rumours relating to the current restaurant
business at the K Village site. It was suggested that approval of the recent planning
application for a hotel at the K Village site had included the retention of the restaurant.
The Director People and Places advised that he was aware of the situation undertook to
provide a written response once the matter had been thoroughly investigated.
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

O&S/63

PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - FINANCE
The Finance Portfolio Holder presented his annual report on progress made and plans for
the future within the portfolio area. The Finance Team had continued to be extremely
busy throughout the financial year and he highlighted a number of areas.
The statutory Statement of Accounts had been successfully delivered by the end of May,
in line with the new deadlines. These had received an unqualified audit report, and the
Portfolio Holder commended the Finance Team on delivering these reports one to two
months earlier than in previous years, without issue or disruption.
There had been active involvement in reducing the risk of significant overspend during this
financial year and, as reported in the earlier Corporate Financial Monitoring Report, the
projected overspend had reduced from £600,000 to £100,000 at the end of Quarter 3.
The Medium Term Financial Plan had been the focus of ongoing work and this was
allowing the Council to present a balanced budget for next year and to highlight the
significant risks of reduced Government funding in following years.
Linked to the Medium Term Financial Plan, supported by the its property advisors, the
Council had been developing a review and understanding of the Council’s long-term
capital requirements which had led to approval of a new Property and Land Management
Strategy and the extended Capital Strategy which had been considered by the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee last month.
Both the Procurement and Treasury Management strategies had been updated.
The Finance Team had been working to integrate their processes into the Customer
Connect Programme. This would give residents easier access to information and allow
customers to directly make arrangements, apply for discounts and notify the Council of
changes in circumstances.
In closing, the Finance Portfolio Holder expressed thanks to the Finance Team for their
work. His thanks were echoed by Members of the Committee.
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

O&S/64

2019/20 PROCUREMENT STRATEGY AND PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE
The Finance Portfolio Holder, reported that the Council’s three-year Sustainable
Procurement and Commissioning Strategy had been approved in 2016. During 2019, an
exercise would be carried out to review the document to ensure that it met the Council’s
needs in the future under the Customer Connect model. During 2018, the Local
Government Association had published an updated National Procurement Strategy. Many
of the proposals in this national strategy were already reflected in the Council’s Strategy,
but some minor changes were proposed around strategic contact management, supplier
engagement and social value. References to legislation and the Council Plan had also
been updated. Appendix 1 to the report updated the Council’s existing Strategy to reflect
these changes.

Page 15

52
01.02.2019

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Since April 2016, the Council’s Constitution had permitted officers to conduct and
conclude the contracting processes without further approval, providing it was in line with
the Procurement Schedule, to be approved by Council at least annually. Where a
procurement process was over budget, then approval would still be required in
accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules. Where an officer sought approval for a
waiver or exemption under the Contract Procedure Rules, this was also included in the
Procurement Schedule.
The Procurement Schedule for 2019/20 was attached at Appendix 2 to the report. There
were 78 procurement projects identified, which was slightly lower than the 83 procurement
exercises originally approved for 2018/19.
Concern was raised with regard to the Procurement Schedule and the item relating to the
supply of car park tickets. Those currently being provided did not have an adhesive strip
with which to attach the ticket to a car windscreen, resulting in the potential for tickets to
blow away when closing the car door. The Finance Portfolio Holder believed that this
related to the Council’s commitment to abolish single-use plastics, however, undertook to
provide a firm response in writing.
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:(1)
the updated Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy attached at
Appendix 1 to the report; and
(2)

O&S/65

the Procurement Schedule for 2019/20 attached at Appendix 2 to the report.

CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE
Councillor Vivienne Rees, the Council’s representative on the Cumbria Health Scrutiny
Committee, having been unable to attend the last meeting of that Committee, Councillor
Mark Wilson, a County Council representative on the same Committee, provided a verbal
update. He made particular reference to two items of business which had been on the
agenda for the meeting on 18 December 2018. One had been a report from Healthwatch
Cumbria on what a good life looked like for people with learning difficulties in Cumbria.
The other had been a very useful presentation from the NHS North Cumbria Clinical
Commissioning Group, which had provided an update on healthcare for the future in north
Cumbria, similar to that which had been expected from Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation
Trust at this meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillor Wilson
undertook to send a website link to the relevant agenda and reports to Members of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
RESOLVED – That the verbal update be noted.

The meeting ended at 12.50 p.m.

Page 16

Item No.9
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Friday, 26 April 2019

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 4
2018/19
Portfolio:

Councillor Giles Archibald - Leader of the Council

Report from:

Claire Gould – Performance, Innovation and Commissioning Lead
Specialist

Report Author:

John Davies - Performance and Risk Officer

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

Monitoring the success of the Council Plan through scorecards informs
improvements and ensures Council services address the needs of residents in an
open and transparent way. Influenced by the three key values as set out in the
current Council Plan, this report sets out the Council Plan Priorities and Measures of
Success.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes:(1)

the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report;

(2)

the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1; and

(3)

considers whether it wishes to make any recommendations to Cabinet

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Council is committed to delivering high quality, cost effective services that meet
the needs of residents and improve quality of life. To help achieve our goals, we
measure performance frequently. The performance management process helps us
to demonstrate how well we are doing. Each Council Plan Priority has ‘Measures of
success’ – allowing progress to be monitored.

3.2

Benchmarking information is provided for quarter one each year and allows the
Council to compare its own performance with that of fifteen other statistically similar
Councils – using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Nearest
Neighbours Model. Information is sourced from the Local Government Association.

3.3

Summary of Performance
The measures listed within this report are showing very good performance - and
demonstrate that South Lakeland is a very desirable place to live, work and explore.
South Lakeland District Councils vision and strategy is to improve prosperity ensuring
a positive benefit for our community.

Page 17

Detailed information for each measure is listed in section 3.4-3.7 below.
3.4

Economy - Measures of success
Measure: By 2025, we will achieve investment enabling the creation of 1,000 new
jobs in the area.


Estimates show that the Council is on target to achieve 1000 new jobs in the
area by 2025. Since 01/01/14 an estimated 548 new jobs have been created
in South Lakeland. It is estimated that 27 new jobs were created in Quarter
Four 2018/19 (Source: Estimate by Partnerships and Organisational
Development.)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the
rise of higher paid jobs and a year-on-year increase in the current median household
income of £31,189 for people who live in South Lakeland.


For 2017 the median income varied across the districts, from the lowest in
Barrow-in-Furness (£24,381) to the highest in South Lakeland (£32,506). The
median household income in Cumbria was £27,633 and Great Britain was
£30,921. Data is not yet available for 2018. (Source: Cumbria Intelligence
Observatory.)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2025, in partnership with the district’s towns and
villages, the council will ensure they maintain their distinctive character and thrive
commercially by supporting and improving the business start-up rate of 90 per 10,000
working population year-on-year.




3.5

From Dec 2017 to Dec 2018 South Lakeland had the highest number of
business start-ups in Cumbria at 72.5 per 10,000 working age residents. This
compares to 56.4 for Cumbria and 99.2 for England. (Source: Cumbria
Intelligence Observatory.)
The total number of business units in South Lakeland has increased from
6850 in 2013 to 7410 in 2018. (Source: National Office for Statistics)

Housing - Measures of success
The Council’s Housing Strategy 2016-2025 describes the housing issues within
South Lakeland.
Measure: By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the development of
1,000 new affordable homes to rent.


During Quarter Three a total of 29 new affordable homes for rent have been
completed. This gives a cumulative total of 460 since 01/01/14 - and a total of
945 since 2006. Updates for Quarter Four will be reported verbally at
committee The Council is on target to deliver the 1,000 new affordable homes
for rent by 2025. (Source: Strategic Housing and Building Control.)

Measure: By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector and housing
associations, an average of 60 completed permanent dwellings each quarter.

Page 18



Since 2015 the Council has enabled the completion of 940 permanent
dwellings. This includes 40 during Quarter 3 2018 and is an average of
greater than 62.6 new permanent dwellings over 15 quarters. (Source:
MHCLG Live tables on house building: table 253a)

Measure: By 2025, the number of long-term empty homes will have reduced by 20%
from 967 homes.


The number of long term empty homes fluctuates, however there has been an
overall reduction from 1079 (2011) to 987 (2018.) The total number of long
term empty homes fluctuate as homes are brought back into use - and as
properties become empty. Homes become empty for a number of reasons all of which are relevant to South Lakeland: for example people needing care,
properties becoming inhabitable due to widespread flooding and properties
being inherited. Second homes also increase results until they are identified.
(Source: MHCLG Live tables on dwelling stock including vacants: table 615)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2019, the council through targeted interventions will,
year on year, bring a minimum of 70 empty homes back into use.


Since 2015 the Council has brought 315 empty homes back into use. Data for
Quarter One 2018/19 shows 13 more homes, Quarter Two 14 homes, Quarter
Three 26 homes and Quarter Four 22 homes successfully brought back into
use. (Source: Housing Strategy Team)

Measure: During 2018/19 the number of homeless households living in temporary
accommodation will be no more than 20 at any one time.


3.6

The maximum number of households in temporary accommodation at any
one time in 2018/19 was 20 in Quarter One, 21 in Quarter Two, 20 in Quarter
Three and 19 in Quarter Four 2018/19. The main reasons for homelessness
are the reduced benefits for people of age under 35 years; high rents and loss
of private sector tenancy; lack of affordable housing; family relationship
breakdowns with young adults leaving home - sometimes leaving home due
to abuse. The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act in April this
year has also influenced results and this is reflected both regionally and
nationally. (Source: Housing Options Team)

Environment - Measures of success
Measure: By 2019, the amount of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and
composting will increase from 43% to 50%. During the same period the range of
recyclables will be widened.


For 2018/19 provisionally 44.3% of waste has been recycled which is similar
to 44.4% for 2017/18. Green waste influences this result significantly. This is
because green waste is produced in large quantities and contributes to
significant tonnages compared to lighter plastic and cardboard - during the
summer drought 2017/18 green waste was greatly reduced. If the Council
was able to collect food waste this would make the target of 50% much more

Page 19

achievable. However food processing plants are currently too distant from
South Lakeland to make this viable. Plastic and cardboard kerbside collection
covers 100% of households. (Source: Street Scene)
Measure: By 2019, the amount of residual household waste not sent for reuse,
recycling and composting will have reduced from the current baseline of 511kg per
household


South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than to
landfill. The residual waste is processed to provide refuse derived fuel for
large industrial processes. In line with other councils residual waste includes
grey bin waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources.
The tonnage of street sweepings varies significantly each year and therefore
impacts on residual waste totals. The level of residual waste is measured in
kilos of waste per household per year: 2013/14 480kg, 2014/15 470kg,
2015/16 495kg, 2016/17 511kg, 2017/18 468kg and with a similar forecast for
2018/19. Grey bin waste on its own has fluctuated from 444kg in 2007/8 to
479kg in 2009/10 to a reduced 399kg in 2017/18 and a similar result forecast
for 2018/19. (Source: Street Scene)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2019 the council will, year on year, have reduced its
operational carbon footprint by 100 tonnes of carbon, from a baseline of 3162 tonnes.


3.7

For 2017/18 the total for carbon emitted was 2992 tonnes – a reduction of 170
tonnes from 3162 tonnes at 31/03/15. Data for 2018/19 will be available
towards the end of June 2019. As well as reducing emissions the Council
prevents 5500 tonnes of emissions by reusing, recycling and composting
nearly all of the waste collected across the District. (Source: Partnerships and
Organisational Development)

Culture and wellbeing - Measures of success
Measure: By 2019, through collaborative and preventative action the level of selfreported general health of South Lakeland’s residents will demonstrate an
improvement above the baseline of 70% as reported in the Quality of Life Survey.


The Quality of Life Survey 2017 shows that 72% of residents reported good or
very good health. (Source: Partnerships and Organisational Development)

Measure: By 2025, the health inequality gap for residents in South Lakeland’s 18
most deprived communities will be narrowed resulting in the improved healthy life
expectancy above the national average of 81 years.




Life expectancy from birth for women is 85.0 years (England 83.1 years) and
for men is 82.2 years (England 79.6 years) - all data 2015-17. Life expectancy
has improved consistently for many years (Data source: Public Health
England)
Health related quality of life for older people has fluctuated from a score of
0.772 in 2012/13 to a slightly improved score of 0.788 in 2016/17. Annual
results for the previous six years are better than the North West and England.

Page 20



Results for 2015 show that in South Lakeland there are 4 Lower Super Output
Areas (LSOA’s) in the 30% most health deprived LSOAs in England. Within
Cumbria only Eden is better with only 1 area in the 30% most deprived.
LSOAs are a set of geographies designed specifically for statistical purposes.
LSOAs have an average population of 1,600 people. (Source: Cumbria
Observatory)

Measure: By 2019, the overall level of reported crime will not exceed the 2014/15
level of 3,425.


3.8

During Quarter One 2017/18 there were 981 crimes, Q2 964, Q3 1,000 and
Q4 1,090 – a total of 4,035 crimes for 2017/18. In Q1 2018/19 there were
1,359 crimes reported, Q2 1,248 and Q3 1,277 – a total of 3,884 crimes to
date for 2018/19. Data for Q4 will be reported verbally at committee. This
increase is explained by Police training on the recording of crimes. (Source:
Cumbria Constabulary)

Strategic Risk Register – Appendix 1
All strategic risks in their current stage of development are visible within appendix 1.
There are 6 strategic risks above the Council’s tolerance for risk and these are being
managed effectively. The Strategic Risks have been reviewed in line with risk
management arrangements.
Risks summary this quarter
Total number of
risks:

15 risks

New risks:

0 risks:

Archived Risks:

2 risks
Risk 2: ‘Contracts do not deliver the standards of
performance required within the contract fee agreed’
Risk 12: ‘H&S management of contracts – records for onsite
checks’

Risks above
tolerance:

6 risks

Risks below
tolerance:

9 risks

(risks above tolerance are reviewed every quarter)

65% of risks are below tolerance.
(risks below tolerance are reviewed annually at Quarter 4)

4.0

Consultation

4.1

This report details measures of success against each of the priorities within the
Council Plan. These have been consulted on extensively prior to the Plan being
adopted by Full Council.

Page 21

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

No alternative options – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update.
The Council must note successes, monitor progress and take action where
appropriate.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Reporting measures of success contained within the Council Plan 2014-2019.

6.2

The report is directly linked to the following Council Plan commitment to ensure that
the Council is equipped to provide the best, most cost effective services.

6.3

Details regarding performance monitoring are published in line with the Council’s
current Performance Management Framework.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, strategic
risks can relate to financial issues and are considered as part of the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no human resources implications associated with this report.

Legal
7.3

There are no legal implications associated with this report.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
Reporting performance has a positive impact on health, social, economic and
environmental needs.

7.6

Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: No negative
impacts.

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
Reporting performance has a positive impact on equality and diversity needs.

7.9

Summary of equality and diversity impacts: No negative impacts.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

For indicators and performance
measures not to be monitored,
corrective action is not identified
early.

Ambitions as set out in the
Council Plan are not
achieved.

Recommendations for
corrective action are
implemented.

Good performance is not
acknowledged.

Poor morale and
performance culture.

Successes are recognised
and celebrated.

Page 22

Contact Officers
Report Author – John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 733333,
rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
(delete if no appendices attached)
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Strategic Risk Register

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Detailed Performance information
– South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Council Plan – South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Performance Management
Framework – South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Risk Management Arrangements
– South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Description of Nearest
Neighbours Model - CIPFA

CIPFA Website

Benchmarking data - Local
Government Association

Local Government Association Website

Economy data - Office for
National Statistics Official Labour
Market Statistics

Office for National Statistics Website

Health data - Public Health
England Public Health Outcomes
Framework

Public Health England Website

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
SMT

Date sent
14/03/19
14/03/19
14/03/19
11/04/19

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager

Date sent
14/03/19
14/03/19

Communications Team

14/03/19

Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)

14/01/19
14/01/19

Page 23

Circulated to
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
26/04/19
05/06/19
n/a

Page 24

Appendix 1

Strategic Risks Register - Quarter 4, 2018/19
Introduction
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify,
prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for
money and also continuity of services.
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are
considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could have a wide impact or require senior management control.

Page 25

This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Senior Management Team. Risks above the line of tolerance are a priority and
so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below tolerance are reviewed once a year.
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time.
Page 2 and 3 of this report explain the risk matrix and layouts used for the risks.
Page 4 provides a Risk ‘Heat Map’ which provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks – those currently in the blue zone and so above the line of
risk appetite/tolerance.

1
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

How to understand the Risk Matrix:
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show degree of likelihood and
impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority for management. Those risks which lay above the line of ‘risk appetite’ can be
seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk appetite, in the
green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis.

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are above ‘risk
appetite’ (high priority) and require quarterly mitigation and
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.

High

x

Page 26

Likelihood

Medium

x

Low

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are below
‘risk appetite’ (lower priority) and require an annual review in
Quarter Four.

Very Low

Negligible

Marginal

Serious

Critical

Impact

The next page shows how the information for each risk is presented.

2
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

How to understand the layout of each risk in this report

Risk No. & Name
The risk name is a concise and clear title for the risk

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

This risk matrix shows the future
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.
Likelihood

Likelihood

Description
A description of the circumstances which help to generate risk

Target Position of Risk

X

Page 27

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Review Date:
The date when this risk will be
considered and reviewed

X
Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
The date that the risk must reach the
target position – through the completion
of mitigations.

Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

A mitigation is an action which is designed
to reduce or eliminate the risk. The
mitigation can improve the likelihood or
impact of the risk.

A short update on progress made
with the mitigation

The person responsible for
progressing the mitigation

Mitigations should be implemented
by their due dates for the risk to be
improved effectively.

History
of Risk
Improvement

For each risk a history of risk review and improvement is shown:
RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ = a risk review indicates that there is now less risk
RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑ = a risk review indicates that there is now more risk
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ = a risk review indicates that there is the same level of risk
RISK IDENTIFIED ● = a newly identified risk is entered onto this register

Risk Owner

The person with sufficient authority to control this risk

Portfolio

the Portfolio that this risk is relevant to

3
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report
This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks which are positioned in the blue zone and so are above the line of risk
appetite/tolerance. Click on a risk to navigate to the right page.

High

Risk 5

Likelihood

Page 28

Medium

Risk 13
Risk 18
Low

Risk 6
Risk 9
Risk 14
Risk 15
Risk 20
Risk 21
Risk 4
Risk 7
Risk 19
Risk 8

Very
Low

Negligible

Marginal

Serious

60% of risks are positioned
in the green zone - below
the line of ‘risk appetite’

Risk 16
Risk 17

Critical

Impact

4
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Strategic Risks Register
Risk 1 was archived during quarter 1 2016/17
Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Contracts do not deliver the standards of performance required
within the contract fee agreed.

Likelihood

ARCHIVED

Likelihood

Risk 2

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
ARCHIVED

Target Date
ARCHIVED

Back to ‘Heat Map’

Page 29

Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Robust performance management
arrangements

Arrangements are in place

Contract Managers

Complete and ongoing

History
This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
of Risk
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change as the Council has three new major contracts.
Improvement Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that the current risk remains the same in terms of likelihood and impact.
Q4 2018/19: RISK ARCHIVED - Review indicates that this risk is now archived due to good performance and robust performance management.
Risk Owner

Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Portfolio

Finance Portfolio

5
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Risk 3 was archived during quarter 1 2018/19
Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Likelihood

Affordable housing targets are not met.

Page 30

X
Description
There is a risk that the Council may not achieve the Council Plan target: ‘By 2025 we
Impact
will have enabled with the private sector the development of 1,000 new affordable
Green zone: review annually
homes for rent’. The Council will need to enable delivery of new affordable and open
Blue zone: manage quarterly
market housing particularly through private sector led development across the
district. Performance is influenced by New Homes Bonus and Local Government
Review Date
Financing.
Annual – end of March

Likelihood

Risk 4

X
Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date
31/03/20

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as risk is below
tolerance

n/a

n/a

n/a

History
This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
of Risk
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Improvement Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk will be retained on the register to allow regular monitoring.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that housing performance is on track.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing and Innovation Portfolio

6
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Description
The Council maintains this risk to mitigate as far as possible against the impacts of
welfare reform. Welfare reform is a major element of recent government spending cuts
resulting in significant changes to taxes and benefits - impacting on low-income tenants
and social landlords. With the transfer to Universal Credit there have been widely
reported issues and impacts on claimants across England. Central Government monitor
the impacts of welfare reform and makes mitigating adjustments. Also South Lakeland
District Council has put in place a series of mitigations which seek to reduce impacts –
these mitigations can be seen below.

X

Likelihood

Impact of the Welfare Reform on communities

Likelihood

Risk 5
X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Date
31/03/20

Page 31

The current risk position is proportionate in terms of the likelihood and impact across
the whole of South Lakeland. The Council has put in place many mitigations to reduce
poverty and to alleviate against universal credit impacts - the main mitigations are
listed below.
Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Revenues and Benefits has regular ‘Keep in
Touch’ meetings with Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) and also Citizens Advice
(CAB)

These regular meetings share
intelligence and situational awareness
on any adverse impacts.

Operational Lead Support Services

Regular meetings are in place

Revenues and Benefits ‘Discretionary Housing This payment eases financial pressures
Payment’
for eligible claimants

Operational Lead Support Services

Mitigating payments are in place
for eligible claimants

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Operational Lead Support Services

Mitigating payments are in place
for eligible claimants

This payment helps to reduce the
financial pressures for eligible

7
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
claimants
Building Financial Resilience Group was set up This group meets on a regular basis
by South Lakeland District Council – it is a
and delivers on a poverty reduction
multi agency collaboration to reduce poverty. (financial resilience) action plan.

Operational Lead Support Services

Regular meetings are in place

History
This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
of Risk
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Improvement Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The risk will be retained on the risk register whilst there is a potential for impacts.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk received a special review at the request of Audit Committee. It was felt that the current risk
position was proportionate in terms of the likelihood and impact across the whole of South Lakeland. The Council has put in place many mitigations
to reduce poverty and alleviate against universal credit impacts and these are now listed.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Culture, Wellbeing and Leisure Portfolio

Page 32
8
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Description
Current and future years proposed budget reductions (expenditure and income) are
not achieved. Future year’s budget reductions (expenditure or income) are not
identified. Significant existing income sources are not protected or effectively
managed. Income from Central Government is reduced above the current
assumptions. NDR income assumptions are not achieved. Other key factors are the
Spending Review 2019-2022, Business Rates Retention, the Second Homes agreement
with Cumbria County Council and the Fair Funding Review.

X

Likelihood

Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget

Likelihood

Risk 6
X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Date
Annual – end of March

Page 33

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

MTFP assumptions are reviewed, updated and Mitigation is in place and on track
reported on a quarterly basis

Finance Lead Specialist

Each quarter

Options to resolve any issues are provided to
the Cabinet each quarter

Finance Lead Specialist

Each quarter

Mitigation is in place and on track

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
02/08/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates that no change is required to the position of this risk on the risk matrices.
Improvement Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change to risk position.
Q3 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates that the risk position remains unchanged.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that the level of risk remains the same.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Finance Portfolio

9
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

X
Description
The Council is required to have effective information governance procedures. It will
Impact
be necessary to manage corporate information by implementing processes, roles and
Green zone: review annually
controls - including GDPR and the Data Protection and Information Security Policies.
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Back to ‘Heat Map’

Review Date
Annual

Likelihood

Information Management is not effective

Likelihood

Risk 7
X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date
31/12/19

Page 34

Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Continue to reinforce key standards and
policies via regular communication. Ensure
Managers are appropriately trained and
requirements are clearly set out in Job
Descriptions and reinforced via appraisals.
Ensure Internal Audit findings are acted on in
a timely manner.

Update 27/03/19: Training schedule
designed and on target to be
delivered in line with Audit for end
of Dec 2019.

Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist

31/12/19

Clear and ongoing communications to staff to
reinforce policies and protocols. Regular
review and monitoring of arrangements
across services by Operational Managers
supported by Information Security/
Governance Teams in Policy & Partnerships
and ICT.

Update 27/03/19: Training schedule
designed and on target to be
delivered in line with Audit for end
of Dec 2019.

Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist

31/12/19

The Information Governance (IG) Framework
was approved by Cabinet on 16 September
2015 and provides the structure to govern

This mitigation updated 27/03/19.

Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist

31/12/19

In order to implement the
10

Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
how the Council captures, creates, accesses,
secures, manages and shares its information
both internally and externally. In line with
Customer Connect Programme, the Council
had to its approach to information
governance.

Information Governance Framework
it is proposed that a learning
package deliverable is created.
It is proposed that the learning
package deliverable will be 100% elearning. Scope will be provided to
design and develop workbooks for
those members of staff without
access to ICT equipment.

Page 35

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Improvement Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Mitigation due dates updated in line with Information Governance Board Highlights Report
14/12/17. This risk is remains within risk tolerance.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - review indicates no change at this time, relevant mitigations are in place.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing and Innovation Portfolio

11
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Description
Infrastructure is required to support businesses and housing development objectives.
The Council will need to implement the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to
provide funding stream for infrastructure delivery. There will need to be protocols for
CIL Governance and an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan.
Due to the impacts of Storm Desmond there may be implications associated with
future flood resilience measures and infrastructure repairs.

Likelihood

The infrastructure required to deliver the Council Plan priorities is
not provided.

Likelihood

Risk 8

X
Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

X
Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Date
31/03/20

Page 36

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Review largely complete to be
reported to Cabinet.
Update 21/12/16: approach to
meeting education needs in Kendal
being worked up by Cumbria County
Council. Infrastructure Delivery Plan
will be reported to Cabinet in March
2017.
Update 04/04/17: extra time
required for education aspect due
date extended to 31/05/17

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Strategy Lead Specalist

01/12/16
Amended to 31/05/17
Completed 13/09/17

Completed. Updated Infrastructure
Delivery Plan reported to Cabinet on
12
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
September 13th. Significant progress
on infrastructure delivery including:
• Kendal highways and transport
improvements (£3.4m)
• Ulverston junction improvements
(£4.5m) including access to Lightburn
Road employment site through Blue
Light Hub.
• Swarthmoor roundabout funding is
close to being finailsed to enable
housing development at Swarthmoor
and Croftlands.

Page 37

Development of protocols for CIL Governance. To be reported to Cabinet
Update 21/12/16: CIL Governance
Protocols will be reported with
Infrastructure Delivery Plan to
Cabinet in March 2017.
Update 04/04/17: extra time
required for education aspect due
date extended to 31/05/17

Strategy Lead Specalist

01/12/16
Amended to 31/05/17
Completed 13/09/17

Completed. CIL Governance
arrangements approved by Cabinet
on September 13th.
CIL Review proposed as part of Development
Management Policies process.

To be undertaken when draft
Strategy Lead Specalist
Development Management policies
are consulted upon in Autumn 2016.
Update 21/12/16: Viability study
scheduled for mid 2017 – will update
viability position in relation to
affordable housing, CIL and impact of
Development Management policies.

01/03/18
Completed

13
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Update 04/04/17: Viability study
Commisioned.
Update 13/03/18: Viability study
completed.
History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. There has been positive progress and further collaboration with
Improvement partners on infrastructure needs is required.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Updated evidence, in support of the new development management policies, on viability has
concluded that development can support current levels of CIL. The results of examination will inform the future position of this risk.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Review indicates that this risk has reduced in terms of likelihood due to greater certainty and
confidence in meeting infrastructure requirements.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing and Innovation Portfolio

Page 38
14
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Page 39

Description
Where necessary robust agreements will be needed. Also opportunities and resource
implications should be identified. Partnerships will need to work supportively to
achieve Council Plan objectives.
The introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into
Lancashire/Morecambe Bay in April 2017 required new strategic partnerships to be
formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit
from any changes. This risk applies to all our strategic partnerships, such as the Local
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), CCC, LDNPA and Morecambe Bay Economic Partnership
as examples. The risk is not specific to any one initiative or approach from partner
organisations, rather the strategic direction and policies that they take and make, and
their correlation to SLDC achieving its aims and objectives through its Council Plan.

X

Likelihood

Essential strategic partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan
do not operate effectively.

Likelihood

Risk 9
X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Date
31/03/20

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Monitor resource, cost and reputational
No cost implications to the council in
impact with established strategic partnerships maintaining partnerships

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Chief Executive

31/03/19 annual review

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. Officer representation on the Morecambe Bay
Improvement CCG has now been offered and accepted. Meeting held with Northern Powerhouse Minister 27/09/18 - Morecambe Bay Prospectus discussed and
future meetings agreed with Government departments.
Q3 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates that the position of risk remains unchanged. Further discussions ongoing
across Morecambe Bay on economic initiative and health. Await outcome of County Council unitary debate in December 2018 to see if more
collaborative partnership is envisiaged going forward.
15
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that the position of this risk remains the same. Morecambe Bay discussions are
ongoing although Health partners less so. Improved discussions with CCC over the last few months.
Risk Owner

Chief Executive

Portfolio

Leader and Finance Portfolio

Page 40
16
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Risk 10 and Risk 11 were archived during quarter 1 2016/17
Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Health and Safety management of contracts – records for on site
checks

Page 41

Description of risk
Health and safety management arrangements require a review for officer led
contracts. Officers that are managing contractors are required to make safety checks
and keep records. Safety checks should be proportional to risk.

Likelihood

ARCHIVED

Likelihood

Risk 12

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
ARCHIVED

Target Date
ARCHIVED

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Contracts Management Health and Safety
training is provided

Completed

Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services

09/04/15
Completed

Officer leads carry out onsite H&S monitoring
which is proportionate to the risk

ongoing

All staff managing contracts

Ongoing requirement

Officer led contracts are subject to spot
checks for onsite monitoring records.

Q4 2015/16: Initial assessment
indicates that evidence exists for
H&S checks
Q3 2016/17: A second assessment
identifies training needs

All managers with contracts.

Completed.

17
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Promote training on active monitoring

Building/property and all external
contractors to be involved in the
training.
Further training ‘Control of
Contractors’ completed on
24/10/17.

All Managers with contracts

13/04/17, further training sessions
to be completed by end of Qtr 1
2017/18.
Completed 24/10/17.

Further spot checks to be made for records of
onsite contractor safety

Mitigation added following SMT
review on 06/07/17.
Completed

Performance and Risk Officer

01/10/17
Completed

A further review will be completed by
Assistant Directors in October 2017

Mitigation added 12/10/17.
Update 05/04/18: Completed

Directors

01/11/2017
Completed

Page 42

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ – impact reduced to reflect completion of training however likelihood increased to maintain the risk
Improvement position as above tolerance ensuring regular quarterly reviews - and the focus on spot checks for evidence of on site safety monitoring. Risk name
updated for the focus on records of onsite checks – likelihood medium and impact serious.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Additional mitigation added.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Review is near completion and indicating positive results - will
inform quarter four update.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ = Review indicates that this risk has now reduced in terms of likelihood to target position. Risk is
reduced due to health and safety performance, training provided and availability of resources. This risk is now below tolerance and will be
reviewed annually during quarter four.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION ARCHIVED - Review indicates that risk is reduced sufficiently to archive status.
Risk Owner

Chief Executive

Portfolio

Finance Portfolio

18
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Likelihood

Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan
priorities

Likelihood

Risk 13
x

x

Description of risk
There is a risk that new projects and initiatives take the resources required by other
projects and initiatives currently in the programme.

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Back to ‘Heat Map’

Next Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Date
31/03/20

Page 43

Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Ensure that potential new projects and
initiatives are subject to a pre-assessment
which measures their priority

Completed and ongoing
requirement.
Update 10/11/16: Reinforce the
assessment and prioritisation of new
projects – review in six months.
Update 18/01/18: the assessment
and prioritaisation of projects is an
ongoing requirement.

Director of Strategy, Innovation and
Resources

Ongoing requirement

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Improvement Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however to be reviewed at quarter three subject to prioritisation
of resources.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Review indicates that likelihood is low with existing controls. Controls will continue to be applied
including prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains the same.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing and Innovation Portfolio
19

Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Current Position of Risk

Target Position of Risk

Description of risk
New efficiencies and changes brought about by one service or another organisation
can have unintended negative impacts on the efficiency and running of another
service – especially if proposals are not consulted on until to late in the process. These
impacts can increase the cost of running other services. Focus required on the expiry
of the Second Homes agreement between Cumbria County Council and South
Lakeland District Council. This position of this risk is also influenced by Risk 15
Customer Connect Programme.

x

Likelihood

Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes

Likelihood

Risk 14
x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Quarterly

Target Date
31/03/20

Page 44

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

This risk is managed via the Service Planning
and Budgeting processes.

Completed

Director of Strategy, Innovation and
Resources
Lead Specialists

Mitigations in place within
existing Service Planning and
Budgeting processes.

Promote early discussions on potential change New mitigation on 10/11/16
with external parties
06/07/17: Mitigations underway and
ongoing

Director of Strategy, Innovation and
Resources

In place and ongoing requirement

Customer Connect mitigations

Director of Strategy, Innovation and
Resources

Please refer to Risk 15 Customer
Connect Programme for key due
dates.

The programme is being managed
via the Programme Board to deliver
year 1 and 2 of the programme.
Please refer to Risk 15 Customer
Connect Programme for progress.

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations are in progress.
Improvement Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – this risk is linked to ‘Risk 15: Customer Connect’.
20
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change due to period of organisational change and ongoing partnership
discussions.
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change for the reasons listed previously at Q4 2017/18. Target date reviewed
and set to 31/03/2019.
Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change to position of risk.
Q3 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The position of this risk remains unchanged during organisational change.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that risk remains unchanged during organisational change.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing and Innovation Portfolio

Page 45
21
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Risk 15
Customer Connect Programme

Likelihood

Description
The programme fails to deliver what’s set out in the programme definition and
X
customer contact strategy.
Customer Connect is a challenging programme that requires significant change
to ways of working for staff across the Council. The Programme Board manages
Impact
the Customer Connect Risk Log on a regular basis. Mitigations are in place for
Green zone: review annually
the risks and the main challenges to the programme are: Scope and Ambition,
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Staff resources and capacity, Skills and Workforce Planning, Buy in from
Review Date:
Customers and Training and development for staff and Councillors.
Each quarter

Target Position of Risk

This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.
Likelihood

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
31/03/20

Page 46

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

The programme is being managed via the
Programme Board with resources
identified to deliver year 1 and 2 of the
programme.

Financial resources are set aside
for the programme, but there is a
requirement to identify all the
staff needed over the next two
years to support the projects

Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist

01/07/2017
Completed

Update 07/06/17: In May 2017
membership of the Programme
Boards was revised and updated
to reflect the additional roles
required to deliver the various
projects within the programme.
Update 05/06/18: An external
22
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
partner is providing assurance to
the programme using experience
gained from similar
transformation programmes.
Update: 05/07/18: Revised
business case to be considered by
Cabinet on 18/07/18 and Council
on 24/07/18. This sets out a
number of risks which will be
managed as part of the
programme.

Page 47

Update: 26/09/18: Business Case
approved and implementation
underway. Significant progress in
all workstream areas. Staff
appointed to programme roles.
Programme Board meets weekly.
Audit Committee reciving regular
reports. Management Structure
agreed at Council on 10/10/18.
There is a risk log for the programme. This
is shared with the Audit Committee on a
quarterly basis.

SMT have ownership of all the
risks and identified mitigations completed.

Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist

15/04/2018
Completed

All risks on the Customer Connect risk log
were updated during April 2018. The risks
are reviewed at each Board meeting and
are managed accordingly.

All risks above the line are being
managed and have mitigations in
place to reduce the likelihood.
The Senior Responsible Owner
has taken direct responsibility for
managing the partnership
arrangements with Eden.

Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist

Reviewed weekly by the Programme
Board

23
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk Improvement Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations updated.
Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations updated on 26/09/18.
Q3 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains unchanged.
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing & Innovation and Council Organisation and
People

Page 48
24
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Page 49

Description
Management of waste collection vehicle manoeuvres on recycling and waste
collection rounds.
There are many practical and advanced technological safety precautions in
place including the following:
Waste collection rounds have risk assessments and safe systems of work in
place.
All drivers and crews have been trained.
All rounds are monitored to ensure that safe systems are adhered to.
Vehicles have advanced technologies fitted e.g. reversing CCTV and
sophisticated radar to assist the driver and crews manoeuvre safely

x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Review Date:
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.
Likelihood

Waste Collection – Reversing Manoeuvres

Likelihood

Risk 16

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
Target met

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Maintain and keep up to date the Safe
System of Work, inspections and the
utilisation of risk reducing technologies.

In progress and reviewed by the
Street Scene Health and Safety
Working Group on a quarterly
basis

Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services

Ongoing requirement

Commission specialist support to assist in
the completion of a further review of
vehicle movements including reversing on
private drives, private roadways and
narrow access highways

Update 17/11/16: Support
commissioned and interim report
received. Considering key actions
for the service within operational
health and safety plans.
Completed.

Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services

31/12/16
Completed.

25
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Specific Action plan has been
developed to implement the
findings of the review. High
Priority Areas have been
identified and the
implementation of necessary
changes commenced and planned
for completion by amended due
date of 31/12/17.
Completed.

Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services

31/12/17
Completed.

Implement the lower priority findings of
the above review

Planned for completion by
31/12/17.
Update 15/01/18: lower priority
findings will now be completed by
31/03/18.
Update 13/03/18: Now complete.
There will be an ongoing review
of all manoeuvres as part of
business as usual arrangements.

Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services

13/03/18
Completed

Page 50

Implement the priority findings of the
above review

History
of Risk
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.

Risk Owner

Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – work is in progress.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - All Ulverston rounds have been assessed and mitigating measures introduced. Results have
been provided to the Health and Safety Committee 15th January 2018. Some lower priority areas remain pending with completion expected
before end March 2018. Risk position remains the same until all reversing manoeuvres are assessed and mitigating measures have been
implemented as required.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - ↓ - Review indicates that risk has been reduced to the target position due to completed mitigations.
Decision made not to archive risk in order to maintain awareness.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains the same in terms of likelihood and impact.
Portfolio

Environment Portfolio

26
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Cyber Security incident

Page 51

Description
There have been many high profile examples of cyber security breaches across
the World and in the UK recently. The Council has effective security in place to
protect data and deliver services - however threats are becoming ever more
sophisticated and organisations need to be one step ahead. Cyber-attacks can
cross international boundaries and may be initiated by organised criminal
groups, lone individuals or be state sponsored. Cyber criminals are broadening
their efforts towards UK citizens, organisations and institutions. Terrorists are
conducting low-level attacks and aspire to carry out more significant acts.
Examples of threats are Botnets, Distributed denial-of-service, Hacking,
Malware, Pharming, Phishing, Ransomware and Spam.

x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Review Date:
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.

Likelihood

Risk 17

Likelihood

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

x
Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
31/03/20

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Cyber security actions within the ICT Risk
Register

Cyber security actions are on
track

Digital Lead Specialist

In line with cyber security due dates

Review of Insurance

Mitigation added 12/10/17
Update 15/01/18: Predicted
complete by 31/01/18 for
insurance renewal deadline.

Finance Lead Specialist

31/12/17
Completed

History
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
of Risk
RISK IDENTIFIED ● = Audit Committee of 26/07/17 suggested that the Information management risks should be split to create this separate risk
Improvement for Cyber Security. Agreed on 08/08/17 by the Monitoring Officer.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates likelihood very low and impact critical. Additional insurance mitigation
added. ICT maintains up to date software patches. Staff have guidance on how to keep IT Networks Secure and what to do if a virus or malware is
27
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
suspected.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - The risk remains very low. ICT continue to maintain security related Microsoft updates, virus
software updates and follow industry best practice. Business Continuity arrangements are strengthened.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains at very low likelihood
Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing and Innovation Portfolio

Page 52
28
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Page 53

Description
China has made a decision to receive only very low contaminated recycled
waste. As a consequence there will be very large quantities of waste across
the UK and other international countries that will not be eligible for sending
to China. Without an alternative outlet for large quantities of contaminated
recyclable waste the market value of this waste will fall significantly. South
Lakeland District Council’s waste collection approach is to separate
recyclables in a way that mitigates against contamination and maintains a
high quality product so may be less affected by new policy from China. The
advantageous position that South Lakeland has is confirmed in a recent
APSE report. However the income provided from waste recycling is
significant and would have a large impact on services should it be reduced
drastically.

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.

Likelihood

Potential reduction in income from the disposal of
recyclable materials as a consequence of market changes

Likelihood

Risk 18

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Review Date:
Annual – end of March

X
Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
31/03/20

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

The Council already has legally
compliant, waste recycling processes in
place that minimise contamination.

Complete and in place

Director of Customer and Commercial
Services

Complete and in place

The Council continues to maintain a high
profile message to residents to avoid
contamination of recyclable materials
placed out for collection.

Ongoing

Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services

Ongoing

29
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
History
of Risk
Improvement

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED ● = This risk identified by Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services and Community and Leisure Manager. Risk
prepared for escalation from operational level to Senior Management Team and approved for inclusion on the Strategic Risks Register.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains the same due to the lowered market value of waste.

Risk Owner

Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Portfolio

Environment Portfolio

Page 54
30
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Description
Flu Pandemic is listed with the top three risks and rated ‘Very High’ in the
Cumbria Community Risk Register. This is because the new virus would be
an unknown quantity - therefore people will have no immunity and
effective antivirals may not be available for six months. In addition to this all
services will be affected by staff absences at a time when demand will
increase on services.

x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Review Date:
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.

Likelihood

Business Continuity: Flu Pandemic - Loss of people, skills
and supply chain disruption

Likelihood

Risk 19

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
31/03/20

Page 55

Planning assumptions for the reasonable worst case scenario:
 Clinical attack rates of up to 50% of the population in total, spread
over one or more waves each of around 12 – 15 weeks. Peak clinical
attack rate Locally, 10% - 12% of population per week
 Small teams within larger organisations should plan for 30-35%
absenteeism in addition to usual absenteeism levels on any given
day.
Staff will be absent from work if:
 They are ill with flu.
 They need to care for dependants who are ill with flu
 They need to care for children due to school closures
 They have non-flu medical problems
 Their employers have advised them to stay away from work
 This may be unevenly distributed throughout organisations
 They will require time for dealing with personal bereavements with
an increase in compassionate leave and stress
 They fear becoming ill

31
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Impact:
Absenteeism levels in small teams within Large Organisations at 30-35%.
Flu Pandemic would place an unprecedented demand on local authorities,
Police, Coroner and undertakers. It is likely that schools would be closed
causing further absences from work. It is highly likely that mutual aid would
be difficult. All the above issues and many more were highlighted during the
multi-agency Cumbria Flu Pandemic Exercise on 03/07/2018. Business
Continuity was highlighted as key for meeting statutory obligations. A
number of effective Business Continuity mitigations are in place.
Back to ‘Heat Map’

Page 56

Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Capture and implement the
recommendations and mitigations
identified within the Cumbria Flu
Pandemic Exercise report.

Awaiting Cumbria Flu Pandemic
Exercise report.
Report now available with
recommedations.

Strategy Lead Specialist

Implement by 31/03/20

Benchmark with Cabinet Office ‘Flu
pandemic Checklist for businesses’ and
include actions within Business
Continuity Plans where necessary.

Benchmarking with checklist
completed.

Strategy Lead Specialist

Necessary actions included in Business
Continuity Plans – completed. Internal
Audit result of ‘Substantial Assurance’
for Business Continuity.

History
of Risk
Improvement

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED ● = This risk identified following Cumbria Flu Pandemic Exercise 3rd July 2018. Escalation agreed to the Strategic
Risk Register. Risk reviewed on 16/08/18 as below risk appetite with Likelihood Low and Impact Serious.
27/09/18: Mitigations improved and updated. October 2018: Internal Audit result of ‘Substantial Assurance’ for Business Continuity.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains at Likelihood Low and Impact Serious.

Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Leader of the Council

32
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

x

Page 57

Description
There is a business continuity risk that vacancies are not adequately filled for
Impact
roles that are critical – ie those roles which are essential for the running of Green zone: review annually
the organisation and for meeting the health and welfare needs of the public. Blue zone: manage quarterly
Also there will be an impact on the business while staff are moving through
transition from the current ways of working to learn new processes,
behaviours etc.
Review Date:
Quarterly
Impact
A loss of staff and skills has the potential to impact on the organisation and
the public – especially the public who may be vulnerable due to their
dependence on vital services.

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.

Likelihood

Capacity for Business as Usual during the transition to the
new organisational model.

Likelihood

Risk 20

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

X

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
31/03/20

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Transition Planning to mitigate against
the impact of BAU failing or reducing
performance while staff are moving to
new ways of working.

Change management plan,
BCM business critical plan

Director of Strategy, Innovation and
Resources.
Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist.

February 2019

Culture Change and learning & Skill
development planning to mitigate the
loss of skills and knowledge.

Learning & Development Plan
Skills analysis
Change management Plan

Director of Strategy, Innovation and
Resources.
Performance, Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist.

February 2019

History
of Risk

02/11/2018: RISK IDENTIFIED ● = This risk identified by Partnerships and Organisational Development. Risk prepared for Senior
Management Team for consideration for inclusion on the Strategic Risks Register for Q3 reporting.
33

Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
Improvement

Q3 2018/19: Risk approved by Senior Management Team for inclusion on Strategic Risk Register.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that this risk remains at the same level.

Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Housing & Innovation and Council Organisation and People

Page 58
34
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1

Likelihood

Accountable Body for large value schemes

x

Description
SLDC is acting as ‘Accountable Body’ for large value grant aided schemes. In
simple terms the Council acts as “the bank” for grant monies - making
Impact
payments to scheme deliverers. Robust governance, project appraisal,
Green zone: review annually
decision making - and clarity over responsibilities and accountabilities will
Blue zone: manage quarterly
manage and mitigate risks.

Page 59

Impact
Review Date:
Lack of adequate governance arrangements for the accountable body role
Quarterly
could lead to a reduction, suspension or withholding of grant; or require the
repayment of the whole or part of the grant. The current capital programme
contains approximately £5M of such schemes with a possible £2.5M of
further schemes proposed.

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired
position of the risk following the
completion of mitigations.

Likelihood

Risk 21

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current
position of the risk.

x

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly
Target Date:
Prior to project spend

Back to ‘Heat Map’
Mitigation

Mitigation Progress

Mitigation Action Owner

Mitigation Due Date

Robust arrangements for governance,
decision making and clarity on
responsibilities and accountabilities in
accordance with SLDC Project
Management Toolkit

ERDF: Cabinet has approved
SLDC involvement and Council
has approved the capital
programme.

Operational Lead Specialist Services

Before commencement of project spend

Partnership Agreement between
partners and the Council as Accountable
Body, setting out the respective roles,
duties and responsibilities. It will include
how the costs of fulfilling the role and

ERDF: drafted
Others: tbc

Operational Lead Specialist Services

Before commencement of project spend

35
Version: 01/04/2019

Appendix 1
how the Council will be indemnified in
respect of legal claims, losses; reliance
on external advisors.
Ensure a monitoring process to identify
possible weaknesses or risks in the
operation of projects and provide for
corrective action to be taken. Each
material scheme to be included in
Operational Risk Registers and
monitored accordingly.

Operational Lead Specialist Services

During project and until full recovery of
costs from grant body - and external
audit where required.

Use of internal audit to ensure evidence To be included in consideration
in accordance with document retention of risk based audit
requirements and ensure that local grant
recipients retain original evidence.

Finance Lead Specialist

Annually for April Audit Committee

Page 60

History
of Risk
Improvement

28/11/2018: RISK IDENTIFIED ● = This risk identified by Finance and prepared for Senior Management Team for consideration for inclusion
on the Strategic Risks Register for Q3 reporting.
Q3 2018/19: Risk approved by Senior Management Team for inclusion on Strategic Risk Register.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates that the current risk position remains the same.

Risk Owner

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Portfolio

Finance Portfolio

36
Version: 01/04/2019

Item No.10
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
26 April 2019

Executive Report 2018/19
Portfolio:

Culture and Leisure Portfolio

Report from:

Cllr Robin Ashcroft

Portfolio Responsibilities
The Council plan objectives in relation to promoting culture, leisure activities and the arts.
To work with our cultural organisations to attract investments and promote South Lakeland as a
premier area for Arts and Events.
The relationship of the Council with its citizens; civic participation and the Council plan objectives
around leisure, health and wellbeing and working with communities.
Working with key partners with regards to public health and community safety.
Policies, Plans and Strategies




Arts and Events
Grants Strategy
Licensing and Statement of Gambling Policies

Key Areas:











Arts and Culture
Grants
Public Halls
Use of community assets for the promotion of arts and culture
Young People/ projects
Heritage and Events
Heritage Listed buildings and built environment
Voluntary Sector Engagement in relation to Culture and Leisure
Leisure and Recreation
Licensing and Gambling

Page 61

Arts, Culture and Events
The Council has been working in partnership with key Cultural Strategic Partners and
organisations to encourage, advocate and promote cultural arts and events across the district.
In order to promote South Lakeland as a leading Cultural destination and premier rural events
for arts, events and festivals, the Council is working with Arts Council England and other cultural
authorities to identify and enable funding to support and facilitate significant initiatives.
South Lakeland is already striving ahead in supporting some leading cultural events such as
The Lakes International Comic Arts Festival, Lakes Alive, Kendal Mountain Festival, Great
North Swim and Tour of Britain.
Following the launch of the Great Place initiative the Council has been working closely with
Craven District Council, Lake District and Yorkshire Dales National Parks to continue
development. An action plan is being delivered to develop sustainable resilient creative
communities and economy’s which celebrate the skill and experience of creative people and
good quality of life. This will retain and attract younger people to our districts to influence,
support and create our future economy.
Grants
Throughout 2018/19 the Council has continued to support community organisations and cultural
partners through grant funding.
A decision was made at Cabinet on 6 February to review the grant commitments each year to
the agreed Strategic Cultural Partners. This approach will support the development of South
Lakelands reputation as a leading rural cultural destination, strengthen the districts cultural and
creative industries, contribute to community’s health and wellbeing, and support the Council in
times of financial uncertainty.
Public Halls/ Use of community assets for the promotion of arts and culture
The Council supports a variety of different cultural events through the use of public halls and
other owned Council assets which support various areas within the Council Plan. The events
take place on one off or a regular basis showing how the public halls support the local
communities include. Just some of the events include:











Main hub base for leading festivals such as Kendal Mountain Festival and Comic Arts
Regular community coffee mornings and bingo
Language classes
Meditation, Yoga and other fitness classes
Local amateur operatic society productions
From October to March classical midday music concerts
Magistrates and Civil Courts held on a monthly basis
Eden and South Lakes Credit Union
Children’s theatre arts school, encouraging children to reach their goals
Employee badminton sessions

Page 62

The Town Hall is becoming increasingly popular for wedding ceremonies. A total of 27
ceremonies were held at the Town Hall in 2018. Bookings for future years are also being taken,
to date 29 ceremonies have been booked for 2019 and one for 2020.
The results from the 2017 Quality of Life survey showed that 41% of residents were satisfied
with the Museums and Public Halls and the council run theatres and concert halls. The Council
hopes to increase this level of satisfaction by working with partners to offer a range of events
and facilities at public halls attracting a diverse range of residents.
Young People/ projects
In summer 2018 the Council worked with National Citizens Service (NCS) to provide local
government workshops to young people.
These workshops were tailored to teach young people about the role of their local councilor,
encourage young people to vote and to teach them of the different roles and responsibilities of
each tier of local government.
The council worked with groups of young people between the ages of 16-18 from across South
Lakeland, Barrow and Lancaster. These workshops encouraged them to engage with national
aspects and local democracy including an overview of the political parties, the impact of the
media and getting them to identify their priorities for the local area.
The Council will begin to work towards the NCS programme for 2019 to continue to support
young people and encourage them to participate in the democratic process.
Heritage and Events/ Heritage Listed buildings and built environment
A formal agreement for the Burton in Kendal Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas
(PSiCA) has now been confirmed following the submission of a detailed Delivery Plan. The
delivery plan identifies the how almost £500k worth of works will be undertaken over the three
year life of the programme. Historic England’s £120k funding contribution will be matched with
£150k from SLDC and a further £15k from Burton in Kendal Parish Council. The scheme is due
to commence in March 2019 with a £100k public realm enhancement of The Square to be
implemented in autumn 2019.
SLDC has also recently awarded £4k of funding to the Cartmel Village Society to enable them to
complete a conservation area management plan for the Carmel Conservation Area.
Leisure and Recreation
The Council has had another successful year in partnership working with our leisure providers
GLL to increase opportunities for residents to access local leisure facilities in Kendal, Ulverson
and Windermere.
In the 2017 Quality of Life Survey results, 34% of residents reported that they were satisfied
with the sports and leisure facilities available. The Council has been working closely with GLL to
encourage more residents to use the facilities available and make improvements.
Kendal Leisure Centre held a healthier, happier Sunday fun day event in November 2018 to
increase access to services to residents. This event brought together community groups,

Page 63

statutory and voluntary organisations to promote a variety of health and wellbeing topics. The
event was well attended.
Following approval from Cabinet in September 2018, further funding was agreed to progress the
proposals for a new Leisure Centre at Ulverston. This funding will support the investigation of
financing options and finalise the designs of the ambitious project. If these further detailed
assessments confirm the feasibility of the project it is hoped to replace the existing ageing
facilities at Priory Road in Ulverston with a new £9 million leisure complex.
Each designated bathing water locations in South Lakeland have been rated excellent by
government inspectors for the fifth consecutive year.
This year the Council has again contributed to the Swim Safe campaign. This is a national
campaign offers free outdoor swimming for children aged between 7-14, to ensure children
understand the important water safety messages.
Licensing and Gambling
Throughout 2018/19 the Council has been working closely with Cumbria Constabulary to
develop the multi-agency hub.
Following approval at Licensing Regulatory Committee on 5 November the Council introduced
the new Animal Licensing Regime which changed the way in which animal boarding
establishments, dog breeding establishing, pet shops and riding establishments are licensed.
This new regime will require animal premises to be carried out by a qualified inspector, and a
review of current licenses held which will enhance the protection of the animal’s welfare.
In November 2018 the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy was reviewed in line
with national changes to the DVSA driving standard test, changes to taxi ranks (as introduced
by CCC) and changes to mandatory training of drivers on safeguarding of vulnerable
individuals.
In summer 2018 a review of the Gambling Policy was undertaken following a consultation with
key stakeholders. The revised policy has led to the enforcement and licensing of gambling being
conducted in a fair and balanced way which is beneficial to businesses and communities.

Page 64

Item No.11
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
26 April 2019

Executive Report 2018/19
Portfolio:

Health and Wellbeing Portfolio

Report from:

Cllr Philip Dixon

Portfolio Responsibilities
To work with other tiers of government, community groups and other relevant partners to
enhance the health and wellbeing of residents.
Alleviate the harmful effects of poverty in the district, looking at issues to address those who are
disadvantaged.
Working with key partners with regards to welfare reforms.
Nominated representative on the Health and Wellbeing Board as appropriate.
To drive our Localism agenda.
Policies, Plans and Strategies





Community Strategy
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Public Health
Community Safety Strategy

Key Areas:








Localism
Devolution
Public Health
Community Development
Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy
Voluntary Sector in relation to Health and Wellbeing Sector
Health and Safety

Page 65

Devolution
The Council has been continuing to closely monitor any updates regarding devolution deals in
order to prepare for any changes or mitigations that may be required from the County Councils
outcome in partnership with the other Cumbrian districts. Work has been ongoing through the
Joint Districts Board and Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region, to progress key
relationships with other authorities in health, housing and economic growth. A devolution
framework is expected from government sometime in the near future, however this continues to
be delayed due to other business.
Public Health
The Council has been working towards promoting and disseminating positive health messages
across the workplace, these messages reflects improvements for physical and mental
wellbeing. In February 2019 the Council were awarded a Bronze award in the Better Health at
Work Scheme which recognizes the achievements of organisations promoting healthy lifestyles
and considering the health and wellbeing of their employees and helps them move forward in a
structured and supported way. The Council operates flexible working which has been recently
considered by HR Committee to remove the core hours, to promote a better work/life balance
and alleviate stress and increase awareness of positive mental health. The Council is now
taking steps to work towards achieving the Silver accreditation. The Silver Level of the award
builds upon the basics of the Bronze level and rewards organisations that take a more holistic
view of the workplace. This will see the Council amend or introduce policies to embed health
and wellbeing within the organizational structure.
A number of employees across the Council have taken on the role of Health Advocates who act
as a point of contact within the organisation as a health specialist. The advocates have been
involving and motivating others to actively participate in the various health, wellbeing and
lifestyles changes and campaigns that have been promoted through the Council such as
Stoptober and reducing the sugar in your diet.
The Council recently undertook another successful Health and Wellbeing Week in February
2019 which included personal training sessions, health checks, talks on the employee
assistance programme and incorporated lunch time walks held each day as part of February
walking month. Following the success of the lunch time walks these have been continued to get
employees and members active in their lunch breaks.
The Public Health Strategy has been previously reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
and was adopted at Council on 28 March 2018.
This policy has now superseded the SLDC Public Health Strategy 2014-19 and sets out how the
Health and Wellbeing board will work collaboratively over the next 10 years to enable Cumbrian
communities to be healthy and tackle health inequalities. This Strategy acknowledges the wider
determinants of health conditions i.e. the environment in which a person is born, lives, works
and age impacts on their access and ability to live a healthier life. This approach will
demonstrate cross cutting themes and how the Council can contribute to promoting, enabling
and proving services to improve our communities health. The results from the 2017 Quality of
Life survey show that 72% of South Lakeland residents reported good or very good health. This
strategy will support communities in increasing this percentage.

Page 66

Community Development and Localism
Over the past 12 months the Council has been assisting communities by building relationships
with parish and town councils to promote the benefits of localism and identify the areas of
development within communities. These meetings have opened up communication channels
between the town/ parish to the district council and identify areas where areas of support can be
further provided.
The applications to apply for funding to improve changing facilities opened in October 2018.
These grants were too improve public changing facilities for people with disabilities. A total of 4
applications were received by SLDC and a total of £2500 was granted in locations across the
district. These grants are being used to enable feasibility studies to ultimately raise the standard
of public facilities for those people who cannot use standard accessible toilets.
Building Financial Resilience
Since the development of the Building Financial Resilience Group (BFR) SLDC and partners
have developed an action plan across 4 task groups.
Task group 1: Increase partner collaboration and publicise the support available to the public
This task group has arranged for training and expansion of the Multi Agency Resilience System
(MARS) system to aid inter-referrals (including health via integrated care communities). An
intensive campaign of the group included web and print coverage of the support and resources
available to the public.
Task group 2: Increase access to skills and education
The group has been working with partners such as Kendal College, Cumbria LEP and Queen
Katherine School to promote work placements, apprenticeships and access to college education
including a Cumbria Careers Launch, South Lakeland Skills Festival and promotion of free
employment skills sessions offered by CCC.
Task group 3: Reduce Fuel Poverty
In November 2018 the LEAP scheme was launched to provide free energy advice to South
Lakeland residents, including energy tariff support and telephone support on financial
management.
Task group 4: Food waste and redistribution
Promotional activities were recently undertaken offering free food waste advice for a variety of
groups across South Lakeland.
The BFR group has also recently made links with the Morecambe Bay Poverty Truth
Commission and their initiatives across North Lancashire.
Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy
The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) has been developing a joined up and collaborative
problem solving approach to crime prevention in South Cumbria. This included developing Local
Focus Units for a multi-agency approach to local, tactical issues and establishing links between
3rd sector and statutory agencies e.g. Barrow Multi-Cultural Forum and the Local Focus Hubs

Page 67

and MIND and Morecambe Bay CCG. The Cumbria Constabulary are attending Overview and
Scrutiny Committee on 26 April to provide in-depth updates on the issues affecting Cumbria.
The total number of crimes reported in Quarter 3 2018/19 was 1,227. This has risen from 1.248
in Q3 which is believed to be due to the increased confidence for reporting crimes to the police
and improved reporting methods.
The CSP has been working on the key priorities throughout 2018/19 which support the overall
reduction in crime, which included:
Alcohol and violent crime
The CSP granted £10,000 of support funding for the creation of a welfare hub of statutory and
third sector partners in Barrow and the installation of CCTV to tackle serious issues of alcohol
and substance misuse within this area.
£5,000 of funding was also granted to the ‘Barrow Detached’ project. This project allowed for
youth workers (in pairs) to be present in Barrow Town on Friday and Saturday nights, to
encourage young people to access support services, engage them in diversionary activities and
reduce the levels of anti-social behavior.
Domestic Abuse
The CSP have worked to establish links between the homelessness teams, in South Lakeland
and Barrow and the Women’s Community Matters to provide domestic abuse training for all
staff.
£5,000 grant funding was awarded to CADAS for a collaboration project with Springfield Hostel,
Kendal to work closer to support victims and rehabilitate perpetrators of domestic abuse. This
training was available for anyone who worked with victims or perpetrators of domestic abuse.
In Q2 2018/19 the number of domestic abuse reports was 253 which has reduced to 241 in Q3.
Child Sexual Exploitation
The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) attended at CSP meeting to provide a
presentation on missing, exploited and trafficked children, following a reported increase over the
past 3 years in support for children’s who are at risk. Following this presentation the LSCB and
CALC agreed to raise awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation within the rural areas of South
Lakeland.
Mental Health
The CSP has opened up discussions between leading local mental health agencies to
understand the areas of improvement in South Cumbria.
This discussion was an opportunity to look at the issues of people with mental health problems
in the criminal justice system, who have no access to support services. These key partners
included Haverigg Prison, Assistant Coroner, Cumbria Partnership Foundation Trust, Cumbria
Police, Prohibition Services, MIND, Unity and Cumbria County Council. From this meeting a
group has been involved in health service plans for development of linked up mental health
services.
The key issues identified by the CSP were:

Page 68





The lack of liaison following a patient discharge from Prison, mental health in-patient
services and care, which can lead to homelessness or missing the links into local
services.
The inability for statutory services to accept referrals for those with substance misuse
issues.

The CSP proposed to the CCG that key mental health issues such as discharge, dual diagnosis
and suicides should be raised with relevant bodies, with the potential to be included in new CCC
and CCG mental health strategies. The homelessness teams at SLDC and Barrow have met
with health service professionals to discuss mental health referrals.
ATiC Project
County Lines is becoming an increasingly big issue within South Cumbria, which involves drugs,
serious and organised crime, exploitation and links to modern day slavery.
The Council is supporting the second year of the ATiC project which will consist of interactive
performances for students in year 9 on decision-making and critical thinking related to drugs
and county lines. The performances will be held in May 2019.
These interactive performances will involve students who will be faced to make a decision and
face the consequences related to their choice. The students will be taken on a journey through
the use of film, music and interactive sets. Students will then have the opportunity to reflect on
their choices, seek advice and help through workshops.
Health and Safety
Across 2018/19 the Health and Safety Advisor has worked with Human Resources to coordinate
behavioural safety and behavioural framework aims and objectives which we anticipate will lead
to a culture responsibility. In 2018 84% of Health and Safety service requests were responded
to within 5 working days.
The Street Scene service has continued to develop and introduce new measures to ensure
health and safety of employees and customers is key, by introducing new 44 litre recycling
boxes which will reduce the weight of the boxes which in turn will support the reduction of
potential Musco-Skeletol injuries.
The Health and Safety Partnership with Craven District Council has been successful continuing
to work together to implement the three year health and safety strategy.
Through the promotion of the Reach for Zero campaign the authority has been ensuring that all
staff regularly complete Desk Assessments and are aware of the reporting methods should a
health and safety risk occur.
Following approval of the Health and Safety Strategic Improvement Plan at Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Committee on 16 October 2018, the strategy now sets out measures, current status
and milestones. This plan will support the Council in ensuring that the health, safety and
wellbeing of staff is key and continuously improved.

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70

Item No.12
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
26 April 2019
Cabinet
5 June 2019

Draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness
Strategy 2019 - 2024
Portfolio:

Cllr Jonathan Brook - Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio Holder

Report from:

David Sykes – Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Julie Jackson – Principal Housing Strategy Officer

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

Key included in the Forward Plan as published on 8.1.19

1.0

Expected Outcome
The new Council Plan adopted in February 2019 identifies a key theme of reducing
inequalities and within that, a commitment to prevent and reduce homelessness. The
South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy 2019 - 2024 will assist in the
prevention and tackling of homelessness in the District superseding the South
Lakeland District Council and Eden District Council Homelessness Strategy 2013 2018. It is expected that, by implementing the Strategy, people experiencing
homelessness issues will be better supported so that homelessness can be
prevented wherever possible and, if this is not possible, that there is sufficient
housing supply for people to access appropriate accommodation and the support
they need to help maintain a tenancy.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:(1)

Considers the draft Homelessness Strategy 2019 - 2024; and

(2)
Recommends that Cabinet approves the draft Homelessness Strategy
2019 – 2024.
2.2

It is recommended that Cabinet:(1)
Approves the South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy
2019 – 2024.

3.0

Background and Proposals
The 2002 Homelessness Act requires local authorities to conduct a review of
homelessness and following on from this to develop a homelessness strategy. The

Page 71

purpose of the strategy is the prevention of homelessness, to secure sufficient
accommodation for people who are or may become homeless and to secure the
provision of support for those who are or may become homeless so they do not
become homeless again.
South Lakeland District Council has been working in partnership with a range of
partners from the voluntary and statutory sectors to develop a Homelessness
Strategy for the period 2019 - 2024. As a first step the Council conducted a Review
of homelessness in 2018, the findings of which were considered by the South
Lakeland Strategic Homelessness Group and are attached as Appendix 2 of the
Strategy. The Strategic Homelessness Group is a multi-agency Group chaired by the
Portfolio Holder for Housing, People and Innovation. A Workshop was held on 4
December 2018 with relevant stakeholders to discuss the priorities arising from the
Review and agree actions that could be taken forward into the Homelessness
Strategy 2019 - 2024. The key actions have been replicated within the Strategy’s
Action Plan (Appendix 1 of the Strategy) and the feedback from this Workshop is
detailed in Appendix 3 of the draft Strategy. This work has helped to shape the
priorities in the new Strategy which are (in no particular order):
1. Homelessness prevention;
2. Increasing the supply of settled accommodation;
3. Ensuring appropriate support is available
4. Tackling complex needs
The above priorities are framed within the overarching priority of partnership working
as it is recognised that homelessness is not an issue that can be addressed by a single
organisation. However, we can work together with other statutory and third sector
organisations to help achieve these priorities. The Strategic Homelessness Group
provides a mechanism to embed partnership working with other partners, such as
Cumbria County Council who have a duty to assist in the development of the
Homelessness Strategy and are represented on the Group. Developing commitment
to collaboration should be strengthened by the recent adoption of the Cumbria Public
Health Strategy which recognises the contribution that access to housing and
preventing homelessness has in promoting health.
3.1

The draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024 was
subsequently developed and is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. Following
consideration by Overview and Scrutiny Committee any amendments will be
incorporated before it is considered by Cabinet on 5 June 2019.

3.2

The Action Plan needs to be updated on an annual basis and will be reported to the
Housing Advisory Group and Strategic Homelessness Group as stipulated in the
Strategy, before being signed off by the Director of Customer and Commercial
Services. Updated Action Plans need to then be sent to the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

Initial stakeholder consultation was held with key stakeholders with an interest in
homelessness via a survey. As a follow up to this a workshop was held on 4
December 2018 to consider the key actions that would be taken forward in the
Strategy. The draft Strategy is now subject to a further consultation period with key
stakeholders.

4.2

The draft Strategy has been consulted on during March to 1 April 2019 with Ward
Members, Parish Councils and other statutory and voluntary agencies with an
interest in homelessness issues. Consultation has also been undertaken with service

Page 72

users (Appendix 4 of the draft Strategy) and this was useful to see that the Strategy
priorities and actions reflect the views of the service users. The consultation results
are attached at Appendix 2.
4.3

The draft Strategy was considered by the Housing Advisory Group on 5 March 2019;
no further changes were required to the draft as a result of this meeting.

5.0

Alternative Options
Cabinet could decide not to approve the draft South Lakeland District Council
Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024. However, this is not recommended as the
Council has to have a Homelessness Strategy and update this every five years in
accordance with the Homelessness Act 2002 and would not be complying with this
legislation.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy links to the Council
Plan priority for ‘Housing’ ‘Providing homes to meet need’. ‘The council and its
partners will work together to significantly reduce the risk of homelessness’

7.0

Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement

7.1

In 2018/19 the Council received DCLG Homelessness Reduction new burdens grant
of £8679, Flexible Homelessness Support grant £91228, and Private Sector Data
Collection grant £358. The Council has committed £461,000 for temporary
accommodation for families for 2019/20.
The implementation of the Strategy is likely to be within existing resources. The
Council will also work with partners to source external funding, such as Government
funding, for specific projects identified within the Action Plan.

7.2

The Council administers Discretionary Housing Payments to help in cases of
hardship to prevent tenants from accruing arrears. The budget for 2018 to 2019 is
£113,777 and this has been paid to 205 individual households. The budget has
reduced for 2019 to 2020 to £93,649.
Human Resources

7.3

There are no human resource implications for this report.
Legal

7.4

Local authorities have a statutory duty to conduct a review of homelessness, to
develop a homelessness strategy and to update that strategy every five years under
the Homelessness Act 2002.

7.5

Local authorities have specific duties set out within the Homeless Reduction Act
2017 in relation to how homeless cases are assessed and in relation to the duty to
refer. This is reflected in the draft Strategy.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? Yes attached at Appendix 3.

7.5

Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: it is anticipated that
the draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024 will
have positive impacts on health, social, economic and environmental issues. This is
particularly the case in terms of the built environment and social factors such as
poverty. Increasing the supply of settled housing will have a positive impact in terms
of housing provision to meet needs. The Strategy will have a positive impact on

Page 73

health and wellbeing by ensuring support is available to people with additional needs
such as drug and alcohol.
Equality and Diversity
7.6

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes attached at Appendix 4.

7.7

Summary of equality and diversity impacts: the Equality Impact Analysis shows that
adopting the draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy 2019 –
2024 will have a mainly positive impact on equalities as it will address the needs of
vulnerable people and people protected by the Equality Act 2010. There are some
impacts in relation to rurality, gender, Black and Minority Ethic, and sexuality,
however the Equality Impact Analysis shows how any negative impacts can be
negated.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

There is a risk if the draft South
Lakeland District Council is not
approved that the Council will
not be compliant with legislation.

This could lead to
Government funding being
reduced.

Approve the draft South
Lakeland District Council
Homelessness Strategy
2019 – 2024.

There is a risk that relevant
partners will not engage to
deliver the identified actions.

This could result in some
of the actions not being
carried out which would
then impact on the ability
to meet the identified
priorities.

Continue to engage
partners in the Strategic
Homelessness Group.

Contact Officers
Julie Jackson, Principal Housing Strategy Officer, 01539 793371
j.jackson@southlakeland.gov.uk.
Appendices Attached to this Report
(delete if no appendices attached)
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Draft South Lakeland District Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024
and Action Plan

2

Consultation responses.

3

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment

4

Equality Impact Assessment

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

South Lakeland District Council
Homelessness Review 2018

South Lakeland District Council web-site.

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services

Date sent
1.4.19

Page 74

Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
1.4.19
1.4.19
11.4.19

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
6.3.19
N/A
14.3.19
6.3.19
6.3.19
27.2.19
6.3.19
26.4.19
5.6.19
N/A

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76

Appendix 1

South Lakeland District Council
Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024
Contents
Foreword................................................................................................................................................. 3
Executive Summary................................................................................................................................. 3
Priorities .............................................................................................................................................. 3
Achievements from the Previous Strategy ......................................................................................... 3
Section One ............................................................................................................................................. 5
1.0

Introduction and purpose of the Strategy .............................................................................. 5

1.2

Overview of Homelessness in South Lakeland ....................................................................... 6

1.3

Development of the South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy ....................... 6

1.4

The national and local context of homelessness ........................................................................ 7
1.4.1

National Context ............................................................................................................. 7

1.4.2

Government Policy/Strategy ........................................................................................... 7

1.5

Local Context and links to other Strategies ............................................................................ 8

1.5.1

The Review of Homelessness in South Lakeland ................................................................ 8

Section Two – What we are looking to achieve and how we will do this ............................................... 9
2.0

Vision....................................................................................................................................... 9

2.2

Homelessness Prevention ....................................................................................................... 9

2.2.1

Key Measures ................................................................................................................ 10

2.2.2

Key Actions .................................................................................................................... 10

2.3

Increasing the supply of settled accommodation ................................................................. 10

2.3.1

Key Measures ................................................................................................................ 10

2.3.2

Actions........................................................................................................................... 11

2.4

Ensuring the right support is available to those who need it ............................................... 11

2.4.1
2.5

Key Actions .................................................................................................................... 12

Tackling complex needs ........................................................................................................ 12

2.5.1

Key Actions .................................................................................................................... 12

Section Three – Implementing the Strategy ......................................................................................... 13
3.0

Funding and commissioning ................................................................................................. 13

3.1

Staff Resources...................................................................................................................... 13

Page 77

3.2

Monitoring and Review......................................................................................................... 13

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 2019 – 2020
Appendix 2 – Summary of the Review Findings
Appendix 3 – Feedback from Workshop Discussions held on 4.12.18
Appendix 4 – Service User Consultation February 2019

Page 78

Foreword
Executive Summary
Nationally and locally homelessness is increasing. This is reflected in the rising numbers of homeless
presentations here in South Lakeland. The other notable increase is the number of people
presenting with other needs which can be complex in nature such as drug and alcohol issues, and
mental health issues.
The Council’s Homelessness Strategy is a key document that outlines the priorities that will address
homelessness in the District and the actions that the Council will undertake with its partners in order
to do this.
The Council recognises that homelessness is not an issue that can be tackled alone, but in
partnership with statutory and voluntary sector organisations.
This Strategy has been developed in partnership with other organisations through a multi-agency
Steering Group. It builds on the work undertaken in the last Strategy. The vision and priorities reflect
the Group’s priorities. The vision is:
To prevent homelessness wherever possible, to ensure homelessness is quickly relieved, and that
settled accommodation and support is provided to those that need it.

Priorities
The Homelessness Strategy Group has identified four priorities for this Strategy which are in no
particular order:
1

Homelessness Prevention

2

Increasing the supply of settled accommodation

3

Ensuring the right support is available to those that need it

4

Tackling complex needs

A comprehensive review of homelessness was undertaken in 2018 to examine the currents levels of
homelessness, the needs of homeless people and factors that could have an influence on future
levels of homelessness. A summary of the findings is shown in Appendix 2 of this Strategy.
Consultation was held with service users and the results of this is shown in Appendix 4 of this
Strategy. It was useful to have feedback from people who have experienced homelessness and this
has been taken into account in the development of the Strategy and Action Plan.

Achievements from the Previous Strategy
The following key achievements demonstrate successful work that has been undertaken to address
homelessness in the District:


Education work in schools/ college has been undertaken in partnership with Children’s Services
and Impact Housing Association.

Page 79

















A 16/17 year old Joint Protocol was developed in partnership with a range of agencies including
the County Council; a South Lakeland Local Commitment was signed up to and is working well..
Cumbria County Council commissioned a Night stop service across Cumbria and in South
Lakeland.
An early warning system was set up with key Registered Providers to prevent evictions where
possible.
The Council adopted a housing options approach established to prevent homelessness wherever
possible.
Adoption of ‘no second night out’ across Cumbria.
Work undertaken for the Gold Standard and peer review undertaken and the Council achieved a
bronze standard.
Many partners provide pre-tenancy training.
A Private Sector Accommodation Officer is in post and has been targeting empty homes under 6
months to bring back into use for those in housing need/homeless/ threatened with
homelessness.
302 empty homes have been brought back into use through targeted interventions during the
period 2014/15 to 2017/18. More work will under taken in line with the Council’s Empty Homes
Strategy 2015 – 2020.
We are working with 26 private landlords on the provision of housing for people homeless or
threatened with homelessness.
We are on target to enable the delivery of 1000 affordable homes to rent during the period 2014
– 2025 with 457 completions to 31 December 2018. We have also enabled the delivery of 121
affordable homes for sale in the same period.
South Lakeland District Council was successful in securing £100k funding for a domestic violence
project in partnership with Springfield, Impact Housing and Cumbria and Lancashire Community
Rehabilitation Project for victims of domestic violence and perpetrators.

It is recognised that further work needs to be undertaken now to continue this work and to build
upon these successes.

Page 80

Section One
1.0

Introduction and purpose of the Strategy
Local authorities are required under the Homelessness Act 2002 to conduct a review of

A key challenge is that homeless presentations
have increased by 380% since 2012-13 in South
Lakeland.
homelessness and to then develop a homelessness strategy and update this every five years.
The focus of the Strategy needs to be on homelessness prevention, securing an adequate
supply of housing for people who are or may become homeless and that sufficient support is
available to prevent homelessness reoccurring. This Homelessness Strategy builds upon the
work undertaken in the previous 2013 – 2018 Homelessness Strategy but recognises that
amidst a changing environment with changing needs, homelessness has been increasing,
both nationally and locally here in South Lakeland.
We recognise that we cannot achieve successes on our own and this Strategy has been the
result of joint work with other agencies in the statutory and voluntary sector. It is recognised
in the Homelessness Act 2002 and in the revised Homelessness Code of Guidance 2018 that
there needs to be greater co-operation and closer joint planning and closer operational cooperation between social services authorities and housing authorities. Collaboration to
address the wider determinants of health is recognised in the Cumbria Public Health
Strategy. Cumbria County Council is represented on the multi-agency steering group and has
inputted into the development of the Homelessness Strategy. Further work to develop this
relationship will be crucial to ensure that positive outcomes are achieved for people who are
homeless or threatened with homelessness, especially those with complex needs.
The key issues that this Strategy wishes to address are:








The significant increase in homelessness in South Lakeland and understand the causes;
The need for interventions to be at an earlier point to prevent homelessness;
Pathways need to be in place for people who may be in hospital, prison or be vulnerable
due to being a care leaver;
The need to secure more appropriate temporary accommodation to meet the needs of
individuals and families;
There is a need for accommodation with support, especially for people with complex
needs, however, supported accommodation has more than halved in South Lakeland
and we need alternatives;
There is need to increase the supply of settled accommodation.

We now have additional powers and responsibilities under the Homeless Reduction Act
2017 and as such need re-examine what we are doing and what we need to do to intervene
earlier.

Page 81

1.2

Overview of Homelessness in South Lakeland
A review of homelessness was undertaken in 2018 and this reveals that the main causes of
homelessness remain the same:




Loss of an assured shorthold tenancy in the private rented sector – this is the largest
cause of homelessness in South Lakeland.
Relationship breakdown – either violent or non-violent, and young people leaving the
family home.
Complex issues that exacerbate the type of issues that may lead to homelessness, i.e.
rent arrears, anti-social behaviour, drug and alcohol addictions and mental health issues
(sometimes, though not always, as a result of substance misuse). Such issues make it
more difficult for people to cope and resolve their housing issues on their own.

Key findings from the Review can be found at Appendix 2 of this document.

1.3

Development of the South Lakeland District Council Homelessness
Strategy
The Strategy has been developed in partnership with agencies in the statutory and voluntary
sector through a Strategic Homelessness Group which was established in 2018. The Group
has met to discuss priorities and an initial survey was sent out to agencies that would have
an interest in the issue of homelessness in South Lakeland. A workshop was held on 4.12.18
to discuss what actions we should be undertaking to help deliver the priorities that have
been identified by the Group. Feedback from the workshop is set out in Appendix 3. Service
user consultation was undertaken by a small number of agencies and the results of this are
shown at Appendix 4.
In order to implement this Strategy an Action Plan has been developed by partners and is
shown at Appendix 1. Consultation on the draft Strategy will take place in March to April
2019.

Page 82

1.4 The national and local context of homelessness
1.4.1 National Context
Legislation
The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 extends the responsibilities of local authorities including;








A duty to prevent homelessness
Amending the definition of homelessness to households served with a section 21 notice
seeking possession.
Extending the ‘threatened with homelessness’ period from 28 to 56 days
Requiring households to agree a Personal Housing Plan
A new relief duty on councils to work to prevent homelessness and secure
accommodation for all applicants regardless of priority need or intentionally homeless.
A new duty on public bodies to notify councils when they suspect someone may be
homeless or at risk of homelessness.
The Council is required to review the Action Plan on an annual basis.

Welfare Reform Act 2016
Universal Credit merges several benefits into one monthly payment. Payments were made
The Residential Landlords Association (RLA) found that
three in every five landlords (61%) with tenants
claiming Universal Credit have experienced them going
into arrears at some point. In 2016, the proportion of
landlords experiencing arrears from Universal Credit
claimants was 27%.

on a weekly basis prior to Universal Credit and therefore people have had to learn how to
budget on a monthly basis rather than week by week. Housing payments are also made
direct to the tenant rather than the landlord unless there is a vulnerable tenant or the
tenant gets into rent arrears of at least two months’ rent. Then an alternative payment
arrangement can be set up for a landlord to receive the housing element direct. In South
Lakeland this has been rolled out.
In South Lakeland arrears due to these changes could account for the fact that loss of an
assured shorthold tenancy in the private rented sector is the largest cause of homelessness.

1.4.2 Government Policy/Strategy
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018
This gives a commitment to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and to end rough sleeping by
2027. The approach described within the Strategy is one of prevention, intervention and
recovery. The Strategy requires that Local Housing Authorities review their Homelessness
Strategy Action Plan on an annual basis.

Page 83

Extension of the Right to Buy to tenants of Registered Providers which could reduce the
amount of social housing over time. Despite a pledge to replace homes that are lost through
replacement schemes, the reality shows that this has not happened and the Government
has acknowledged this.
Social Housing Green Paper - sets out a commitment to build more social housing, consider
social housing complaints resolution and regulation, remove the stigma associated with
social housing tenants and ensuring homes of a decent and safe standard, particularly in the
light of Grenfell. Consultation responses are being considered.

1.5

Local Context and links to other Strategies
South Lakeland covers a 600 square mile area with large parts of the District falling within
two national parks, the Lake District and Yorkshire Dales National Park. The District is
predominantly rural and the housing market is dominated by issues of affordability. South
Lakeland is a very popular holiday area with some villages dominated with second and
holiday homes. South Lakeland is also a popular retirement destination and the resident
population is aging considerably.
This Strategy sits within the wider context of other relevant Council Plans and Strategies,
namely:






South Lakeland District Council Plan updated 2019 – Housing – providing homes to
meet need.
South Lakeland District Council’s Housing Strategy - Priority A - Developing new
affordable and open market homes to meet need and support economic growth, Priority
B – Providing specialist housing and services to improve the health and well-being of
older, young and vulnerable people, and Priority E – Preventing and reducing
homelessness.
The Tenancy Strategy – priority to assist vulnerable households and reduce the risk of
homelessness. The Strategy is in the process of being reviewed in 2019.
Cumbria Choice Joint Allocations Policy - the Council adopted the Cumbria Choice Joint
Allocations Policy and is a partner on Cumbria Choice, the choice based lettings system
through which most housing association homes are let. The Allocations Policy gives
priority to homeless households in line with statutory requirements.

1.5.1 The Review of Homelessness in South Lakeland
A Review of homelessness was undertaken in 2018 and key findings can be found at

Key Fact: homeless applications have increased by
93% since 2012-13 in South Lakeland.
Appendix 2. The main findings are that homelessness is increasing in South Lakeland due to
a number of factors, not least, welfare reform. The level of complex needs cases is also
increasing. The loss of supported accommodation in South Lakeland has left a void for such
people as they find themselves with increasing difficulty accessing secure accommodation
and are unable to maintain their tenancies leading to a revolving door of homelessness. The

Page 84

knock on effect of this is a spiral of decline with interventions from other public sector
services such as health – hospital admissions, mental health teams, drug and alcohol
services, prisons and probation and the voluntary sector. Dealing with the root causes of
homelessness can positively impact on the circumstances that individuals find themselves
dealing with.

Section Two – What we are looking to achieve and how we will do
this
2.0

Vision
Our vision is:
To prevent homelessness wherever possible, to ensure homelessness is quickly relieved, and
that settled accommodation and support is provided to those that need it.

2.1

Priorities
The Homelessness Strategy Group has identified four priorities for this Strategy which are in
no particular order:
1

Homelessness Prevention

2

Increasing the supply of settled accommodation

3

Ensuring the right support is available to those that need it

4

Tackling complex needs

All four priorities are embedded within the theme of partnership working as mentioned in
Section One. The Homelessness Strategy Group has worked on a number of key actions that
will help us achieve the priorities and are detailed below.

2.2

Homelessness Prevention
Homelessness prevention is about tackling issues before they become a crisis that could lead
to a person losing their home.
Under the Homelessness Reduction Act a person is threatened with homelessness if this
could occur within 56 days rather than the original 28 days. This gives more opportunities to
prevent homelessness at an earlier point or source alternative accommodation if necessary.
For example, landlords can identify tenants who are falling into rent arrears or for whom
there are other issues with their tenancies that could lead to a breach of the tenancy
agreement. An early warning system was set up following the last Homelessness Strategy
and works well with South Lakes Housing. There is scope to extend this scheme to other
Registered Providers and also in the private rented sector. Additionally, the Cumbria Choice
Allocations Policy will need to be reviewed in light of the Homelessness Reduction Act to
ensure that it is compliant.

Page 85

2.2.1 Key Measures
HS1 - Not to place homelessness families in bed and breakfast accommodation unless
exceptional circumstances and then for no longer than 6 weeks.
HS2 - Not to place young people (under 24) in bed and breakfast accommodation.

2.2.2 Key Actions
1. Organise appropriate training for statutory and voluntary agencies.
2. Conduct a review of the education programme in schools and redesign this to ensure it
remains effective.
3. Develop the early warning scheme for Registered Providers and private landlords.
4. Raise awareness of existing services – so that staff know where to signpost to.
5. Input into the development of the care leavers joint protocol.
6. Develop appropriate referral pathways for hospital discharge, mental health, drug and
alcohol and prison services.
7. Work in partnership to set up a scheme to support people attending Court subject to
available resources.
8. Review and monitor the reasons for loss of assured shorthold tenancies in the private
rented sector.
9. Review the Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy to ensure that this is compliant with the
Homelessness Reduction Act in 2019.
10. Promote positive stories with Communications to help remove the stigma associated
with homelessness and supported housing schemes.
11. Consider and implement options for pre-tenancy training where schemes do not already
exist.
12. To seek assurances from Registered Providers that they will sign up to the Homes for
Cathy commitments.

2.3

Increasing the supply of settled accommodation
The Council’s ambitious targets for housing delivery are set out within the Council Plan and
Housing Strategy. These targets are to maximise the number of affordable homes for rent
and to purchase, and to bring empty homes back into use as homes. The Council is on target
to deliver 1000 homes to rent by 2025 and 700 affordable homes to buy by 2025.

2.3.1 Key Measures
HS3 - by 2025, the number of long-term empty homes, currently 827, will have reduced by
20%.
HS4 - To enable 1000 homes to rent in the period 2016 – 2025 and 700 affordable homes to
buy.
HS5 – Between 2015 and 2019, the Council through targeted interventions will, year on year,
bring a minimum of 70 empty homes back into use.

Page 86

2.3.2 Actions










2.4

Work with private rented sector to secure accommodation for people in housing
need/at risk of homelessness.
Work with Registered Providers and developers to ensure that new homes will meet
future evidenced housing needs.
Bring empty homes back into use by implementing the Empty Homes Strategy and
Action Plan.
Consider options for enabling modular housing.
Review the Council’s Local Connection Policy as part of the work on the Supplementary
Planning Guidance in 2019.
Work with public sector bodies and churches to identify any potential sites that could be
used for affordable or supported housing.
Use housing renovation grants to enable potential new schemes suitable for tenants
with specific needs.
Work with providers to enable a shared housing scheme in South Lakeland for young
people.
Work with housing associations to develop new affordable homes with the help of lowcost loans.

Ensuring the right support is available to those who need it
There is now less than half of the number of supported housing units that were available in
2014 reducing from 91 units to 29. A study was undertaken by South Lakeland District
Council to consider the impacts of Cumbria County Council’s Supporting People funding
reductions. The results of this work showed that there was a significant increase in
homelessness shortly following and ongoing increases which could be linked to the loss of
short-term supported accommodation. Recommendations from the study were:
1. South Lakeland District Council to work with Cumbria County Council Supporting People
Officers’ Group to influence the next commissioning round and limit if possible further
cuts being made.
2. South Lakeland District Council to recommend that Cumbria County Council maintains
services currently being provided through the Supporting People pot.
3. South Lakeland District Council to consider funding for the continuation of supported
housing, if this is not to be provided by Cumbria County Council.
4. South Lakeland District Council to consider other options and models for supported
accommodation.
5. South Lakeland District Council to continue to monitor the effects of the loss of
supported housing.
The Council recognises that the needs of these people still exist and to ensure that they are
successful in maintaining a tenancy in the social rented sector, there needs to be
consideration given to alternative methods of delivering support that do not solely rely on
Supporting People funding. The recommendations are therefore reflected in the Key Actions
in this Section.
As Universal Credit has been rolled out in South Lakeland households are faced with a
change to the frequency of payments from weekly to monthly. This is putting increased

Page 87

pressure on Housing Options service with people struggling to maintain their rent payments
and falling into arrears.
In other areas there are social prescribing schemes, whereby GPs can prescribe a new boiler
for example in homes they may not be of a decent standard. This was an issue also discussed
at the workshops and a proposed action has been developed below.

2.4.1 Key Actions








2.5

Consider alternative supported housing models that do not rely on SP but can still be
funded.
Feed into the commissioning process for supported short term accommodation services
to represent the needs of South Lakeland.
Consider adopting formal agreements with some of the prescribed bodies who have a
duty to refer under the Homelessness Reduction Act and also with Registered Providers
who do not have this duty.
Ensure support is available for tenants undergoing transition to Universal Credit –
referral to food banks, furniture schemes and budgeting support via Christians Against
Poverty (CAP), referral for potential discretionary housing payments.
Consider options where GPs can prescribe measures to remove hazards in homes that
can affect health, taking into account good practice in this area.

Tackling complex needs
Tackling the need for housing is just one of a number of issues that a person may need to
address and there are often other issues that leads to a spiral of social isolation, poverty,
addictions, criminology and homelessness. Tackling a housing issue is the tip of the iceberg.
The underlying issues can remain and this in turn can lead to a loss of tenancies and repeat
homelessness.
The Council recognises that a multi-agency approach is needed with relevant partners
including health, education, probation, Children’s and Adult Services, Registered Providers,
and the voluntary sector.

2.5.1 Key Actions









To undertake an evaluation of the Housing First pilots to see if an approach like this
would work in South Lakeland.
To undertake a needs assessment to identify the number of people with complex issues
in South Lakeland making use of existing evidence such as the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA), Housing Register.
Consider options to set up a Step Up/Step Down service in South Lakeland with Home
Group and partners from Health.
Consider options for a multi-agency panel or a MEAM approach in South Lakeland.
Undertake an evaluation with people who have experienced homelessness or been at
risk of homelessness with a range of needs to gain a greater understanding of what
support could have been provided to meet their needs.
Provide information and/or advice in places such as GP surgeries, libraries, Sure Start
centres, village halls etc about services and support available.

Page 88

Section Three – Implementing the Strategy
3.0

Funding and commissioning
The Strategy will be financed through South Lakeland District Council’s own funding,
Government funding such as homelessness support grant funding, the new burdens grant to
implement the Homelessness Reduction Act, and Discretionary Housing Payments. The
Council will work with partners to secure other external funding including Government
funding on work to improve access to the private rented sector, work around complex needs
and rough sleeping. The Council will also work with voluntary sector partners to secure
funding such as Fulfilling Lives Big Lottery funding. Opportunities for joint commissioning will
be explored to help implement the Strategy priorities and actions.
The former Supporting People contracts for young people, generic and domestic violence
are all being reviewed. Elements of the young people’s supported accommodation services
have been re-commissioned for 1 year from 1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020 to give a
consistent end date to contracts county–wide. The effect of this in South Lakeland has been
no change and the service will be provided for a further year by Impact Housing through the
South Lakeland Foyer.
The Council will work with Registered Providers to enable new affordable homes to rent and
buy. The Council’s new loans scheme provides Registered Providers with resources to
support delivery as well as a return for the Council. Homes England funding for affordable
housing and rough sleeping will be sought to enable the delivery of the Strategy.

3.1

Staff Resources
The right people are crucial in order to implement this Strategy. It is anticipated that internal
Council staff resources will be used in partnership with other partners to deliver the actions
outlined in the Action Plan, thereby achieving our identified priorities.

3.2

Monitoring and Review
The Strategy will be reviewed in 2022 and the Action Plan will be reviewed and monitored
on an annual basis by the Strategic Homelessness Group and the Housing Advisory Group.
The Action will be submitted on an annual basis to the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government following sign off by the Director of Customer and Commercial
Services.

Page 89

Glossary
Affordable housing – social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible
households whose needs are not met by the market. Eligibility is determined with regard to local
incomes and local house prices. Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an
affordable price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative
affordable housing provision.
Cumbria Choice – a partnership of housing associations and local authorities operating a joint
Allocation Policy for social and affordable homes to rent.
Empty Home - properties that are unoccupied. They may be empty as they wait to come onto the
market, sit empty despite being available for sale or rent, or be held off the market as an asset. Empty
homes are in the majority of cases in private hands, given that social landlords such as housing
associations let homes through Cumbria Choice and there is high demand for the few that become
empty in any one year.
Extra Care Housing - Extra Care Housing is housing designed with the needs of frailer older people in
mind and with varying levels of care and support available on site. People who live in Extra Care
Housing have their own self-contained homes, their own front doors and a legal right to occupy the
property. Extra Care Housing is also known as very sheltered housing, assisted living, or simply as
'housing with care'. It comes in many built forms, including blocks of flats, bungalow estates and
retirement villages.
Homeless presentation – this refers to households who come to the Council as potentially homeless
or actually homeless.
Homeless application – an homeless application is taken by the Council where there is reason to
believe that the household is homeless or at risk of being homeless (within the next 56 days).
Homelessness prevention means providing people with the ways and means to address their
housing and other needs to avoid homelessness.
Homelessness relief is where an authority has been unable to prevent homelessness but helps
someone to secure accommodation, even though the authority is under no statutory obligation to
do so.
Modular housing - a home built indoors in a factory-like setting. The finished products are covered
and transported to their new locations, where they are assembled by a builder. A modular home is
not a mobile home; it is simply a home that is built off-site, as opposed to on-site.
Supported housing – normally refers to housing where additional support is given to a household to
help them to maintain their tenancy. This could include but is not limited to signposting to budgeting
support, ensuring they are receiving the correct benefits and helping to ensure that the household
does not do anything that could jeopardise their tenancy. This support can be provided in a specific
supported housing scheme or support in independent housing in the community.

Page 90

Appendix 1 – Action Plan 2019 – 2020
Homelessness Strategy – Action Plan Draft 2019 - 2020
PRIORITY 1 – Homelessness Prevention
Action
Milestone
Organise appropriate training for  Identify suitable training
statutory and voluntary
courses and costs.
agencies.
 Set up training and invite
statutory and voluntary
agencies to attend.
Conduct a review of the
Using best practice from elsewhere
education programme in schools review the education plan to target
and redesign this to ensure it
young people in schools (Year 9-10)
remains effective.
and further education colleges.
Deliver on a cyclical basis

Page 91

Develop the early warning
scheme for Registered Providers
and private landlords.

Outcomes
Awareness of
homelessness
prevention measures,
new duties and referral
mechanisms.
Reduced levels of
youth homelessness
Increased awareness of
the reality
of homelessness (ie
that it will not = your
own flat)
Prevent homelessness.

Lead Officer
HOM

Key Partners
Statutory and
voluntary agencies.
Training providers.

By When
December 2020

HOM

Children’s Services –
Youth Homeless and
Housing Team
Education
Inspira
Manna House
Housing Options
Housing Options
Housing Standards
Registered Providers
Private Landlords
(Private Landlords’
Forum)

March 2021

Consider a directory or referral
mechanisms via the Gateway.

Prevent and alleviate
homelessness.

AHO

Ongoing

Work with Children’s Services to
develop the Care Leavers’ Protocol
and Local Commitment in South
Lakeland

Prevent and alleviate
homelessness

HOM

Housing Options
Voluntary and
Statutory Sector
agencies
Children’s Services
Housing Options







Raise awareness of existing
services – so that staff know
where to signpost to through
Gateway referral mechanism.
Input into the development of
the care leavers joint protocol



Review existing early warning
scheme with South Lakes
Housing.
Link with accredited private
sector landlords to introduce
an early warning scheme.
Enable an early warning
scheme with other Registered
Providers.

HOM

March 2021

December 2019

Page 92

Develop appropriate referral
pathways for hospital discharge,
mental health, drug and alcohol
and prison services.



Work in partnership to set up a
scheme to support people
attending Court subject to
available resources.



Review and monitor the reasons
for loss of assured shorthold
tenancies in the private rented
sector.
Review the Cumbria Choice
Allocation Policy to ensure that
this is compliant with the
Homelessness Reduction Act in
2019.



Promote positive stories with
Communications to help remove
the stigma associated with
homelessness and supported
housing schemes.











Identify suitable meetings to
raise awareness and identify
relevant partners.
Work on a pathway with
relevant partners and
implement.
Identify relevant courts
covering SLDC.
Set up a scheme subject to
funding to provide advice to
individuals attending
possession proceedings
hearings.
Set up system to record the
reasons for loss of an assured
shorthold tenancy.
Monitor on an annual basis.
Ensure the Policy complies
with legislation.
Review Registered Providers’
approach to housing
prospective tenants with rent
arrears/former rent arrears as
part of the review of the
Cumbria Choice Allocation
Policy.

Prevent and alleviate
homelessness

HOM

Health
Adult Social
Care/Children’s
Services
Probation

Prevent and alleviate
homelessness

HOM

Court service
CAB
Manna House

March 2020

Prevent and alleviate
homelessness

HOM

Private landlords
Housing Standards
Team

March 2020

Prevent and alleviate
homelessness

HOM

Housing Strategy
Registered Providers
Voluntary and
Statutory sector
agencies

2019

Get in touch with
Communications teams to
promote any positive stories,
e.g. scheme openings,
successes etc.

Promote positive
stories and remove
stigma of
homelessness and
supported housing
schemes.

HOM

Housing Strategy
Registered Providers
Supporting Housing
Providers

Ongoing

Monitor the implementation of
the 16/17 year old Protocol and
Local Commitment for South
Lakeland.



As part of the Protocol
Implementation Group,
engage in timely reviews of the
Protocol.
Ensure that no 16-17 year olds
are placed in bed and
breakfast and monitor on
quarterly basis

Evidence of need
provided that will
enable targeted
provision to meet the
identified need and
reduce youth
homelessness

Intensive
Early Help
Manager
(CS)
HOM

Children’s Services
Housing Options
RPs
Private landlords

Ongoing

Evaluate the need for
additional temporary units in
South Lakeland
Continue to monitor bed and
breakfast on an ongoing basis
Source additional private
rented sector properties to use
as temporary accommodation.

Meet Government
targets
Reduce uncertainty for
families securing a
settled housing
solution

HOM

Housing Options
Private landlords
Housing Standards

Ongoing



Review agency information for
guide to ensure this is kept upto-date

Reduce levels of youth
homelessness

AHO

December 2020

Prevent homelessness

HOM



Set up monitoring system with
Revenues and Benefits to
ensure payments are
effectively used.
Consider available options and
work with partners to deliver
pre-tenancy training courses
Contact Registered Providers
operating in South Lakeland to
request their commitment to
sign up.

Housing Options
Inspira
Children’s Services
Colleges
Revenues and Benefits
Manager

Prevent homelessness

HOM

2019 - 2020

Prevent homelessness

HOM

Housing Options
Registered Providers
Private landlords
Registered providers



Ensure that no families are
placed in bed and breakfast
except in an emergency and
then for no longer than 6 weeks
and monitor on a quarterly basis






Page 93

Review and update the leaving
home guide

Monitor discretionary housing
payments to prevent
homelessness in light of welfare
reform
Consider and implement options
for pre-tenancy training



To seek assurances from
Registered Providers that they
will sign up to the Homes for
Cathy commitments.



Ongoing

2020



Page 94

Monitor sign up of the Homes
for Cathy commitments.
PRIORITY 2 – Increasing the supply of settled accommodation
Action
Milestones
Work with private rented sector Develop the private landlords’
to secure accommodation for
scheme in South Lakeland.
people in housing need/at risk of
homelessness.
Work with Registered Providers
Undertake actions from the
and developers to ensure that
Housing Strategy to increase the
new homes will meet future
supply of homes suitable for a
evidenced housing needs.
range of needs.
Bring empty homes back into
Undertake the actions within the
use by implementing the Empty
Empty Homes Strategy Action Plan.
Homes Strategy and Action Plan.
Consider options for enabling
Review examples available to
modular housing.
determine a suitable model for
South Lakeland.
Arrange visit to other schemes as
necessary.
Work with a Registered Provider to
enable a scheme in South Lakeland.
Review the Council’s Local
Conduct a review of the Council’s
Connection Policy as part of the
Local Connection Policy to feed
work on the Supplementary
into the SPG to ensure greater
Planning Guidance in 2019.
clarity.
Work with public sector bodies
Identify suitable sites owned by
and churches to identify any
public sector bodies and churches
potential sites that could be
that could be suitable for
used for affordable or supported affordable or supported housing.
housing.
Use housing renovation grants
Identify suitable properties that
to enable potential new
may benefit from a housing
schemes suitable for tenants
renovation grant that could be
with specific needs.
used for tenants with specific
needs.

Outcomes
Increase available
supply of
accommodation.

Lead Officer
HOM

Key Partners
Housing Options team
Revenues and Benefits

By When
Ongoing

Increase available
supply of
accommodation

PHStraO

Registered Providers
Developers
Landowners

Ongoing

Increase available
supply of
accommodation
Increase available
supply of
accommodation

PHStraO

Empty Homes Officer
Empty home owners
Registered Providers
Registered Providers
Developers
Modular housing
companies

Ongoing

Increase available
supply of
accommodation

PHStraO

Registered Providers
Developers
Mortgage Lenders

2019

Increase available
supply of
accommodation

PHStraO

Public sector
organisations
Churches

Ongoing

Increase available
supply of
accommodation

HOM

Housing Standards
Developers
Registered Providers

Ongoing

PHStraO

2020

Page 95

Consider grant applications from
owners for such properties.
Work with providers to enable a Identify a suitable site for a
shared housing scheme in South scheme.
Lakeland for young people.
Work with a registered provider to
work up a scheme in South
Lakeland suitable for young people.
Work with housing associations
Identify suitable sites in
to develop new affordable
partnership with Registered
homes with the help of low-cost Providers.
loans.
Facilitate the loans application and
approval process.
PRIORITY 3 – Ensuring the right support is available to those that need it
Action
Milestone
Consider alternative supported
 Visit to Calico housing scheme
housing models that do not rely
in Burnley and other schemes
on SP but can still be funded.
to identify a suitable funding
model.
 Review options available to
fund a suitable scheme in
South Lakeland.
Feed into the commissioning
process for supported short term
accommodation services to
represent the needs of South
Lakeland.
Consider adopting formal
agreements with some of the
prescribed bodies who have a
duty to refer under the
Homelessness Reduction Act and
also with Registered Providers
who do not have this duty.



Feed into the SP
commissioning process to
represent the needs of South
Lakeland.

Set up agreements with the
prescribed bodies that have a duty
to refer and also with Registered
Providers.

Increase available
supply of
accommodation to
meet specific needs.

PHStraO

Registered Providers
HOM

2020

Increase available
supply of
accommodation to
meet specific needs.

DSHM

Registered Providers

Ongoing subject to loan
finance availability.

Outcomes
Increasing the
availability of
supported
accommodation.

Lead Officer
PHStraO

Key Partners
Registered providers
Supported housing
providers
Revenues and Benefits
Manager

By When
2019-20

Tackling complex
needs
Ensure support is
available to those that
need it.
Increase support to
those that need it.

PHStraO

Relevant CCC Service
Leads
Registered Providers
Support Providers

2019-20

HOM

Statutory and
voluntary agencies
Registered Providers

2019

Ensure support is available for
tenants undergoing transition to
Universal Credit – referral to
food banks, furniture schemes
and budgeting support via CAP
and referral for potential
discretionary housing payments.
Consider options where GPs can
prescribe measures to remove
hazards in homes that can affect
health, taking into account good
practice in this area.



Page 96

Ensure the right
support is available to
those that need it.

HOM

Housing Options
Registered Providers
Manna House
CAP
DWP

2019 - 2020

Consider available options for a
scheme in South Lakeland taking
into account good practice from
elsewhere.
Work with partners to develop a
scheme in South Lakeland.
Set up monitoring system and
report on six-monthly basis to
SLESH Group

Ensure support is
available to those that
need it.

HOM

Health – GPs
Adult Social Care

2020

Through the Tenancy Strategy
monitor the rate of conversion
from social rents to affordable
rents, and the level of newbuild
affordable rented homes
PRIORITY 4 – tackling complex needs

Ensure affordability of
registered provider
tenancies

AHO

Registered Providers

Ongoing

Action
To undertake a needs
assessment to identify the
number of people with complex
issues in South Lakeland making
use of existing evidence such as
the JSNA, Housing Register.

Milestone
 Identify data sources to carry
out this work.
 Work on a methodology for
the work to identify complex
needs individuals.

Outcomes
Address complex
needs

Lead Officer
HOM

By When
On-going

Consider options to set up a Step
Up/Step Down service in South
Lakeland with Home Group and
partners from Health.



Tackling complex
needs

HOM

Key Partners
Relevant CCC Service
Leads
Registered Providers
Private Landlords
Children’s Services
Adult Social Care
Education
Inspira
Health
Home Group
Adult Social Care
Voluntary Sector





Identify those most vulnerable
to homelessness with partners.
Ensure that advice is available
to tenants on services that are
available.

Determine what options are
available to set up a scheme in
South Lakeland/Cumbria.
Work with partners to work up
a scheme and link to discharge
protocols above.

2020

Consider options for a multiagency panel or a MEAM
approach in South Lakeland.





Page 97

To undertake an evaluation of
the Housing First pilots to see if
an approach like this would
work in South Lakeland.



Undertake an evaluation with
people who have experienced
homelessness or been at risk of
homelessness with a range of
needs to gain a greater
understanding of what support
could have been provided to
meet their needs.
Provide information and/or
advice in places such as GP
surgeries, libraries, Sure Start
centres, village halls etc about
services and support available.











Work with partners to consider
options for a panel or a MEAM
approach in South Lakeland for
people with complex needs.
Consider Fulfilling Lives Big
Lottery Fund working with
voluntary sector partners.
Consider the learning from the
pilots.
Evaluate options for a scheme
in South Lakeland.
Work with providers to
develop a scheme in South
Lakeland as necessary.
Develop a feedback from to
gather information to improve
services and support available.
Monitor the feedback on an
annual basis.

Tackling complex
needs

HOM

Health
Adult Social Care
Voluntary Sector
Probation
Prison service
Mental Health teams

2020

Prevent and relieve
homelessness.
Increase available
supply of
accommodation.

HOM

Housing Strategy
Registered Providers
Third Sector

2020

Ensure support is
available to those that
need it.

HOM

Registered Providers
Statutory and
voluntary sector
agencies

2019

Provide leaflets and distribute
to various venues across the
District.
Consider housing options
surgeries where appropriate in
rural areas.

Ensure advice and
support is available
and can be widely
accessed.

HOM

Health
Parish Councils
Registered Providers
Voluntary Sector

Ongoing

Abbreviations:
CCC – Cumbria County Council
DSHM – Development Strategy and Housing Manager

PHRO – Principal Housing Standards Officer
HOM – Housing Options Manager
AHO – Affordable Housing Officer
PHStraO – Principal Housing Strategy Officer
SLH – South Lakes Housing

Page 98

Appendix 2 – Summary of the Review Findings
Current levels of homelessness Statistics
Table 1 and 2 detail the breakdown of homelessness presentations in South Lakeland, together with
the outcome from initial presentation, i.e. whether they were eligible for assistance, and the reasons
for homeless acceptances. As can be seen the number of homeless applications and presentations
has been increasing significantly since 2012/13.
Table 1 – Homelessness Presentations/Acceptances and Outcome
Homeless
Applications

Homeless
Acceptances

Eligible
Homeless
(not in
priority
need)

82
40
15
42
102
158
439

27
15
4
26
22
47
141

26
7
2
5
30
34
104

2012/2013
2013/2014
2014/2015
2015/2016
2016/2017
2017/2018
Total

Advice &
Assistance
(outcome
recorded)
15
402
340
289
312
425
1783

Advice &
Assistance
(no
outcome
recorded)

Total
presentations

29
51
32
18
15
22
167

126
493
387
349
429
605
2389

Table 2 – Acceptances reasons
By far the biggest reason for acceptances was the loss of rented/tied accommodation followed by
parents/other relations unwilling to accommodate and other relationship breakdowns.

Loss of
rented/tied
accommodation
Parents/other
relations
unwilling
Non-violent
breakdown
Violence DV

2012/2013
11

Acceptances breakdown
2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016
5
1
12

2016/2017
11

2017/2018
26

Total
66

8

2

1

4

2

9

26

3

3

1

3

4

2

16

2

4

0

3

1

6

16

Mortgage
Arrears
Left prison

0

0

0

0

1

2

3

0

0

0

0

0

2

2

Harassment

0

0

0

1

0

0

1

Left hospital

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

Other

3

1

1

3

2

0

10

Total

27

15

4

26

22

47

141

.

Page 99

Summary of Review Findings
Issues
Current levels of homelessness

Rough Sleeping

Temporary Accommodation

Causes of homelessness

Discharge from hospital, prison,
armed forces and young people
leaving care.

Location of homelessness

Support Needs

Mortgage and Landlord Possession
Claims

Key Findings
The number of people presenting as homeless to the Housing Options
Team (HOT) has risen sharply since 2015 (82 applications in 2015
increasing to 158 in 2017-18 and in 2012-13 there were 126 people
presenting to the Options Service which had increased to 605 in
2017-18) and in tandem with this the number of prevention and relief
cases has equally risen (297 cases in 2015-16 increasing to 430 in
2017-18).
The official number of rough sleepers in the district has remained
fairly static and the last declared figure was 3 in November 2017. We
are aware that there are likely to be more across the district, but due
to the rural nature of the area this is hard to assess.
Town View Fields is the main source of temporary accommodation in
the area backed up by some bed and breakfast accommodation when
TVF is full or is unsuitable for some reason. TVF is a mixed use hostel
for families and singles, and we are currently considering procuring
different accommodation for families as it is really not fit for purpose
as mixed accommodation anymore.
The main causes are relationship breakdown (violent and nonviolent) and ever increasingly the loss of an Assured Shorthold
Tenancy from the private rented sector. The Local Housing Allowance
rates has been frozen for the last four years which affects the supply
of private rented landlords willing to take tenants on benefits.
Knowing this information allows us to target our prevention budget
as intelligently as possible.
The numbers of people discharged from these areas directly to the
Housing Options Team are few, but there is still room for
improvement in working with institutions to give us more notice
before releasing them without trying to find service users possible
housing solutions in advance. There is a need for a protocol for young
people leaving care.
Although the majority of people presenting as either homeless or
potentially homeless are from the urban hubs of Kendal and
Ulverston, there are still some pockets of homelessness from other
more rural areas as well as the Windermere and Bowness areas.
The South Lakeland area has a higher than average population of
older people and also of those with physical and health issues. There
are also a significant number of people who are victims of domestic
abuse and who are supported by either SLDC or by Springfield Refuge
and outreach service. Finally, there are a notable group of people
with drug and alcohol addictions. Support needs include support for
young people, people with mental and physical health issues, alcohol
and drug addictions. There are increasing levels of complex cases. The
number with substance misuse issues is increasing in South Lakeland
and rates of hospital admissions due to substance misuse is above the
national levels.
Of the acceptances, 57% had physical or mental health issues and of
these a significant number will also have substance misuse issues.
Loss of over half the units of supported accommodation in the district
since 2015 has had a knock on effect to SLDC as the statutory body.
As set out above, figures for both landlord and mortgage possession
claims have reduced in recent years, but changes to benefits have
shown that in other areas where for example Universal Credit has
been in place for some time that levels of rent arrears in particular

Page 100

Future levels of homelessness

have sharply risen, which will in turn have a knock on effect for
presentations to the Housing Options Team.
Key issues are the ongoing implementation of Universal Credit in
South Lakeland, the supply of affordable homes as South Lakeland is
one of the least affordable places to live in Cumbria (additionally the
lack of availability of social housing with 3200 households on the
Housing Register compared to 276 general needs vacancies arising
last year), the complexities of needs, the impact of the number of
second and holiday homes as well as empty homes, the reducing
resources for supported housingprovision.

Page 101

Appendix 3 - Feedback from Workshop Discussions held on
4.12.18
The workshop considered the four identified priorities, the issues that need to be addressed and
actions that could be considered for the Homelessness Strategy Action Plan:

Priority 1 - Prevention
Issue - Rent arrears being a prohibitive factor to rehousing, and the approach of registered providers
towards this
Action - to review approaches taken by such providers to prospective tenants with rent arrears.
Issue - stigma associated with social rented tenants
Action - to work with Communications teams to publicise successful social rented schemes that
could reduce negative stereotypes and in turn could help to increase the supply of accommodation
available in the private sector.
Issue – the roll out of Universal Credit has greatly impacted the need for help with budgeting skills.
Action – refer into schemes that provide budgeting advice such as Christians Against Poverty (CAP).
Action – to request that Registered Providers sign up to the Homes for Cathy commitments to tackle
homelessness:
They are:
1. To contribute to the development and execution of local authority homelessness strategies
2. To operate flexible allocations and eligibility polices which allow individual applicants’ unique sets
of circumstances and housing histories to be considered
3. To offer constructive solutions to applicants who aren’t deemed eligible for an offer of a home
4. To not make homeless any tenant seeking to prevent their homelessness (as defined in the Crisis
plan)
5. To commit to meeting the needs of vulnerable tenant groups
6. To work in partnership to provide a range of affordable housing options which meet the needs of
all homeless people in their local communities
7. To ensure that properties offered to homeless people are ready to move into
8. To contribute to ending migrant homelessness in the areas housing associations operate
9. To lobby, challenge and inspire others to support ending homelessness
Issue - understanding root causes of homelessness and the need to base interventions to address
these root causes such as trauma, drug and alcohol addictions, and family breakdown.
Action - develop appropriate pathways for hospital discharge, mental health, drug and alcohol and
prison services to ensure that homelessness is prevented.
Issue – the need for formal housing pathways for specific needs such as drug/alcohol, discharge
from hospitals and prisons etc
Action – to devise pathways for specific client groups.

Page 102

Issue – the need for Registered Providers to give the Council as much notice as possible that they are
intending to evict.
Action – to extend the early warning scheme with South Lakes Housing to other Registered
Providers and the private rented sector.
Issue – the changes in legislation and how this relates to the Allocations Policy.
Action – to review the Cumbria Choice Joint Allocations Policy.

Priority 2 – Increasing the Supply of Settled Accommodation
Issue - new supply needs to match the evidenced need and future need set out in the Strategic
Housing Market Assessment, and any local surveys/housing needs assessments undertaken and the
Housing Register. One Registered Provider is considering building larger one bedroom flats that
could be reconfigured to two bedroom flats in the event of changing needs and policies such as the
‘bedroom tax’.
Action - discussions need to take place with Registered Providers and Developers so that future
needs can be met.
Issue – need for a quicker pace of delivery.
Action – could consider use of modular homes to enable new affordable homes at a quicker pace of
delivery.
Issue - the availability of suitable sites is a barrier
Action - public sector owned land or land owned by churches could be considered where the social
value of developing affordable homes could be promoted. NB South Lakeland District Council has
very little land available as there has been ongoing development of land for affordable housing over
the years. However, other partners may be able to help.
Issue – need to increase supply of affordable homes
Action - the Council currently provides Landlord Renovation Grants that enable non-residential
premises such as former pubs to be developed into homes and let at an affordable rent for a period
of five years. Some schemes may be suitable for tenants with specific needs and this could be
reflected in the criteria for grants. Additionally, grant criteria could stipulate that landlords need to
be accredited through the National Landlord Accreditation Scheme operating in South Lakeland.
Action - the Council has recently agreed to provide a fund of £6m for low-cost loans to housing
associations for development of new affordable homes, particularly in high-cost areas such as the
national park areas. This fund may be increased if the programme proves successful.
Issue - restrictive covenants can be a barrier to people accessing suitable accommodation.
Action - could review the Local Connection Policy as part of the work on the Supplementary
Planning Guidance.

Page 103

Issue - young people who may be in education or employment need access to shared
accommodation so that this is affordable to them, particularly due to welfare reform issues that
means that the housing costs would not otherwise be covered.
Action - work could be undertaken with Registered Providers to enable a scheme in South Lakeland
subject to funding.

Priority 3 – ensuring the right support is available to those that need it
Issue – the duty to refer – there needs to be formal agreements with the prescribed bodies in the
legislation but also with Registered Providers.
Action – as per above.
Issue - there needs to be consideration given to alternative methods of delivering support that do
not solely rely on Supporting People funding given the reducing budget available to the County
Council.
Action – consider alternative funding methods for supported housing that do not rely on Supporting
People funding.
Issue – housing conditions can impact on health and wellbeing and the need for support.
Action - In other areas there are social prescribing schemes, whereby GPs can prescribe a new boiler
for example in homes they may not be of a decent standard.
Issue - as Universal Credit has been rolled out in South Lakeland households are faced with a change
to the frequency of payments from weekly to monthly. This is putting increased pressure on Housing
Options service with people struggling to maintain their rent payments and falling into arrears.
Action - need to refer to organisations that can help with budgeting skills such as CAP and Cumbria
County Council’s Young People’s services re their work in schools and also pre-tenancy training
provided by Registered Providers.

Priority 4 – tackling complex needs
Issue – the need for a multi-agency approach and buy in for other partners to tackle complex needs.
It was evident that the small number of households who present with these issues are likely to be
known to several agencies who, if they were to work more closely together, could make a real
impact with individuals experiencing multiple issues. Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) is a
coalition of the national charities Clinks, Homeless Link and Mind; with Collective Voice as an
associate member. Working together, the MEAM coalition is supporting 21 local areas across
England to develop effective, coordinated approaches to multiple needs that can increase wellbeing,
reduce costs to public services and improve people’s lives. These local areas use a framework called
the MEAM Approach to guide their work.
Action – to consider this type of approach in South Lakeland provided partners commit to this.
Issue – the need for supported housing schemes for people with support/complex needs
Action – to develop schemes for people with complex needs.

Page 104

Action – consider whether a Step Up/Step Down service would work in South Lakeland. There is a
scheme operating in Lancashire. Step Up is short-term intensive support to people with complex
needs such as mental health issues that are on a trajectory to being admitted to hospital. Such
intervention helps to prevent hospital admissions in other areas reducing the burden on the health
sector. Step Down is for people who are already in hospital but need to be discharged and the
service can provide the type of support to enable a discharge and prevent readmission.
Action – to consider Housing First models and take the learning from the pilots to help determine
whether this approach could work in South Lakeland. Housing First is an approach to provide secure
housing for people who may have complex needs with intensive support to help them set up and
maintain a tenancy. Ordinarily if a person breaches their tenancy agreement through rent
arrears/anti social behaviour this can lead to them either being ineligible for future rented
accommodation or being placed in a reduced preference band. The onus is very much on the
individual to prove that they have changed their behaviour that led to them losing their tenancy.
Housing First works differently offering a housing solution irrespective of previous behaviour.
Action - Fulfilling Lives provides funding for the voluntary sector to work with people with complex
needs. Work could be undertaken with voluntary sector partners to explore this further.

Page 105

Appendix 4 - Homeless Service User Survey Results January 2019
Thank you to those organisations who returned the surveys. We received 30 responses in total from
agencies therefore analysis will be limited and not comprehensive and is not representative of all
households.

Age Spread of 30 Single People
75 +, 0
60-74, 5

16-17

16-17, 3

18-21
18-21, 5

22-24
25-35

40-59, 4

36-39
40-59

36-39, 1

22-24, 3

60-74
75 +

25-35, 7

All respondents were single people without dependent children. They were not asked for gender.
Further feedback from people experiencing homelessness could target other groups in the future.
The main reasons given for losing their homes followed the general theme stated in the
Homelessness Review 2018. Relationship breakdown included family breakdown as well as partners.
However, it doesn’t delve into the more complex issues that may have led to this.

Main Reasons For Homelessness
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

Family
breakdown

Eviction

Debt

8

6

1

Employment Care Leaver
1

Page 106

3

Prison
Leaver

Rent Arrears
HB

3

1

When asked about the type of tenure lost; private letting at 9 and social rented at 7 were the top
responses. Bail hostel, the Army and leaving care had the fewest responses.
Access to the right service

Where did you first seek help
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

How many agencies did you go to before you got
help

1 Agency

2 Agencies

3 Agencies

Is there any else that could have been done by the Agency to help you?
Most respondents stated no but the following comments were made;






Having needs assessed by individual rather than categorised
More hostel places
Onward housing support
Housing refused to help because assumed he would be a bad tenant
No one offered me temporary accommodation and this was not explained

Page 107

If the Council had a duty to rehouse you how long
before you were found accommodation
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
up to 1 week

up to 4 weeks

6 weeks

8-12 weeks

16 weeks

The above graph doesn’t take into account whether this was temporary or permanent housing nor
does it reflect whether the respondent was in housing awaiting more suitable accommodation.

Previous settled home
Milnthorpe
Kendal
Heversham
Hawshead
Grange
outside SLDC area
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Rough Sleepers
Out of the total 30 respondents 17 had said that they had been sofa surfing. There was a high
number of respondents who said that they had slept rough; 13 said that they had been rough
sleeping and 2 had used the winter shelter. However, as the sample of respondents was so small and
from limited sources it does not give the full picture.
What could you have done differently?



I should have opened up more but I was ashamed.
Go direct to places to live in, explaining an illness worked quicker.

Comments on temporary accommodation



12 respondents were placed into temporary accommodation (10 in TVF); one comment,
‘After prison into hostel I don’t really like time restrictions being ‘locked up’, need better
accommodation for young people’

Page 108

Ideas offered for service improvement;





More flats/ supported housing in small towns
More emphasis on night stop
Have wider range of properties. Not just for over 55s as wasn’t given a choice for younger
generation 18-30
More places for people

Overview
It was felt that due to the low number of respondents the survey is not fully representative of all
households, such as families, and the figures should be used with caution. During our recent
Homelessness Strategy Steering Group meeting, it was suggested for future surveys to commission a
University/ PHD student to carry out the work. This will ensure improved questions, consistent
interview style, data collection and ultimately produce more representative results. It was felt that
as an independent person the respondent may feel more inclined to be more open with their
Reponses. However, it was useful to see that the ideas for service improvement seem to be in line
with the draft Homelessness Strategy, e.g. more supported housing and homes in general to meet
the need.

Page 109

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent
Cllr Giles Archibald
Leader of SLDC

Comments
Is this information now in the public domain?

Do we have the housing arrears data in more
detail? Can we get it from SLH, for example

Page 111
How are officers proposing to track the
actions?

Cllr Giles Archibald
Leader of SLDC

Page 1 of 7

It seems a long but important list of actions. Do
we have the resources to do it all?

SLDC Response
Yes – consultation with Ward Members, Parish
Councils, statutory and voluntary agencies with an
interest in homelessness and Penny is looking into
getting the draft onto the Consultation pages of the
web-site
( Consultation on SLDC website citizen space,
Facebook and Twitter)
We can get this information from Registered
Providers such as SLH, though it is the loss of an
assured shorthold tenancy in the private rented
sector that is the main cause of homelessness in
South Lakeland. That’s why the Strategy’s Action
Plan has an action to roll out an early warning
system where landlords (in the private rented and
social rented sector) will notify Housing Options if a
tenant is getting into trouble with their rent, i.e.
possession proceedings. We have a system set up
with SLH which seems to work well. Data from the
Court service used to break down the figures to
District level but they don’t anymore unfortunately.
It would be useful for the Strategic Homelessness
Group to monitor these types of figures as part of
the monitoring/implementation of the Strategy.
The Strategy and Action Plan would be monitored by
the Strategic Homelessness Group and Housing
Advisory Group on an annual basis.
It is ambitious but as the Action Plan is being
reviewed annually we can review the position and
resources required. It is recognised that we will be

Change Required to
the Strategy
None required.

Add to the action “8.
Review and monitor
the reasons for loss
of assured shorthold
tenancies in the
private rented
sector.”

None required.

None required.

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent

Page 112

Diane Harrison
Intensive CCC
Carlisle Early Help
Manager (Youth
Homelessness and
Housing, Health &
Wellbeing)Early Help &
Targeted Youth
Support Children and
Families Services CCC

Comments

Appendix 1 –
Homelessness Strategy – Action Plan Draft
2019 - 2020
PRIORITY 1 – Homelessness Prevention
Conduct a review of the education programme
in schools and redesign this to ensure it
remains effective.
Using best practice from elsewhere develop an
education plan to target young people in
schools (Year 9-10) and further education
colleges. Deliver on a cyclical basis.
One element of the PCC project was the
development of homeless prevention sessions
for delivery in schools/colleges/youth groups.

SLDC Response
working in partnership with others to help deliver
these actions
Further information on the PHSE accredited lesson
plans/digitial badges which enable YP to work on pre
tenancy issues would be welcomed?

Change Required to
the Strategy

None required.

The CCC’s Youth Homeless and Housing Team
has developed 2 sessions around homeless
prevention and these have been piloted in a
range of settings (colleges, NCS,
schools). These lesson plans have been
assessed by the PSHE Association and have
been awarded their accreditation of a quality
resource. We will be publicising these sessions
to school and are keen to deliver in
partnership, where possible.
Input into the development of the care leavers
joint protocol
Page 2 of 7

Timescale inserted
into the draft.

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent

Diane Harrison
Intensive CCC
Carlisle Early Help
Manager (Youth
Homelessness and
Housing, Health &
Wellbeing)Early Help &
Targeted Youth
Support Children and
Families Services CCC

Comments
Timescale? Dec 2019?
Monitor the implementation of the 16/17 year
old Protocol and Local Commitment for South
Lakeland. Intensive Early Help Manager (CS)
HOM
This other role no longer exists; this is my
updated job title. I monitor use of ETA on a
monthly basis; this asks about the use of B&B.

Change Required to
the Strategy

The Action Plan will be updated accordingly.

Update to the Action
Plan to reflect change
in job title.



Agreed. The Action Plan will be updated accordingly.

Update to the Action
Plan to suggested
wording.

This can be monitored by the Strategy Group on a
quarterly basis.

None required.



Strategy can be updated accordingly.

Update to the
Strategy Action Plan.

Agreed. The Action Plan will be updated accordingly.

Update to the Action
Plan.

Page 113

Review the Protocol and Local
Commitment to ensure that they are upto-date.
This is done in partnership so would suggest
change of working to read: As part of the
Protocol Implementation Group, engage in
timely reviews of the Protocol etc
Ensure that no 16-17 year olds are placed
in bed and breakfast and monitor on
quarterly basis
Can the strategy group ensure this?
PRIORITY 3 – Ensuring the right support is
available to those that need it. See earlier
comment in strategy re SP
Supporting People
Registered Providers
Support Providers
Should read: Relevant CCC Service Leads (SP is
inaccurate)
Page 3 of 7

SLDC Response

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent

Page 114

Diane Harrison
Intensive CCC
Carlisle Early Help
Manager (Youth
Homelessness and
Housing, Health &
Wellbeing)Early Help &
Targeted Youth
Support Children and
Families Services CCC

Page 4 of 7

Comments

SLDC Response

Change Required to
the Strategy

Feed into the commissioning process for
Supporting People funded services to
represent the needs of South Lakeland.
Replace SP with: supported short term
accommodation services

Agreed. Strategy Action Plan to be updated.

Update the Strategy
Action Plan.

South Lakeland District Council
Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024
Achievements from the Previous Strategy
 A 16/17 year old Joint Protocol was
developed in partnership with a range of
agencies including the County Council; a
South Lakeland Local Commitment was
signed up to and is working well.
 Cumbria County Council commissioned a
Night stop service across Cumbria and in
South Lakeland.
2.2.2 Key Actions
Consider and implement options for pretenancy training where schemes do not
already exist
As part of our PCC project, we have developed
a range of on-line digital badges & a core
section of these focus on pre-tenancy
topics/skills. These will be ready to launch later
this month and are aimed at YP aged 14+. Let
me know if you would like further detail on
this?

Strategy can be updated with this information.

Update to the
Strategy.

Further information on the PHSE accredited lesson
plans/digitial badges which enable YP to work on pre
tenancy issues would be welcomed?

None required.

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent
Diane Harrison
Intensive CCC
Carlisle Early Help
Manager (Youth
Homelessness and
Housing, Health &
Wellbeing)Early Help &
Targeted Youth
Support Children and
Families Services CCC

Page 115
Page 5 of 7

Comments
2.4
Ensuring the right support is available
to those who need it
SP doesn’t really exist anymore… so may be
better to talk about supported accommodation
for key groups (YP/DV etc).

SLDC Response
Agreed. Strategy can be changed accordingly.

Change Required to
the Strategy
Update with new
information.

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent

Comments

SLDC Response
The Strategy can be updated accordingly.

Section Three – Implementing the Strategy
3.0
Funding and commissioning
The budget position for these services remains
unclear; we will continue to engage with the
County Council to influence the outcome of
these reviews.

Page 116

Suggest rewording to: Elements of the young
people’s supported accommodation services
have been re-commisioned for 1 year from 1st
April 2019 – 31st March 2020 to hive a
consistent end date to contracts county –wide.
The effect of this in South Lakeland has been no
change and the service will be provided for a
further year by Impact Housing through the
South Lakeland Foyer.

Page 6 of 7

Change Required to
the Strategy
Update to the
Strategy with this
information.

Appendix 2 - Responses to Draft Homeless Strategy Review 2019
Respondent
Derek Samuel, Home
Group

Comments
I’ve reviewed the draft strategy, and wanted to
feedback in relation to the Tackling Complex
Needs section (though it’s nothing that
requires any amendment to the strategy
necessarily).

Page 117

I note the Council’s commitment to explore the
establishment of step up/step down provision
in South Lakeland, for people who suffer with
mental illness, which we think is a very
encouraging inclusion. Please let me know if
you’d like some further information on our
step up/step down services and some specific
case studies from other areas where we have
introduced them successfully.

Page 7 of 7

SLDC Response
Yes this would be very useful in order to see how
such as service would work in South Lakeland.

Change Required to
the Strategy
None required.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118

Appendix 3

South Lakeland District Council

Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma
Project, policy or programme: draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy
2019 - 2024
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Increasing supply will
have a positive
impact on the built
environment providing
new housing that
meets M4(3)
standards in SLDC
Planning Authority
area.

Ensure new delivery
meets M4(3) and
M4(2) standards within
the SLDC Planning
Authority area.

New supply will be
energy efficient.

Ensure new housing
meets the required
standards.

Please tick the appropriate box

Environmental Conditions
Air quality

Y

Water quality and
pollution

Y

Built environment

Y

Natural environment
and biodiversity
Energy
consumption/efficiency

Y

Y

Noise

Y

Transport

Y

Recycling

Y

Food production

Y

Social and Economic Factors
Employment

Y

Income
Poverty

New supply benefits
employment due to
use of local
contractors.
Y

Y

Homelessness
prevention helps to
alleviate poverty and
new supply and
support will assist

Page 119

Project, policy or programme: draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy
2019 - 2024
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

households in
maintaining their
accommodation with
affordable rents.
Education, skills and
training

Y

Housing

Y

Crime

Y

Work environment

Increasing supply will
enable more
households in
housing need to
access
accommodation.
By providing suitable
support and
accommodation, this
can have a positive
impact on reducing
repeat offending.
Y

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing
Nutrition and diet

Y

Physical activity

Y

Alcohol

Y

Drugs

Y

Risk taking behaviour

Y

Smoking
Loneliness and
isolation

By providing support
and addressing
complex needs this
could have a positive
impact on alcohol
use.
By providing support
and addressing
complex needs this
could have a positive
impact on drug use.
By providing support
and addressing
complex needs this
could have a positive
impact on risk taking
behaviour.
Y

Y

By providing support
and addressing
complex needs this
could have a positive

Page 120

Project, policy or programme: draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy
2019 - 2024
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Please tick the appropriate box

impact on loneliness
and isolation.

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health
Communication
methods

Y

Access to support will
help to improve
communication for
vulnerable groups.

Active travel

Y

Access to leisure

Y

Access to culture

Y

Access to green
spaces

Y

Page 121

Recommendations

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122

Appendix 4

EIA
Title:
1.0

South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy 2019 - 2024

The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected
characteristics:
Age, disability, ethnicity, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity.
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0).

1.1

SLDC includes “rurality” and “socio-economic disadvantage” as
additional categories in its equality impact assessments. Although socioeconomic status and rurality are not recognised protected characteristics
under the Equality Act, people on low incomes or in rural isolation are highly
likely to be affected by services that are intended to support vulnerable
people.

2.0

The General Equality Duty.
SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should:
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
c. Foster good relations between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who
do not.

Page 123

Step 1
Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA.
The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities to carry out a
review of homelessness and to formulate a homelessness strategy that is informed
by the review findings.
South Lakeland District Council has carried out a Review of homelessness in
partnership with a multi-agency Strategic Homelessness Group and drafted a
Homelessness Strategy setting out how the priorities of homelessness prevention,
increasing the supply of settled accommodation, ensuring the right support is
available to those that need it and tackling complex needs, will be met
Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken
(include surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc.).
Voluntary and Statutory Sector agencies such as Cumbria County Council – Adult Social
Care/Children’s Services, Public Health and NHS, Inspira, Manna House, SLDC Housing
Options Team, SLDC Housing Standards Team, Registered Providers who have an
interest in homelessness and service users.
Consultation took place with voluntary and statutory agencies in order to determine the
priorities for the Strategy and potential actions. Consultation was held with service users
through a survey. A workshop was held on 4 December 2018 to consider the priorities and
actions that need to be carried forward into the Homelessness Strategy Action Plan.
Further consultation will be taking place with Ward Members, Parish Councils and
voluntary and statutory agencies on the draft South Lakeland District Council
Homelessness Strategy 2019 – 2024.

Page 124

Step 2
Equality Action Plan

Page 125

In providing this service, what are the impacts
for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage (including
rural deprivation, ‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

Negative
impacts

Mitigating actions (to
avoid negative impact):

Lead
Officer &
When

Age – young people and sexual orientation –
where they are placed in the private rented sector
may find it difficult to manage the tenancy if they
are vulnerable.

Y

Housing
Options
Manager

People in rural areas – may find difficulty in
accessing housing options services in Kendal and
Ulverston.

Y

Each case to be assessed and
referred to the Central Access
Point for appropriate support.
Children’s Services to be
involved with all 16 and 17 year
old homeless cases.
Housing Options Manager to
continue outreach services in
rural areas to meet any
identified need.
Increasing homelessness
prevention, supply and support.

Housing
Options
Manager

(See glossary below for definitions)

Socio-economic disadavantage

Y

Housing
Options
Manager

Complete
Y/N

In providing this service, what are the impacts
for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage (including
rural deprivation, ‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

Negative
impacts

Mitigating actions (to
avoid negative impact):

Lead
Officer &
When

People in rural areas – social rents may be more
expensive in the future in rural areas due to
affordable rents and welfare reform.

Y

Housing
Options
Manager

BME – English not first language – households
need to receive adequate guidance to explain
housing options services.

Y

Gender – an offer of accommodation too near a
perpetrator of domestic violence.

Y

BME – an offer of accommodation too near a
perpetrator of race crime/harassment

Y

Housing Options staff will carry
out an affordability check to
determine that ingoing tenants
will be able to afford the rent and
avoid future homelessness.
Ensuring that translation
services are available in line
with race equality standards set
out within the Social Housing
Equality Framework.
The Housing Options Team will
ensure that any offer of
accommodation to end the
homelessness duty is suitable
and that domestic violence
victims are offered additional
support as required.
The Housing Options Team will
ensure that any offer of
accommodation to end the
homelessness duty is suitable
and offer additional support

(See glossary below for definitions)

Page 126

Housing
Options
Manager

Housing
Options
Manager

Housing
Options
Manager

Complete
Y/N

In providing this service, what are the impacts
for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage (including
rural deprivation, ‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

Negative
impacts

Mitigating actions (to
avoid negative impact):

Lead
Officer &
When

(See glossary below for definitions)

Page 127

required.

All categories – monitoring to take place on an
annual basis to review the Homelessness Strategy
Action Plan on its affect on equality and repeat
homelessness
Sexual orientation – risks arise where young
lesbians, gay men, bisexual and transgender
people are rehoused too close to a perpetrator of
hate crime. Additionally, they may be at risk in
hostel situations if their sexual orientation is
known. Lesbians, gay men, bisexual and
transgender people may be less willing to disclose
their sexuality to housing options staff in cases
where they are fearful for the safety.

Y

Y

The Council will monitor the
implementation of the
Homelessness Strategy Action
Plan to ensure that any negative
impacts are minimised.
The Housing Options Team will
ensure that each case is
assessed and appropriate
accommodation is allocated
away from the perpetrator.
Housing Options and Hostel
staff to receive equality training
to ensure that the needs of
lesbians, gay men, bisexual and
transgender people are taken
into account.

Principal
Housing
Strategy
Officder
Housing
Options
Manager

Complete
Y/N

Step 3
Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues used
are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments)
The draft South Lakeland District Council Homelessness Strategy sets out priorities that
will prevent homelessness, increase the supply of settled accommodation, ensure that
appropriate support is available and tackle complex needs. The Action Plan will be
monitored on an annual basis by the Housing Advisory Group and a multi-agency
Strategic Homelessness Group and any equality impacts will be reported to the Group.

The council has a list of equality contacts who can be contacted for consultation or to ask advice.
The list is on the intranet under Equality and Diversity. If you need any support when completing
this Equality Impact Analysis, please contact the Partnerships and Funding Officer.

Date:

18.12.18

EIA Author(s):

Julie Jackson

Assistant Director:

Ian Hassall

Document version number:

1

Date for Review:

17.12.19

EIA forwarded to Policy Officer

Y

Glossary
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30
year-olds).
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples
on a range of legal matters.
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning
disability.
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is proposing to undergo, is
undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing
physiological or other attributes of sex.
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, protection
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes,
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism,
Buddhism, and non religious beliefs such as Humanism.
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.
Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues around rural and urban deprivation, such
as access to services and transport. Rurality should be specifically considered as South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this
means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns.

Page 128

Item No.13
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Friday, 26 April 2019

Parks and Open Spaces Strategy
Portfolio:

Councillor Dyan Jones - Environment Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Simon Rowley - Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Report Author:

Deborah Clarke – Principal Community Spaces Officer, Nicola
Metcalfe – Green Spaces Officer

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

The Parks and Open Spaces Strategy identifies the importance of good quality green
space in the district and provides direction for the management of council owned
parks and open spaces for a ten year period. Clear objectives are provided for the
day to day maintenance of our spaces and how they can be improved and enhanced
by working closely with our community, partners and local businesses. The strategy
will contribute to the delivery of to health and wellbeing, environmental, social and
economic objectives in the new Council Plan

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider the draft Parks and
Open Spaces Strategy and make any comments for recommendation to
Cabinet for adoption

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Parks and Open Spaces Strategy is a ten year document which has been
developed to provide a direction for the management and development of the council
parks and open spaces.
The District’s parks and open spaces are critical elements of the District’s green
infrastructure network which delivers benefits in terms of meeting recreation needs,
delivering health and well-being benefits for all ages, reducing pollution, encouraging
social interaction, creating biodiversity networks and creating opportunities for active
travel. Parks and open spaces are also fundamental to the character of our places
and the quality of life we offer to existing and future residents.

3.2

Our vision for SLDC’s parks and open spaces is:“Working together to create valued and sustainable parks and open spaces in South
Lakeland”

Page 129

To deliver the vision the following four key themes have been identified as follows:





Health & Wellbeing – opportunities for healthier lifestyles, to improve mental health,
reduce health inequality and supporting physical activity
Economy – Enabling and delivering opportunities for sustainable economic growth
and investment in parks and open spaces
Community – providing high quality parks where people meet, communities thrive
and volunteer
Environment – protecting and enhancing our place

3.3

The strategy provides clear direction of the day to day maintenance activities
completed by Continental Landscapes Limited, through the Grounds Maintenance
Partnership. It also identifies areas to work closely with our communities, partner
organisations and local businesses to improve and enhance our spaces.

3.4

The strategy also identifies the types of spaces, items it relates to which includes;
trees and woodlands, cemeteries, playgrounds, sports pitches and parks.

3.5

The delivery of the strategy is supported by a number of parks and woodland
management plans, the Play Audit and the action plan which forms part of the
strategy document.

3.6

The strategy also identifies the continued requirement to maximise the resources
available to deliver day to day maintenance, close working with communities and
partners to deliver developments and to obtain best value from all resources
available to the management of our parks and open spaces.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

Corporate Management Team were consulted in December 2018, Grounds
Maintenance Partnership, Community and Leisure Services Team, Portfolio Holder,
Planning, Culture Arts and Events, Public Health and Active Travel Group have all
been individually consulted. Community groups and partners are in the process of
being consulted through the Parks Management Plans.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The alternative option is not to have a strategy, however, this is not a recommended,
option as the strategy outlines the direction and quality levels to achieve a
sustainable future for our assets.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Council Plan 2019

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

The 2018/19 budget for Grounds maintenance was £877,427.58, this figure includes
waste £24,600 and Extras £25,00. The 19/20 figure will be confirmed once the
March 2019 RPI figure is available.
The Play Audit receives £65,00 capital funding as part of a five year programme to
contribute to the delivery of the Play Audit, 2019/20 is the first year

Page 130

Human Resources
7.2

The Customer Connect programme will change the way councils services are
delivered, but the management of our parks and open spaces and maintenance
contracts will continue to be delivered within the new operating model.

Legal
7.3
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

The Heath, Social, Economic and Environmental assessment established that the
Parks and Open Spaces Strategy has a positive impact on items such as pollution,
physical activity and education. The completed assessment is attached in appendix
2

Equality and Diversity
7.5

There were no negative affects identified by completing the assessment, the
completed assessment is attached in appendix 3

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Delivery of all elements of the
strategy if the community,
volunteers and stakeholders are
not fully committed

Access to grants and
volunteers time for
improvements and delivery
of events will not happen

Fully engage all identified
partners and stakeholders
needed to make the
strategy and sustainable
parks and open space
development a success

Contact Officers
Deborah Clarke, Principal Community Spaces Officer 01539 793434
deborah.clarke@southlakeland.gov.uk and Nicola Metcalfe, Green Spaces Officer 01539
793417 nicola.metcalfe@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
(delete if no appendices attached)
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Draft Parks and Open Spaces Strategy

2

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact

3

Equality Impact Analysis

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

n/a
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer

Date sent
sent 5/4/19
Sent 5/4/19
signed off 5/4/19

Page 131

Signed off by
SMT

Date sent
27/3/19

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
5/4/19
Sent 9/4/19
N/A
27/4/19
N/A
27/4/19
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Page 132

Appendix 1

South Lakeland District Council

Parks and Open Spaces
Strategy
2019 - 2029

v.4
4

Page 133

Contents
Introduction .................................................................................................................................................. 2
Our Vision and Key Themes ...................................................................................................................... 2
Our Green Spaces ..................................................................................................................................... 3
Park Management Plans ........................................................................................................................... 4
Tree and Woodland Management ............................................................................................................ 5
Enjoying our Green Spaces ....................................................................................................................... 5
Key Themes ................................................................................................................................................... 7
Economy.................................................................................................................................................... 7
Environment ............................................................................................................................................. 8
Communities ............................................................................................................................................. 9
Health and Wellbeing ............................................................................................................................. 10
Delivery ....................................................................................................................................................... 11
Transfer of Assets.................................................................................................................................... 11
Setting priorities...................................................................................................................................... 13
Monitoring progress ............................................................................................................................... 13

1

Page 134

Introduction
South Lakeland District is 600 square miles of varied landscape, mostly rural and includes two National
Park Authorities. Whilst surrounded by rolling hills, mountains, lakes and countryside, good quality
green spaces are used by our communities and are an important feature of South Lakeland, the benefits
of which can be attributed to healthier lifestyles, community cohesiveness, vibrant economy, attractive
places to live and well used parks and playgrounds.
The vision for SLDC is “working together to make South Lakeland the best place to live, work and
explore”. Our parks and open spaces play an important role in delivering this vision. This strategy
supports the wider council’s ambitions for our open spaces by working across multiple boundaries to
deliver improvements for communities, creating the right balance across all ages, reducing inequalities,
where no one is left behind and creating the right balance between a sustainable and an inclusive
economy.
This strategy is supported by a number of management plans that have been produced for each of our
principal parks, community parks and woodlands that detail the actions to maintain, enhance and
support these most valuable assets, through our grounds maintenance partnership and combined with
community involvement and investment.
To deliver this strategy we will continue to work with our contractors for day to day maintenance
activities. To further enhance our green spaces we will work with our local community groups,
volunteers, businesses, Town and Parish Councils and other partners. This combined approach will
enable us to provide open spaces that meet the needs of our residents and communities, whilst using
the action plan set out at the end of this document to coordinate and prioritise improvements and
developments.

Our Vision and Key Themes
“Working together to create valued and sustainable parks and open spaces in South Lakeland”
The 4 key themes for the parks and open spaces strategy have been identified as follows:
•
•
•
•

Health & Wellbeing – opportunities for healthier lifestyles, to improve mental health, reduce
health inequality and support physical activity
Economy – enabling and delivering opportunities for sustainable growth and investment in
parks and open spaces
Community – providing high quality parks where people meet, communities thrive and
volunteer
Environment – protecting and enhancing our places

2

Page 135

Our Green Spaces
Parks and open spaces refers to areas of public gardens or areas of land used for recreation. Our
portfolio of spaces is made up of 13 principal parks, 11 community parks, 61 children’s playgrounds, 8
multi use games areas, 8 cemeteries and 15 woodlands. Management plans have been created for all
principal parks, community parks and woodlands across South Lakeland, a table summarising these can
be found in appendix 1. The authority’s parks and open spaces have been categorised as follows:
Principal Parks
These are areas SLDC have identified as sites of regional importance and provide a range of facilities and
visitor attractions. These are parks to travel to, attracting visitors from outside the district and can often
be used to host large events. These tend to include a variety of distinctive features which range from
areas of historic interest to impressive play spaces and Lakeland views which are used by both local
residents and visitors. Examples of principal parks include Kendal Castle in Kendal, Rothay Park in
Ambleside and Bowness Promenade in Bowness on Windermere.
Community Parks
These are areas of importance to local residents where community events and activities are held. These
tend to be areas which provide local green space for the nearby residents or play facilities for local
children. Examples of community parks are Fletcher Park in Kendal, Rinkfield in Kendal, Baddeley Clock
in Windermere and Broadgate Meadow in Grasmere.
Trees and Woodlands
South Lakeland District Council has 13 significant woodlands and 2 smaller areas of woodland. The
woodlands provide a diverse habitat for wildlife and valued recreation space and are highly valued by
the local communities that use them.
In addition to woodlands, SLDC have stand-alone trees on our parks and open spaces. These principal
landscape features provide focal points and wildlife habitats many of which are longstanding features of
historic significance.
Finally, SLDC have a number of street trees located on housing estates which provide amenity value,
mitigate landscape impact and provide interest.
Cemeteries
There are eight council owned and managed cemeteries of which seven are open for burials and
cremated remains within South Lakeland and a number of closed cemeteries. Due to their sensitive
nature, it is important that all the cemeteries are maintained to a uniform high standard to provide
peace and comfort to those who come to visit. Cemeteries are also a valuable green space providing
biodiversity through wild flowers and mature tree species, they also enhance many “green corridors”
linking other green spaces.
Playgrounds
There are 61 playgrounds, 8 multi-use games areas (MUGAs) and 3 skate parks. The playgrounds range
from destination playgrounds aimed at ages 16 and under, offering a large range of equipment for all
3

Page 136

abilities, people will travel specifically to these parks for the enjoyment of the playground, to
neighbourhood playgrounds designed for a specific age range, with users living within walking distance
of the playground.
A play audit was completed in 2016. The audit was fundamental in creating a capital improvement
programme and with member support a capital funding contribution is now in place for 5 years. The
model of playground improvements that has been and continues to be used is to work closely with
community groups to support and facilitate their ambitions for the site’s development and
improvement.
Sports and recreation
SLDC have 9 football pitches across the district which are hired by the local football teams and
maintained by SLDC’s grounds maintenance contractor. The bookings are managed by our leisure
partner Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) and we work closely with Westmorland Football Association.
A number of our parks also facilitate bowls, tennis and cricket, these are predominantly leased to the
clubs through Lambert Smith Hampton and the local clubs manage and maintain them. GLL provide
crazy golf, mini golf, pitch and putt, foot golf, a chipping range and 3 tennis courts at the Glebe,
Bowness-on-Windermere, one of our principal open spaces and a very popular tourist destination.
Finally, we have 3 stand-alone outdoor gym equipment areas. These provide the opportunity for varied
exercise to be enjoyed as part of a walk or run aimed at ages 14 and over, these are popular with the
older generations.
The parks and open spaces strategy does not include:
•

•
•

Council-owned land used for grazing – these open spaces have value as amenity green space in
that they generally provide visual interest and a sense of open space but are not accessible by
the public
Grass verges – although providing green corridors for wildlife and serve to visually enhance
journeys they are of limited value to the public.
Parks and open spaces owned and managed by Town and Parish Councils.

Park Management Plans
Management plans have been created for all South Lakeland’s Principal Parks, Community Parks and
cemeteries, some of the community sites have been grouped together by area. The management plans
are designed to prioritise a list of actions for each individual park agreed with the relevant
partners/community group and have been designed to enhance and add value in a sustainable and long
lasting way to the parks. In addition to this, for the cemetery management plans, the action plan section
also includes a review of space available, estimated length of time until full, options available to the
individual cemetery to continue service delivery and when to take a report to Corporate Management
Team. The management plans are working documents and will be updated on a regular basis, aims and
actions are likely to change once community engagement for each of the parks commences. The
management plans are key to delivering the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy, an overview can be found
in appendix 1.
4

Page 137

Tree and Woodland Management
We recognise the benefits, visually, environmentally and from a biodiversity perspective, of trees and
their value in combatting rising CO2 levels, they are a critical element of our world renowned landscape
and the lasting benefits they provide to our communities and businesses. We manage our woodlands
and trees with great care and will always seek to replace any trees that have to be removed with more,
using the support of our communities and local partners. Our trees are regularly inspected for safety.
Management Plans for all SLDC woodlands are produced by Cumbria Woodlands with SLDC’s
Arboricultural Officer.

Enjoying our Green Spaces
Our parks and open spaces are valuable and well loved by the local communities. Public Health England
studies found that good quality green spaces can affect how people feel, reduce stress and sadness, lift
the mood and make us feel better therefore, our parks and open spaces are fundamental in the health
and wellbeing of the public.
Furthermore, our open spaces provide a platform for not only community events but events of regional
importance, bringing people together, improving the economy and allowing our green spaces to be
utilized and enjoyed by all.
Culture, arts and events
Our parks and open spaces are locations for a wide range of community events ranging from local
fundraisers to dog shows and fell races. SLDC have also been fortunate enough to host a number of
events of national importance such as Lakes Alive, a free festival of contemporary arts for families and
art lovers in Kendal and the Lake District, Swim Safe, a fun and educational water session teaching
children aged 7 – 14 how to be safe in open water and Lakeland Trails, an ultra-marathon starting at
Rothay Park, Ambleside taking a complete circuit of the central Lake District. These particular events are
held each year and would not be the huge success they are if it wasn’t for the successful partnership
working between a number of stakeholders.
We also work with partners to provide locations for temporary art installations, examples being the
Paines Plough Roundabout, a pop-up theatre which has been located in Grasmere and Abbot Hall,
Kendal as well as Rob Mulholland’s mirrored statues commissioned by the Morecambe Bay Partnership
and located on Birkrigg Common, Ulverston. SLDC have an ambition to work with partners to include
more open space art exhibits.
Partnerships/Sponsorship
Partnerships are key to adding value, raising funds and making improvements to our parks and open
spaces. SLDC have worked with Town and Parish Councils, community groups and volunteers to deliver a
range of improvements to both principal parks and community spaces, examples of these are drainage
improvements and footpath works at Nobles Rest, Kendal, playground improvements at Oxenholme,
Kendal and overall park improvements at Lightburn Park, Ulverston, the case studies of these can be
found in this document.
With improvements to our parks and planting we hope to attract sponsorships and develop a
sponsorship and partnership programme.
5

Page 138

Advice to Town and Parish Councils
The parks and open spaces team offer a range of support and advice to town and parish councils, we
offer advice and support on subjects such as:
•
•
•

Play – advice and support on playground inspections, the steps of our procurement process and
funding strategies
Ground maintenance – offer support and advice with managing and maintaining open spaces
e.g. litter bin emptying, mowing, hedge cutting etc.
Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) – renewing and introducing dog control orders or
alcohol restriction on open spaces

6

Page 139

Key Themes
Economy
“Enabling and delivering opportunities for sustainable economic opportunities through parks and
assets”
South Lakeland District Council will achieve this by working with community groups, volunteers and the
private sector to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Strengthen partnerships with community groups and stakeholders
Create an attractive environment for investment
Maximise external funding opportunities through funding partnerships and grant applications
Identify sustainable income-generating opportunities
Implement volunteer sessions
Development of sponsorship and partnership opportunities

Case Study: Rothay Park, Ambleside– Boosting tourism by improving visitor experience
Rothay Park is a large park located in Ambleside, a popular town at the heart of the Lake District
National Park. Rothay Park is susceptible to flooding and during Storm Desmond in 2015 the
playground was seriously damaged by the flood water.
Following the devastating floods, the authority secured funding to relocate and improve the
playground within the park. After consultation with the local primary school, the Parish Council
and park users a new playground was designed and installed and has now turned Rothay Park
into a popular destination park with families travelling from neighbouring towns and villages to
use the playground and adjacent open space.
The success of the development in Rothay Park is evident through the feedback we receive from
other park consultations, with more people travelling to use the park this has had a positive
impact on the local economy.
With over 18 million visitors coming to South Lakeland annually, many thousands benefit from
our open spaces. The growth in numbers visiting and using facilities at Rothay Park has resulted
in the Parish Council in partnership with SLDC, developing plans to upgrade the toilet facilities
and introduce café facilities on the park.

7

Page 140

Environment
“Protecting and enhancing our environment”
South Lakeland District Council will protect and enhance public green space for the benefit of people
and wildlife and to contribute to biodiversity, this will be achieved by:
•
•
•
•
•

Create and implement management plans for individual parks and woodlands, taking into
account existing knowledge and partnerships
Manage the parks and woodlands to enhance and improve biodiversity
Work with SLDC’s Green Team to improve resilience to climate change
Promote safe links between separate green spaces by welcoming opportunities to develop
green corridors and underused parks.
Protect and promote trees and woodlands

Case study: Town View Fields, Kendal - Improving the environment, working with partners
Working with the Friends of Nobles Rest and the South Cumbria Rivers Trust (SCRT) we are
looking at options to allow for the introduction of a major flood alleviation project and
improvements to biodiversity in the Town View Fields area of the park. The SCRT designing a
scheme which opens an existing culvert and re-routing it to meander through Town View Field,
with sections for water catchment and bog type planting. By doing this, storm/flood water
progress through the park and on to the River Kent is slowed offering flood protection for the
areas and properties downstream. The creation of wetland and river habitats will also provide
the opportunity for the involvement of local community groups and school educational projects
through the installation of pond dipping platforms and interpretation boards.
Town View Fields scheme is a flagship project and will be a smaller visual example of larger
upland schemes SCRT are implementing.
In addition to this project the Friends group are planting wildflowers, have installed bird boxes
and new planting to improve the biodiversity of the park

8

Page 141

Communities
“High quality parks where people meet and communities thrive”
South Lakeland District Council will create green spaces that make South Lakeland the best place to live
work and explore, this will be achieved by:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Develop and promote community involvement, forming strong partnerships with park users
Use Park Management Plans and subsequent action plans to communicate, consult and listen to
park users
Promote events in the parks to enhance visitor experience.
Improve perceptions of safety within parks e.g. improve sightlines into parks
Reinforce local identity and civic pride
Continue working with established groups e.g. friends groups, Bloom, civic society etc.
Use our open spaces as a platform for community activity and events

Case Study: Oxenholme Play Area, Kendal– Communities making play
Oxenholme lies on the edge of Kendal. The existing play area was worn, dated and provided
little play value. The community of Oxenholme rallied together and formed “Oxenholme Play
Area Development,” (OPAD) a group of local parents with a drive to improve the play facilities
for their children.
Working in partnership with SLDC the group successfully raised £60,000 and using SLDCs
procurement process managed to refurbish some existing equipment, remove old tired
equipment and install new play equipment which was exciting, engaging and offered play value
for a greater age range of children.
An opening event was hosted on the playground by SLDC, OPAD and the playground provider
which brought the community together. Working in partnership with the local community we
are able to access further funding and provide facilities that meet the communities’ desires and
needs.

9

Page 142

Health and Wellbeing
“Improving Health and reducing health inequalities”
South Lakeland District Council will aim to improve the health and wellbeing of local residents
and access to quality green spaces by:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Promote health and activity in our parks for improved wellbeing and metal health
Encourage diversity and inclusion
Contribute to the creation of healthy places
Improve physical and social inclusion, including accessibility
Create and encourage healthy walks/cycle routes linking green spaces and gym equipment
Encourage and create tranquil green spaces to improve mental health
Work with partners to develop volunteer programmes in line with green gym activities

Case Study: Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere - promoting activity across all ages
At Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere, outdoor gym equipment was provided in partnership with the
Grasmere Village Society, the focus of the equipment is for older people to enjoy gentle and
varied exercise during a walk.

Case Study: Lightburn Park, Ulverston - reclaiming the park for local people
At Lightburn Park, Ulverston, the Friends of Lightburn Park have worked hard to transform an
underused park which had facilities relocated to the leisure centre and a reputation for antisocial
behaviour. In five years a gardening club has been established which has made numerous
improvements to the park, a MUGA has been installed and pathways improved to allow easier
movement around the park. All of these improvements have created a park which is loved and
well used, regular volunteer activities, including schools and a safe park for people of all ages
and abilities to use and enjoy.

10

Page 143

Delivery
“Ensuring we are equipped to provide the best, most effective and efficient service”
Delivering this strategy will take a committed effort from the council, our partners and volunteers
operating within existing constraints and challenges which includes the best use of resources and
budget.
Core works will continue to be delivered by the Grounds Maintenance Partnership, made up of SLDC and
Continental Landscapes Limited. The partnership will continue to obtain value for money and make
most efficient use of the contract’s resources. The current contract period expires on 31 March 2024,
the strategy action plan details the appropriate timing for the retender process.
In addition by working in effective partnerships with our communities and partners elements of this
strategy which are not day to day maintenance will be delivered.
The Customer Connect programme and the introduction of locality working teams, made up of SLDC
officers, will develop stronger links with our open space users, the ability to provide greater support
created and facilitate volunteer work parties on a more regular basis. Greater community cohesion will
be developed through stronger community working and continued support will be provided to achieve
grant and other funding for projects and events.
The Parks and Open Spaces Strategy will be used to inform future work to be undertaken in respect of
the South Lakeland Local Plan, specifically assessments that examine the accessibility, quality and
quantity of Council’s open space and recreational facilities within the South Lakeland Local Plan area. It
also has a role to play in helping to inform future decisions regarding requirements arising from needs
associated with new developments in terms of securing developer contributions to support planned
investment.

Transfer of Assets
With mounting pressure on resources and financial restraints on parks and open spaces the transfer of
assets and land parcels (e.g. toilet blocks, buildings for concessions, structures, etc.) to community
groups, town and parish council and other interested parties will only be considered if:
•
•
•
•
•
•

There is community support for a transfer
A strong business case is put forward for delivery of activities/services
Supports the aims and priorities set out in the council plan
Supports and aids delivery of the 4 key themes set out in this strategy
Providers have capability and capacity in place to enable sustainable asset management/service
delivery
It meets the guidelines set out in the Asset Transfer Policy (see Appendix 3)

Town and Parish Councils as well as strong community groups will play a leading role in the
transformation of our parks and open spaces. The transfer and day to day running of the parks need to
be evaluated on who would be most suitable to deliver these services most effectively and meeting the
need of the community. Further information can be found in SLDC’s Property and Land Management
Strategy.

11

Page 144

Commercial Opportunities
Asset Utilisation
It is accepted that access to parks and open spaces have a significant positive impact on those who
choose to exercise and use the space for walking, relaxation, social meeting and leisure activities. Some
of our open spaces have a specific additional leisure offer, such as the Glebe in Bowness. There is scope
to consider whether further social and leisure activities could be developed on some sites that could
benefit users and form part of a wider attraction to residents and visitors. It is proposed that a review of
our current parks and open spaces, where we have a leisure offer already or may have an opportunity to
develop one will be undertaken, which will include the consideration of opportunities to generate an
additional income to support the delivery of council services.
Events fees
Events on parks and open spaces are a key element to community inclusion and cohesion, they are a
way of making our parks more exciting and attracting a more diverse range of users. Hosting a range of
events involves considerable officer time and resources and it is considered appropriate that a range of
fees and charges be implemented for the use of open spaces for commercial events. These would be
used to offset the cost of administering such activities and to reinvest in our open spaces. This could
include a set admin fee for all events and an additional events fee for commercial activities which would
depend on the projected number of attendees, ticket cost and return. A damage deposit will also be
required to cover the cost of any reinstatement that may be required after the event.
Concessions
A review of existing concessions and future opportunities alongside the introduction of a policy would
be beneficial in the progression of supporting local businesses to tender for existing and new
concessions. With the introduction of a concessions policy SLDC could operate a fair, open and
consistent approach, ensuring all concessions on SLDC land are of a high quality and ‘good fit’ with local
needs and aspirations.
Income can be generated through a set admin fee and an annual or seasonal pitch fee which can be set
depending on the desirability of the pitch, through a competitive tendering process we can ensure best
value for money is achieved.
Partnerships and Sponsorship
Encouraging sponsorship in parks and open spaces is a way to raise a business’s profile whilst supporting
local communities.
By developing a sponsorship scheme SLDC can offer local businesses the opportunity to advertise in
popular destinations around the district. An example of a sponsorship sites might include floral displays
such as Baddeley Clock, Windermere or Nobles Rest, Kendal. Sponsorship agreements will last for 1 year
upon receipt of payment with all sponsor’s proceeds being used to improve the surrounding park area.
SLDC currently offer a seat and tree donation scheme, for a fixed cost the public can fund a bench
including a plaque to go in an agreed location, all donated benches become the property of the council
and will be available for general use by visitors to the park. SLDC maintain and repair the benches for a
period of 10 years and if they are still in good condition they may remain in position for longer.
12

Page 145

Similarly SLDC offer an opportunity to donate a tree, for a fixed cost the public can fund an appropriate
native species (the type will be at the discretion of the council). The fee will cover the cost of the tree,
planting and maintenance and care for the first five years.
With improved advertising and marketing these schemes could be more successful with the potential for
rolling out further street furniture advertising opportunities.
Cemetery searches
South Lakeland District Council currently do not charge for cemetery searches. Many other Local
authorities charge between £25.00 and £40.00 to carry out searches of the cemeteries register. This is
something we can explore to incorporate in 2020/2021 fees and charges.

Setting Priorities
The park and woodland management plans and play audit will be used to set priorities. The information
gathered in the management plans will be used to highlight the green spaces most in need of
investment/development and the associated action plans will be used to deliver sustainable
improvements.
A “Parks Standard” scheme will be investigated along with established systems of monitoring e.g. Green
Flag award or APSE’s Land Audit Management System. Once a suitable system of monitoring is in place
we will be able to set priorities for actions across all parks and update individual management plans in
order to bring all our parks up to a standard that meets the 4 key themes of this strategy. The adopted
system will be key to monitoring the progress of delivering the strategy.

Monitoring and Review
Progress will be monitored through continued engagement with community groups, Town and Parish
Councils and stakeholders will also be key in monitoring the delivery of this strategy.
Progress can be measured by the number of parks which meet and exceed the monitoring targets put in
place and the number of actions met in the strategy action plan and individual management plans.
Progress will be monitored through the delivery of the action plan using SMART actions and in line with
the park and woodland management plans and play audit.
The strategy will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis in the following ways:•
•
•

Annually in accordance with the Council Plan
Year three in preparation of grounds maintenance contract tender process
Year five half way point

13

Page 146

Page 147

Action Plan TO BE FULLY POPULATED FOLLOWING DISUCCION AT COMMITTEE
No.
Item
Action
1. Economy
1.1
Funding strategies
Identify funding opportunities for different aspects of
park development
1.2
Concessions
Investigate benefits of successful concessions and
identify suitable locations
1.3
volunteering
Create a volunteering programme, identify works,
locations and delivery partners
1.4
sponsorship
Identify opportunities across the district for
sponsorship and partnership opportunities using the
brand
1.5
Grounds
Retender the grounds maintenance contract, to be
Maintenance
operational from 1 April 2024
Contract
2.1

2. Environment
Park Standard

2.2

Management plans

2.3

Cemeteries

3. People
3.1
Empowering
People
3.1
Events
3.2

Play Audit

Create a “standard” which SLDC can aim to achieve
for all parks and open spaces and bench mark against
nationally
Create management plans for all parks, cemeteries
and woodlands and use to set priorities. Implement
plans
Through the cemetery management plans review
future planning options
Consult with the park users and forge partnerships to
ensure the park meets the communities’ needs
Work with specialist Officer to establish a policy for
events on the parks
Continue to work with community groups to deliver
the play audit

Target

Comment/Monitor

4. Health & Wellbeing
4.1
Healthy Walks
Create a walking routes linking outdoor gym
equipment and green spaces to encourage healthy
lifestyles
4.2
Use of gym
Investigate the delivery of fitness classes using
equipment
outdoor gym equipment and parks
4.3
Physical & social
Accessibility, PIPPA Standard for playgrounds
inclusion

Page 148
1

Appendix 1: Overview of Management Plans
Site Name
Principal Parks
Abbot Hall, Kendal

Highlights

Partners/Stakeholders

Destination park in the
heart of Kendal,
popular children’s
playground, beautiful
riverside location, close
to the high street and
Abbot Hall Museum
and Galleries.

Abbot Hall Museum,
Abbot Hall Social Club,
Kendal Parish Church,
South Lakes Housing,
Abbot Hall Bowling
Club, Friends of Abbot
Hall Playground, Kendal
Town Council, Lakes
Alive (Lake District
National Park
Authority)
Nobles Rest, Kendal
Peaceful park in a town Friends of Nobles Rest,
centre location. Well
Marks & Spencer’s, St
used by people on their Thomas’ Church, Town
lunch breaks and by
View Field Hostel,
the local children’s
Kendal Town Council
nurseries for play and
picnicking.
Kendal Castle, Kendal
Site of historic
Cumbria County
importance, popular
Council, Historic
with local dog walkers
England, Kendal United
and visitors
Football Club,
Netherfield Cricket
Club, Kendal Town
Council
Bowness Prom & The
Popular location for
GLL, United Utilities,
Glebe
tourists to admire the
Windermere Lake
view of the Lakeland
Cruises, Taylors Fair,
fells
Windermere Town
Council, Lake District
National Park Authority
Queens Park,
Valuable open space
Windermere Football
Windermere
for the surrounding
Club, Windermere
residents, varied sports Cricket Club,
facilities, popular dog
Windermere Bowling
walking location.
Club, Windermere
Parks For All,
Windermere Town
Council
Rothay Park, Ambleside Destination park in the Lakes Parish Council,
heart of the Lakes,
Ambleside Primary
provides access to the
School, Ambleside
surrounding fells as
Football Club, Lake

Page 149

Timeframe

Appendix 1: Overview of Management Plans
Site Name

Waterhead, Ambleside

Lightburn Park,
Ulverston

Ornamental Gardens,
Grange

Park Road Gardens,
Grange

Grange Prom

Community Parks
Biskey Howe, Bowness

Borrans Park,
Ambleside

Highlights
well as a popular
playground and picnic
area.
Popular tourist location
where visitors can
admire the view of the
Lakeland fells.

Partners/Stakeholders
District National Park
Authority
Windermere Lake
Cruises’, The
Waterhead Coffee
Shop, Lakes Parish
Council
The Friends of
Lightburn Park, The
South Lakeland Model
Engineering Society,
Ulverston in Bloom

Valuable open space
for the local
community, keen
friends groups working
hard to improve the
park
The gardens are
popular with residents
and visitors who enjoy
seeing the rare duck
breeds.
With its bandstand and
formal planting Park
Road Gardens is in the
style of a traditional
park.
Extends 1.5miles from
Lindale Road at the
railway station to Yew
Tree playing fields.
Creates a pleasant
stroll for visitors and
local residents.

Grange Town Council,
The 3Ps

Grange Soroptimists,
Grange Civic Society,
Grange Town Council
The Prom Gardeners,
The Prom Café,
Emma’s Café, Grange
Town Council, Grange
Civic Society, National
Rail

Once a Victorian view
point, Biskey Howe
offers beautiful views
across Lake
Windermere, recent
tree works have
opened this view up.
An area of historic
importance due to the
Roman Fort. Popular
with picnickers due it
lakeside location.

Windermere Town
Council, Windermere &
Bowness Civic Society

Lakes Parish Council,
Historic England, Lake
District National Park
Authority, The National
Trust
1

Page 150

Timeframe

Appendix 1: Overview of Management Plans
Site Name
Broadgate Meadow,
Grasmere

Croftlands, Ulverston

Fletcher Park, Kendal

Hallgarth, Kendal

Hawesmead, Kendal

Millerground, Bowness

Rinkfield, Kendal

Highlights
Community green
space in the heart of
the lakes, surrounded
by stunning fells.
Popular with dog
walkers.
Valuable green space in
an urban environment.
Popular park with
football pitch and large
play area for 0-16 year
olds.
A quiet beauty spot set
back from the centre of
Kendal next to the
castle. A peaceful park
well loved by the
surrounding residents.
A valuable open space
in the centre of a large
housing estate. With a
large kick about area,
modern playground
and outdoor gym
equipment it provides
a well-used spaced for
the local residents
A small park well used
and valued by the
neighbouring
properties
A destination park with
rare public access to
the shore. It is soon to
have a large
playground, disabled
access to the lake and
pop up café.
GLL water sports on
site.

Partners/Stakeholders
Lakes Parish Council,
The Grasmere Village
Society, Lake District
National Park Authority
Ulverston Town
Council, The Friends of
Croftlands Resident
Group
Kendal Town Council,
The Friends of Fletcher
Park, Allotment holders

Kendal Town Council,
Hallgarth Community
Centre

Kendal Town Council

Millerground
Enhancement Group
(comprises of
Windermere Town
Council, Windermere &
Bowness Civic Society,
The National Trust, GLL
and local residents &
Councillors), United
Utilities
Kendal Town Council,
Rinkfield Residents
Associations

A valuable community
park with a strong
community group.
2

Page 151

Timeframe

Appendix 1: Overview of Management Plans
Site Name

Sandylands, Kendal

Yew Tree playing fields,
Grange

Kendal West

Highlights
Featuring outdoor gym
equipment, a
playground and large
kick-about area.
Large green space in a
built up area. Large
playground, outdoor
gym equipment and
MUGA. Popular
location for exercising
dogs.
With beautiful views
across the bay, Yew
Tree playing fields have
tennis courts, a football
pitch and team and a
playground soon to be
renewed.
Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.

North East Kendal

Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.

North West Kendal

Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.
Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.

South East Kendal

South Kendal
South West Kendal
Windermere &
Bowness

Partners/Stakeholders

Kendal Town Council,
Sandylands Residents
Association

Grange Town Council,
Grange Pre School,
North Lonsdale Tennis
Club, Grange Football
Club, United Utilities
Kendal Town Council,
Historic England,
Fellside Forum, Kendal
Civic Society
Kendal Town Council,
IBIS Football Club,
Kendal Utd Football
Club
Kendal Town Council,
Cumbria Woodlands
Kendal Town Council,
The Beck Centre
Community Group,
Lancaster River and
Canal Trust
Kendal Town Council,
Horticare, Environment
Agency
Kendal Town Council,
Kirkbarrow Residents
Association
Windermere Town
Council, Windermere
Civic Society

Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.
Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.
Grouped together
open spaces of value to
the community.

3

Page 152

Timeframe

Appendix 2: Tree management Policy

South Lakeland District Council Tree Management Policy - Draft
Introduction
Tree Risk Management
South Lakeland District Council has a statutory duty of care under the Health and Safety at
Work Act 1974 and the occupiers Liability Act 1957 and 1984 to ensure that the activities of the
council do not put staff, contractors or members of the public at significant risk.
Each year between 5 and 6 people in the UK are killed when trees or branches fall on them. Around 3 people
are killed each year by trees in public spaces. Thus the risk of being struck and killed by a tree or branch falling
is extremely low (in the order of one in 10 million for those trees in or adjacent to areas of high public use).
However the low level of overall risk may not be perceived in this way by the public, particularly following an
incident.
The average risk is firmly in the “broadly acceptable” region of the tolerability of risk triangle published in HSE’s
“Reducing Risks Protecting People”. However, “Reducing Risks, Protecting People” explicitly states that
“broadly acceptable” is a general guide and not a definitive statement of what is reasonably practicable in law.
(www.hse.gov.uk 25-09-2015)

South Lakeland District Council is responsible for all the trees growing on land owned by the
council and therefore has a statutory duty of care in relation to trees on this land.
Acceptable risk of harm
The Health and Safety Executive (HSE 2001) suggests that “an individual risk of death of one in
a thousand per annum should on its own represent the dividing line between what could be just
tolerable for any substantial category of workers for any large part of a working life, and what is
4

Page 153

unacceptable for any but fairly exceptional groups. For members of the public who have a risk
imposed on them ‘in the wider interest of society’ this limit is judged to be an order of magnitude
lower – at 1 in 10,000 per annum.”
Where the risk of harm is assessed as being greater than 1 in 10,000, South Lakeland District
Council will make every effort to reduce the risk of harm to acceptable levels as soon as is
reasonably practicable. Where numerous trees and sites are identified as presenting a risk of
harm higher than 1 in 10,000, the required works will be prioritised to ensure the trees which
present the highest risk are addressed first and subsequent trees managed in risk order until the
risk of harm is reduced to less than 1 in 10,000.
How will South Lakeland District Council manage the risk presented by trees on its land?
South Lakeland District Council assesses the risk presented by trees on its land using the
Quantified Tree Risk Assessment methodology to ascertain the risk of harm presented by a tree
or trees upon site users and adjacent property (the ‘Target’ area). This risk assessment will
inform the prioritisation of tree works to ensure the effective assignment of resources to
maximise the reduction of risk that council trees present to site users. Trees which present the
highest risk of harm will be prioritised to be felled or pruned first, with trees presenting a lower
risk to be worked upon as budgets allow.
Quantified Tree Risk Assessment explained
Quantified Tree Risk Assessment (QTRA) does not provide predictions of what will or will not
happen. It provides an estimate of the risk from any particular tree hazard. QTRA provides a
methodology for the probabilistic assessment of risks from falling trees or parts of trees. QTRA
uses information on target area occupancy by pedestrians, vehicles or property to derive a
target value. The size of the part of the tree which would impact upon the target area is
measured and used in the calculation. The probability of failure of the part is then assessed
based on known defects and the experience of the surveyor observing similar defects. A risk
index score is calculated and converted into a Risk of Harm. The risk of harm is shown as a
probability, such as 1 in 1,000 or 1 in 1,000,000.
In most cases the risk of harm presented by a tree is very low when compared to other risks in
everyday life. Each year between 5 and 6 people in the UK are killed when trees or branches
fall on them. Around 3 people are killed each year by trees in public spaces. Thus the risk of
5

Page 154

being struck and killed by a tree or branch falling is extremely low (in the order of one in 10
million for those trees in or adjacent to areas of high public use).

Tree Maintenance
South Lakeland District Council seeks to manage its trees for the wider benefit of the residents
of South Lakeland and visitors to the area. As trees grow, there is the possibility that they will
cause a conflict with their surroundings. This may take the form of roots breaking up a footpath
or cycleway, branches overhanging a footpath or displacing a structure such as a wall.
South Lakeland District Council will carry out works required to prevent a statutory nuisance. In
every case, the cause of any damage must be directly attributable to the tree proposed for
works, and the works to be carried out will be determined by the councils Arboriculturist and be
appropriate to abate the identified and foreseeable damage. Additional specialist opinions may
be required to substantiate the reasons for the work such as a camera survey for drainage
complaints or a structural engineers report for works required to abate damage to a building or
wall.
South Lakeland District Council will also carry out works required to comply with an act of
parliament (such as the Highways Act 1980).
South Lakeland District Council will not carry out works to trees for any of the following reasons:
•

Trees blocking views

•

Trees blocking TV or satellite reception

•

Trees shading gardens or dwellings

•

Seasonal events such as leaf and blossom fall, pollen, fruit fall, honey-dew deposition
from aphids, bird roosting or nesting.

•

Tree branches touching telephone lines

Pro-active tree maintenance and management
Where budget constraints permit, proactive tree management works will be carried out by the
council. This work will seek to reduce the future management costs to the council and prevent
defects developing into actionable risks. In most cases, pro-active management works will be
ordered where risk reduction work is commissioned on the same site in order to save costs to
the council.
6

Page 155

The council also support adjacent landowners to carry out works to trees where permitted under
Common Law, such as pruning back branches which overhang their property. The council
strongly suggest that landowners who wish to carry out such work contact the council so checks
on the Tree Preservation Order and Conservation Area status of the trees can be carried out.
The council would also strongly suggest a qualified and insured tree surgeon carry out the
works to British Standard BS3998 2010 (or any subsequent updates).
Extreme Weather Events
Seasonal extreme weather events can cause significant disruption to infrastructure. Falling
trees can add to this disruption. It is widely acknowledged that trees with no visible defects can
be uprooted or snapped in extreme weather. During periods of extreme weather it is
recommended that people refrain from entering woodland or parkland. In the hours and days
following extreme weather, users of council woodlands and parklands should exercise caution
and be aware of their surroundings. People should avoid walking under fallen trees or broken
branches. The council’s grounds maintenance operators will assess the council’s high use
public sites and action any remedial works required. This may include restricting access into
some sites until the risk can be reduced to acceptable levels.
Disposal of felled trees
The council seek to manage its trees in such a way as to minimise transportation costs and
reduce the carbon footprint of its operations. This includes the disposal of lumber, branch wood
and woodchip. Where possible wood, brash and chip will be left on site and stacked neatly.
Deadwood provides many ecosystem benefits for wildlife, fungi and invertebrates. Only where
there is insufficient space on the site, the site is of an ornamental nature or it is otherwise
unsuitable for the wood and chip to be left on site, wood and chip will removed from the site by
the councils Arboricultural Contractor.
Assessments of trees on council land
The council will assess the risk presented by trees on its land on a regular basis. The initial
assessment of risk presented by trees will be made by the zoning of target areas. This will be
followed by walkover tree risk assessments for high value target areas. Once assessments of
high target use sites are completed, this will be followed by assessment of medium value target
zones and then low value target zones. Where a more detailed assessment of tree risk is

7

Page 156

identified by the walkover assessments, this will be carried out by the councils appointed
Arboriculturist.
Risk assessment details will be recorded on a GIS layer. Over time a record of all council sites
containing trees will be compiled.

8

Page 157

Appendix 3
Asset Transfer Policy
SLDC policy for the transfer of assets on a non-commercial basis
1. Aim
The aim of this Asset Transfer Policy is to provide a set of guidelines to be considered in the
transfer of assets from SLDC to other bodies where the transfer is on a non-commercial basis.
In implementing this policy the Council will have regard to its powers to transfer assets without
the need to achieve best consideration as provided for under Circular 06/03: Local Government
Act 1972general disposal consent (England) 2003 disposal of land for less than the best
consideration that can reasonably be obtained.
The policy also outlines the mechanism to be used in such transfers.
2. Types of Asset
Examples of the types of assets that have been transferred by other Authorities to the
community include:
• Village Halls
• Theatres
• Land (playing fields, allotments, parks).
• Office Space
• Museum Buildings
In the case of SLDC the assets could include toilets, tennis courts, fishing rights or indeed any
Council asset that it is deemed appropriate.
3. Guidelines
The Big Society philosophy provides the background to this policy. The Government’s Big
Society is about achieving goals in ways which are more diverse, more local and more personal.
The Council fully embraces ‘localism’. This is not just because of the Localism Act. However the
Act provides tools to help the progress of localism; new rights such as the Right to Bid and the
Right to Challenge Services for example.
Localism is already working in South Lakeland in many ways with active contributions from
people involuntary work and emerging examples of various service providers. The Council
wants to build on this enhancing localism through greater decentralisation to reduce
bureaucracy, empowerment of communities, diversification of how services are provided and
enabling greater public scrutiny and accountability.
In response to the new national, regional and local agendas the Council has produced a five
year strategic plan to ensure that the Council is in a long term sustainable position to deliver its
vision and priorities. The strategy encompasses work to be delivered across three key themes:
• One South Lakeland – a partnership approach to achieving priorities
• Localism – working together with our communities
• A Sustainable Council – delivering value for money services

9

Page 158

Delivery of the activity detailed in the strategy is creating a new approach to the role of the
Council and its involvement with communities. As we deliver the strategy, the Council is taking
significant steps towards being an enabling organisation.
The criteria listed below provide a framework for the consideration of an asset transfer.
1. Asset that are of strategic importance to the Council will not be considered for transfer. The
strategic importance will vary from case to case but the contribution of the Asset to the
Council finances and the impact on the Council’s ability to deliver strategic objectives are key
considerations.
2. Using a strict definition an asset is something that provides, or is capable of providing an
income. This can be broadened for the purposes of this policy to include assets that may
provide a benefit even if this is not in monetary form.
3. In many cases Council properties do not provide an income but attract costs in upkeep and
maintenance. By a strict definition these are in fact liabilities. As a principle therefore the
Council will also look for opportunities to transfer liabilities to other parties as part of an
overall approach to transfers involving a package of assets and liabilities. In this case the
proportion of assets and liabilities and the balance of the financial impact are important
considerations.
4. Although the transfers being considered in this context are on a non-commercial basis it is
prudent to consider the impact on the Council of the transfer. The preparation of a business
case in the same way as for commercial transfers is a useful way of assessing this impact.
Consideration should be given to the benefits of the transfer to the Council. These benefits
could be in the form of enhanced partnership working, improved community relations,
reputation enhancement or be a means to unlock asset potential for the benefit of the
community. The potential negative impacts should also be considered. The community may
see the transfer as an abdication of responsibility. Even though the transfer is on a noncommercial basis the financial implication should also be considered, in particular hidden
costs or opportunity costs arising as a result of the transfer.
5. The capability of the community or body to which it is proposed to transfer the asset should
also be considered. Is there a good understanding of the implications of asset responsibility
and appetite to manage the asset. The track record is also important. The legal basis of the
entity taking responsibility for the asset is also a consideration.
6. The level of support the community or body taking on the asset will need is an important
consideration. This may be short term during the transfer or longer term and is part of the
potential hidden costs mentioned in 4 above. The Council should be mindful of identifying a
clear exit strategy at an early stage in the process so that all parties are aware of the end
result and appreciate fully the implications. Consideration should also be given to how a
worst case scenario is to be handled. For example the Council may wish to take back the
asset if the project fails. The long term liabilities in this situation need to be considered.
7. The benefit to the community should be assessed and quantified if possible. The transfer
may be part of a package of measures to assist in community development. The guiding
principle here should be that the community can identify and buy into the benefit, for
example if the possession of an asset allows them to attract funding. In some instances there
may not be a benefit as in when the transfer is of a liability.
10

Page 159

8. This policy covers a broad range of potential transfers of both assets and liabilities. There are
therefore likely to be many technical issues involved ranging from physical maintenance, to
planning implications as well as legal HR and equality issues. All of these should be
considered in the same way as for any Council decision.
9. A full risk analysis should be carried out and controls identified for the significant risks where
possible.
10. Whilst this policy deals with the transfer of assets at less than open market value it does not
automatically assume that the transfer is at zero value. In practice a range of discounted
values may be applied ranging from a nominal amount to a significant percentage of Open
Market Value. As a minimum the Council should seek to recover its transaction costs, for
example legal and surveyor fees.
Mechanism
A key aspect of the transfer is whether it is to be a one off permanent disposal or transfer by
way of a long lease. The former offers a clean break with complete transfer of responsibility but
it also means the Council loses all practical control of the eventual use of the asset.
A long lease arrangement provides all of the benefits of a complete disposal in practical terms
but it allows for the Council to retain some control of the asset in the longer term by way of
restrictive covenants.
In practice there may be situations where either approach may be the most appropriate. The
Council should decide on its preferred model as a starting point while allowing for consideration
of alternative approaches in particular circumstances.
Each case will need to be considered on its own merits and the decision process should follow
the normal process for Council decisions in accordance with the Council’s constitution.

11

Page 160

SLDC
Green
infrastructure
Strategy

SLDC
Play Audit
SLDC
Council Plan
SLDC
Local
Development
Framework

SLDC
Health &
Wellbeing
Strategy

Page 161

Parks and Open
Spaces Strategy

SLDC
Local Plan

Grounds
Maintenance
Contract

Partnership
Business Plan

Public Health
Strategy

Cumbria
Biodiversity
Action Plan

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 162

Appendix 2

South Lakeland District Council
Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma
Project, policy or programme:
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Please tick the appropriate box

Environmental Conditions
Air quality

x

Water quality and
pollution

x

Built environment
Natural environment
and biodiversity

Tree planting has a
positive effect on air
quality
Tree planting has a
positive effect on
pollution
X

x

Native planting and
green corridors

Energy
consumption/efficiency

X

Noise

X

Transport

X

Recycling

X

Food production

X

Social and Economic Factors
Employment
Income

X
x

Poverty
Education, skills and
training

Housing

Investigate income
generation
opportunities through
commercial events
and concessions
X

x

Educational and
volunteer
programmes with
schools and
community groups
X

Page 163

Recommendations

Project, policy or programme:
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

Crime
Work environment

X
x

Good quality parks
and open spaces
improve the public
realm

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing
Nutrition and diet
Physical activity

X
x

Volunteer
opportunities and
outdoor recreation

Alcohol

x

Drugs

X

Risk taking behaviour

X

Smoking

X

Loneliness and
isolation

x

X

Volunteer
opportunities

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health
Communication
methods

x

Consultation on
specific projects

Active travel

x

Linked green routes
and corridors

Access to leisure

x

Formal and informal
opportunities

Access to culture

x

Lakes Alive

Access to green
spaces

x

Make green spaces a
more attractive place
to be

Page 164

Appendix 3

Parks and Open Spaces Strategy

EIA
1.0

Title:

The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected
characteristics:
Age, disability, ethnicity, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity.
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0).

1.1

SLDC includes “rurality” and “socio-economic disadvantage” as
additional categories in its equality impact assessments. Although socioeconomic status and rurality are not recognised protected characteristics
under the Equality Act, people on low incomes or in rural isolation are highly
likely to be affected by services that are intended to support vulnerable
people.

2.0

The General Equality Duty.
SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should:
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
c. Foster good relations between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who
do not.

Page 165

Step 1
Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA.
The Parks and Open Spaces Strategy identifies the importance of good quality
green space in the district and provides direction for the management of council
owned parks and open spaces for a ten year period. Clear objectives are provided
for the day to day maintenance of our spaces and how they can be improved and
enhanced by working closely with our community, partners and local businesses.
Our vision for our parks and open spaces is
“Working together to create valued and sustainable parks and open spaces in
South Lakeland”
The 4 key themes for the parks and open spaces strategy have been identified as
follows:
 Health & Wellbeing – opportunities for healthier lifestyles, to improve mental
health, reduce health inequality and supporting physical activity


Economy – enabling and delivering opportunities for sustainable growth and
investment in parks and open spaces



Community – providing high quality parks where people meet, communities
thrive and volunteer



Environment – protecting and enhancing our place

Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken
(include surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc.).
Grounds Maintenance Partnership
Community groups and volunteers
Town and Parish Councils
Partners and local businesses
Consultation has taken place with community groups through the parks
management plans, at Grounds Maintenance Partnership, Active Travel Steering
Group and Corporate Management Team.

Page 166

Step 2
Equality Action Plan

Page 167

Negative
impacts

Mitigating actions (to
avoid negative impact):

Lead Officer
&
When

Complete
Y/N

Making parks and
open spaces more
accessible for all
users

Possible changes
to layout,
furniture, signage

Consultation with Friends and
user groups

Deborah Clarke,
Nicola Metcalfe
After cabinet
06/19

N

More opportunities
to get involved
volunteer
opportunities on
parks and open
spaces
More events on
parks and open
spaces, both
commercial and
non-commercial

Unable to take
part due to other
commitments or
ability

Wide range of volunteer
opportunities available daytime
and evening, weekdays and
weekends

N

More times when
parts of local park
are not available
for use

Consultation with Friends and
user groups with regards types
of events and activities on
parks

Deborah Clarke,
Nicola Metcalfe
When
resources/delivery
mechanisms
established
Deborah Clarke,
Nicola Metcalfe
When required

In providing this service, what are the impacts Positive
for the following people?
impacts
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation, ‘rurality’)
(See glossary below for definitions)
1. All

2. All

3. All

ongoing

In providing this service, what are the impacts Positive
for the following people?
impacts
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation, ‘rurality’)
(See glossary below for definitions)

Page 168

There is no negative or positive impact from the
introduction of a Parks and Open Spaces
Strategy to the groups listed above that would
affect a group individually

Negative
impacts

Mitigating actions (to
avoid negative impact):

Lead Officer
&
When

Complete
Y/N

Step 3
Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues used
are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments)
Key stakeholders were engaged with directly in own location

The council has a list of equality contacts who can be contacted for consultation or to ask advice.
The list is on the intranet under Equality and Diversity. If you need any support when completing
this Equality Impact Analysis, please contact the Partnerships and Funding Officer.

Date:

4 April 2019

EIA Author(s):

Deborah Clarke

Assistant Director:

Simon Rowley

Document version number:

1

Date for Review:
EIA forwarded to Policy Officer

Y/N?

Glossary
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30
year-olds).
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples
on a range of legal matters.
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning
disability.
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is proposing to undergo, is
undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing
physiological or other attributes of sex.
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, protection
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes,
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism,
Buddhism, and non religious beliefs such as Humanism.
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.
Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues around rural and urban deprivation, such
as access to services and transport. Rurality should be specifically considered as South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this
means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns.

Page 169

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 170

Item No.14
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny
Friday, 26 April 2019

Community Governance Review - Second
Consultation
Portfolio:

Not applicable

Report from:

Debbie Storr - Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)

Report Author:

Paul Mountford - Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer
Tom Benson - Electoral Services Manager

Wards:

All Wards

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

This report considers the responses to the first stage of the public consultation
carried out as part of the Community Governance Review having regard to the South
Lakeland Community Governance Review Terms of Reference as agreed by Council
on 24 July 2018.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:(1)

Note the consultation responses received to in Stage 1 of the
consultation;

(2)

Consider and comment on the draft recommendations considered by
Council in December 2018 as set out in Appendix 1.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

At its meeting on 24 July 2018, Full Council agreed to carry out a Community
Governance Review within the District. The Terms of Reference of the Review were
agreed and a Community Governance Review Project Team established to consider
the review and make recommendations to the Council.

3.2

The first consultation period commenced on 10 August 2018 and as part of this all of
the parish councils within South Lakeland were invited to contribute.

3.3

The Review is being undertaken in accordance with Chapter 3 of the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (“the Act”) and the Guidance
on Community Governance Reviews (March 2010) provided by the Department for
Communities and Local Government Boundary Commission for England. The
timetable is included within the Terms of Reference (detailed in Appendix 3) as
agreed by Council on 24 July 2018.

3.4

As part of Stage 1, as well as key stakeholders (including the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), Cumbria Association for Local Councils
(CALC), Cumbria County Council, Lake District National Park Authority (LDNPA) and
Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority (YDNPA)), Town and Parish Councils,
residents associations, community groups and local people were asked to make
representations in connection with the Review.

Page 171

3.5

The Review must ensure that the proposed community governance reflects the
interests and identities of the community. It must also make certain that the
arrangements are effective and convenient for the electors of that community.

3.6

Parish wards must be contained within district wards and county electoral divisions;
that is parish wards cannot cross principal council ward and/or division boundaries.

3.7

After this round of consultation the review will consider any submissions made on
these draft recommendation culminating in the provision of final recommendations for
approval. The second stage district-wide consultation, as detailed in the terms of
reference, commenced 4 March 2019 and will end 26 May 2019.

3.8

Final recommendations will be considered at Full Council on 23 July 2019 with any
reorganisation order issued in August 2019.

3.9

Following consideration of the responses received in the first consultation round,
draft recommendations were drawn up and are set out in Appendix 1. These draft
recommendations were presented at Full Council on 18 December 2018. They
contain a number of potential changes, including:


reducing the number of councillors on Arnside Parish Council from eleven to
eight



the potential altering of the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to
include an area of proposed development of land north of High Sparrowmire
- a map is provided in Appendix 2 (D)



the potential altering of the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to
include properties on Natland Mill Beck Lane and The Beeches, and to
include a small area of proposed development on land at Watercrook - maps
are provided in Appendix 2 (E) and Appendix 2 (F)



abolishing the current wards of Dent and Cowgill and having Dent Parish
Council as an un-warded parish - a map is provided in Appendix 2 (A)



the creation of a new Parish which amalgamates the parish of Fawcett
Forest with the parish of Whitwell and Selside to create the Parish of Selside
- a map is provided in Appendix 2 (B)



that the ward of Grange West is abolished and Grange Town Council is
made up of two wards: Grange North and Grange South - a map is provided
in Appendix 2 (C)



changing the naming of the wards in Kirkby Ireleth Parish Council



altering the election cycle and reducing the number of councillors on Lower
Allithwaite Parish Council



a number of boundary changes to the parish of Natland a map is provided in
Appendix 2 (G)



altering the election cycle of Skelwith Parish Council to ensure that the
elections are held on the same day as South Lakeland district elections for
the ward of Ambleside and Grasmere; and



reducing the number of councillors on Windermere Town Council from
twenty to thirteen.

Page 172

3.10

Members of Overview and Scrutiny are asked to consider these potential changes in
line with the second consultation stage. Stage one of the Review took place between
September and November 2018. The submissions were considered and Council
approved the draft recommendations on 18 December 2018. The Council is seeking
further submissions and comments on the draft recommendations. The Council will
take these into account when drawing up the final recommendations, which will be
considered by Council in July 2019 before the Re-organisation of Community
Governance Order is passed shortly after.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

At the close of the first consultation period responses were received from the
following parish councils:
 Arnside
 Claife
 Coniston
 Dent
 Hawkshead
 Helsington
 Kendal Town
 Natland
 New Hutton
 Old Hutton and Holmescales
 Preston Patrick, and
 Ulverston.

4.2

Details of all the responses and recommendations can be found in Appendix 1. The
second round of consultation is based on the draft recommendations. The Council
welcome views from all stakeholders whether for or against the proposals. The
Council will then consider all responses and will draw up final recommendations on
Parish governance arrangements for the District. The final recommendations will be
made in response to the outcome of the next consultation. They may significantly
change the draft proposals.

4.3

Oxenholme Village Residents Group made a submission with a proposal for
Oxenholme to be a new parish with its own parish council. The boundaries of this
parish would not include any properties west of the railway line which currently lie in
the Oxenholme ward of Kendal Town Council. Full details can be found in Appendix
1 and Appendix 2 (H).

4.4

In summary, the Oxenholme Village Residents Group feel that the residents of
Oxenholme would be better served through the establishment of a Parish
Council to help deliver on the prioritised needs of the Oxenholme community.
It is the intention of the second consultation to widely canvas residents and
further stakeholders (including adjoining Parishes and elected representatives)
to gauge the strength of opinion of the proposal by the Oxenholme Village
Residents Group.

4.5

The proposal from the Oxenholme Village Residents Group identifies the area
east of the railway line up to the Station Inn, Park Farm and the following roads
within the village - Helmside Road, Bleaswood Road, Scar View, Bolefoot,
Helm Court, Hill Place, Helmside Gardens, Fell Foot, the new Oakmere
development of Helm View on the A65, High Park and the caravan site as the
proposed parish area. Full details can be found in Appendix 2 (H).

Page 173

4.6

Fawcett Forest parish has a very small electorate and has a recent history of
not meeting, leading to the Council’s Monitoring Officer being appointed by
auditors to sign off its accounts. Given this, the Council is proposing to create
a new Parish which amalgamates the parish of Fawcett Forest with the parish
of Whitwell and Selside. The new parish would have a forecasted electorate of
183.

4.7

The small parish ward of Grange West was created as the properties there were in a
different district council ward to the rest of Grange. Following a further electoral
review by the LGBCE this is no longer the case. The Council propose that the ward
of Grange West is abolished and Grange Town Council is made up of two wards:
Grange North and Grange South.

4.8

The Council are seeking views on altering the election cycle of Lower Allithwaite
Parish Council to ensure that the elections are held on the same cycle as the South
Lakeland district election cycles for the wards of Grange and Cartmel. The Council
propose Lower Allithwaite Parish Council holds elections in 2020 to begin the new
cycle of elections, with subsequent elections held every four years.

4.9

As a result of the further electoral review carried out by the LGBCE, Allithwaite Parish
Council is part of both Grange and Cartmel district wards. Cartmel is a two-member
ward with a fallow year in 2019 (and every four years subsequent to this). Lower
Allithwaite Parish Council has its scheduled elections in 2019 and, in the two wards
belonging to the Cartmel district ward, is not able to combine these elections and get
the cost benefits that combined elections bring.

4.10

Natland Parish Council submitted a comprehensive list of comments. The Council is
proposing altering the parish boundaries of Natland Parish Council to ensure that
community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community in that
area - as detailed in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 (E) and 2 (G).

4.11

The Council is seeking views on altering the election cycle of Skelwith Parish Council
to ensure that the elections are held on the same day as South Lakeland district
elections for the ward of Ambleside and Grasmere. The Council propose Skelwith
Parish Council holds elections in 2023 to begin the new cycle of elections, with
subsequent elections held every four years.

4.12

The Council would like to seek views on reducing the number of councillors on
Windermere Town Council to thirteen. Windermere Town Council currently has
twenty town councillors. It has, in recent years, carried many vacancies and has a
history of uncontested elections. With regard to government research which shows
that a parish council of this size should have between nine and sixteen parish
councillors, the Council recommended the number of thirteen to ensure a greater
electoral equality between each ward.

4.13

The second round of consultation is based on the draft recommendations and we
welcome views from all stakeholders whether for or against the proposals. The
Council will then consider all responses and will draw up final recommendations on
Parish governance arrangements for the District. The final recommendations will be
made in response to the outcome of the next consultation. They may significantly
change the draft proposals.

Page 174

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

Under the Act, South Lakeland District Council has the power to stimulate debate in
respect of parish boundaries. Community Governance Reviews can take place for
the whole, or part of, the District to consider one or more of the following:
 Creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes;
 The naming of parishes and the style of new parishes;
 The electoral arrangements for parishes (the ordinary year of election;
council size, the number of councillors to be elected to the Council, and
parish warding), and
 Grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping
parishes.

5.2

The Council is required to ensure that community governance within the area under
review will be:
 Reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area; and
 Is effective and convenient.

5.3

In doing so the community governance review is required to take into account:
 The impact of community governance arrangements on community
cohesion; and
 The size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish.

5.4

Arnside Parish Council resolved that the number of Parish Councillors to represent
Arnside Parish Council be reduced to six. The reason being that there are
permanently vacant seats on the Parish Council and the current level of eleven
Parish Councillors is unattainable. The Council, noting a pattern of a high number of
vacancies and uncontested elections, recommend a reduction in the number of
Parish Councillors to eight. This is recommended to ensure effective and convenient
community governance.

5.5

In order to alter the boundary on areas of land bordering Kendal, the Council would
have to apply to the LGBCE to make a consequential change to both district ward
boundary and county electoral division boundary in this area. It will be for the
LGBCE to decide, following receipt of the proposals, if a related alteration to these
boundaries should be made and when it should be implemented.

5.6

As detailed in Appendix 1, Helsington Parish Council would support a boundary
change as large areas of the current Parish have little connection with Helsington
and Brigsteer. The Council is not recommending changes in Helsington Parish
Council based on the comments received. However, the Council is open to further
representations. The Council is minded not to make recommendations that create a
much smaller parish council. The comments suggested would create a complex set
of proposals to the LGBCE and the benefits are not clear.

5.7

Following comments and consultation responses as part of the first consultation, the
Council, at the end of the first stage did not propose the recommendation to create a
new civil parish of Oxenholme. The creation of a new parish on boundaries recently
reviewed and altered by the LGBCE would create a greater degree of complexity
having, as it would, a significant impact on electoral equality within the wards of
Kendal Town Council. However, the Council would like to use this current
consultation stage of the Review to explore community governance in Oxenholme in
terms of the identities and interests of communities and whether local government
there is effective.

Page 175

5.8

As a result of the further electoral review carried out by the LGBCE, Skelwith Parish
Council sat within the ward of Ambleside and Grasmere. Ambleside and Grasmere
is a two-member ward with a fallow year in 2020 (and every four years after this).
Skelwith Parish Council has its scheduled elections in 2020 and is therefore not able
to realise the cost benefits that combining parish and district elections bring.

5.9

Though the Council is recommending no changes to the electoral arrangements for
Ulverston Town Council, the Council is aware of wishes to alter the names of the
wards to give them a clearer description and better reflect community identities.

5.10

In order to reduce the number of Windermere Town Councillors the Council would
have to apply to the LGBCE to make a consequential change. There are no
proposals to alter any boundaries, however the electoral arrangements for
Windermere Town Council were considered as part of the further electoral review
and as such are protected under law from five years after this review. It will be for
the LGBCE to decide, following receipt of the proposals, if a reduction in councillor
numbers should be made and when it should be implemented.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Our Place - The Council will put South Lakeland at the heart of decision making. The
Council will help towns and villages thrive commercially whilst retaining their
distinctive character. The Council is committed to furthering the localism agenda and
empowering local communities to develop.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1.1

Under the Act, the Council has the responsibility for undertaking community
governance reviews. The process is prescribed and involves officer time and other
associated costs, such as postage and printing. These costs will be met from within
existing budgets.

Human Resources
7.2.1

There will be human resource implications arising from a review which will involve
Officers from across the council.

Legal
7.3.1

Section 82 of the Act empowers the Council to undertake a Community Governance
Review of the whole or part of its area, for the purpose of making recommendations
with regard to the constitution of new parishes, the alteration or abolition of existing
parishes, the grouping or de-grouping of parishes, and consequential matters. In this
current case the fact that the conclusion of the last review took place in December
2013 does not detract from that power.

7.3.2

Any review would be undertaken in accordance with Chapter 3 of the Act and the
Guidance on Community Governance Reviews (March 2010) provided by the
Department for Communities and Local Government Boundary Commission for
England. The process that has been adopted by the Council complies with those
requirements.

Page 176

7.3.3

Where parish councils are directly affected by the Boundary Commission’s
recommendations for district ward boundaries, they can make recommendations for
their electoral arrangements. These include recommendations:
 for the number of councillors to be elected to the council
 the need for parish wards
 the number and boundaries of any parish wards
 the number of councillors to be elected from any parish ward, and
 the name of any parish ward.

7.3.4

Whilst making recommendations on these aspects of parish electoral arrangements,
the Boundary Commission state that they will not normally make recommendations to
change the total number of parish councillors for any particular parish. Their
guidance states that this is a matter best resolved locally. The Council can resolve to
make such changes following a Community Governance Review.

7.3.5

Where parish councils are directly affected by the Boundary Commission’s
recommendations for district ward boundaries, the LGBCE can make
recommendations for their electoral arrangements.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? Yes

7.5

The Community Governance Review Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Impact Assessment was completed and provided to Full Council at its meeting on 24
July 2018.

Equality and Diversity
7.6

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes

7.7

The Community Governance Review Equality Impact Assessment was completed
and provided to Full Council at its meeting on 24 July 2018.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

That without periodic
Community Governance
Reviews, areas of South
Lakeland are not represented by
the appropriate parish council.

Residents feel
disconnected from the
business of the parish
council.

Community Governance
Reviews carried out
periodically to respond to
changes in circumstances
or valid petitions
presented within the
appropriate timeframe.

Contact Officers
Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk
Tom Benson, Electoral Services Manager - t.benson@southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 177

Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Community Governance Review 2018 -2019 - Draft
Recommendations

2

Community Governance Review 2018 -2019 - Draft
Recommendations - Maps

3

Community Governance Review 2018 -2019 - Terms of Reference

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Community Governance Review
End of Stage 1

Minute C/59

Community Governance Review
Report March 2017
Community Governance Review
Report July 2018

Minute C/93
Minute C/30

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
SMT

Date sent
1 April 2019
1 April 2019
1 April 2019
1 April 2019

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
1 April 2019
1 April 2019
1 April 2019
N/A
N/A
12 April 2019
N/A
26 April 2019
N/A
N/A

Page 178

Appendix 1
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Page 179
1
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Aldingham
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 180

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Aldingham: North

Parish Council
(warded)

3

410

137

410

137

Furness Peninsula

Aldingham: South

Parish Council
(warded)

5

542

109

540

108

Furness Peninsula

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

2
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Arnside

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

11

1,965

179

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,853

169

Arnside & Milnthorpe

Comments

Page 181

Submission received from Arnside Parish Council:
‘At its meeting last night (the 8th October 2018) Arnside Parish Council Resolved that it would like to ask that the number of Councillors to represent
Arnside Parish Council be reduced to 6 as part of the local Governance review. The reason being that there are permanently vacant seats on the
Council and the current level of 11 Councillors is unattainable’

Draft recommendations
After taking into account the comments made regarding Arnside Parish Council, and noting a pattern of a high number of vacancies and uncontested
elections, we are recommending a reduction in the number of councillors to EIGHT. We recommend this to ensure effective and convenient community
governance.

3
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Barbon

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

197

40

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

179

36

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Page 182

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

4
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Beetham
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Beetham: East

Parish Council
(warded)

4

599

150

569

143

Arnside & Milnthorpe

Beetham: West

Parish Council
(warded)

5

878

176

860

172

Arnside & Milnthorpe

Page 183

Comments
Submission received from Beetham Parish Council:
‘Beetham PC consider present arrangements to be about right with no change necessary’.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

5
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Blawith & Subberthwaite

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

157

32

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

157

32

Broughton & Coniston

Page 184

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

6
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Broughton East

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

181

37

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

181

37

Cartmel

Comments

Page 185

No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

7
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Burneside
Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Parish Council
(grouped)

7

891

128

983

141

Kendal Rural

Parish Council
(grouped)

4

383

96

487

122

Kendal Rural

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Burneside:
Strickland Ketel
Burneside:
Strickland Roger

Page 186

Comments
No comments were received from Burneside Parish Council during stage one of this review.
Submissions affecting Burneside Parish Council have been made by Kendal Town Council, please see recommendation A under the Kendal Town
Council section

Draft recommendations
Based on comments made regarding the boundary between Burneside Parish Council and Kendal Town Council we would like to seek views on
altering the boundary to follow the boundary as defined within the current South Lakeland Local Development Framework on an area of land north of
High Sparrowmire. This recommendation is made to ensure community governance is reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that
area. This would mean an area of development would move from Burneside Parish Council into the Strickland ward of Kendal Town Council.
The specific area in question is marked on the following map – Appendix 2(D) – Development Land North of Kendal Strickland Ward.

8
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1
For this recommendation to take effect we would have to apply to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) to make a
consequential change to both district ward boundary and county electoral division boundary in this area. It will be for the LGBCE to decide, following
receipt of the proposals, if a related alteration to these boundaries should be made and when it should be implemented.

Page 187
9
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Burton-in-Kendal

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

9

1,170

130

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,245

139

Burton & Crooklands

Page 188

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

10
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Cartmel Fell

Ward name (if
applicable)

Unwarded

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Parish Council

5

253

51

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

253

51

District ward

Bowness & Levens

Comments

Page 189

No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

11
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Casterton

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

235

47

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

253

51

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Page 190

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

12
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Claife

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Parish Council
(warded)

3

162

54

162

54

Broughton & Coniston

Parish Council
(warded)

3

80

27

80

27

Broughton & Coniston

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Claife: Lower

Claife: Upper

Page 191

Comments
Claife Parish Council submitted the response below:
‘On abolishing wards within the parish: It would prefer to continue with 2 wards as currently, because the current system functions well, each ward has
some distinctly different issues, and we don't feel there is a strong need to change it. Despite the difference in electorate numbers it was felt that it is
also the Parish Council's responsibility to look after the land and parish interests, and these are broadly equal. On the prospect of grouping with a
neighbouring parish: No, we would prefer to remain independent because we believe Claife has unique and distinct issues that require dedicated
focus. On the prospect of reducing councillor numbers: No, sometimes councillors are away and keeping our numbers to 6 means we increase the
certainty of having a quorum for decisions’

Draft recommendations
No changes

13
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Colton
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 192

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Colton: Central

Parish Council
(warded)

3

200

67

200

67

Broughton & Coniston

Colton: East

Parish Council
(warded)

3

175

59

175

59

Broughton & Coniston

Colton: West

Parish Council

3

242

81

242

81

Broughton & Coniston

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

14
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Coniston

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

686

98

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

696

100

Broughton & Coniston

Comments

Page 193

Submission received from Coniston Parish Council:
‘Under the Community Governance Review for South Lakeland Coniston Parish Councillors would like to confirm that they would like Coniston Parish
Council to remain as it is’.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

15
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Crook

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

275

40

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

275

40

Kendal Rural

Page 194

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

16
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Crosthwaite & Lyth

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Crosthwaite & Lyth

Parish Council

7

516

74

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

581

83

Bowness & Levens

Comments

Page 195

No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

17
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Dent
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 196

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Dent: Cowgill

Parish Council
(warded)

3

115

39

115

39

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Dent: Dent

Parish Council
(warded)

6

449

75

474

79

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Comments
Submission from Dent Parish Council:
‘Dent with Cowgill Parish Council would like to request the consideration of the following submission as part of the Community Governance Review.
That the wards of Dent (6 councillors) and Cowgill (3 councillors) be abolished and the Parish Council is no longer warded. The Parish Council would
retain 9 councillors all with responsibility for the whole parish. It was resolved to make this submission at the Parish Council meeting on 05 November
2018’.

Draft recommendations
We would like to seek views on abolishing the current wards of Dent and Cowgill and having Dent Parish Council as an un-warded parish. It would
retain the current allocation of nine councillors.
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance is: a) effective and convenient and b) reflects the identities and interests of
the community in that area.
We have attached a map which shows the current warding arrangements – Appendix 2(A) - Dent.
18
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Docker

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Docker

Parish Meeting

0

52

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

52

0

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 197

No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

19
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Duddon
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 198

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Duddon: Angerton

Parish Council
(grouped)

1

15

15

15

15

Broughton & Coniston

Duddon: Broughton
West

Parish Council
(grouped)

7

728

104

728

104

Broughton & Coniston

Duddon:
Dunnerdale-withSeathwaite

Parish Council
(grouped)

2

101

51

101

51

Broughton & Coniston

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

20
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Egton-With-Newland, Mansriggs & Osmotherly

Page 199

Number of
councillors

Electorate
at 3
September
2018

Electors per
councillor
at 3
September
2018

Parish
Council
(grouped)

6

681

Egton-With-Newland,
Mansriggs & Osmotherly:
Mansriggs

Parish
Council
(grouped)

1

Egton-With-Newland,
Mansriggs & Osmotherly:
Osmotherley

Parish
Council
(grouped)

2

Ward name (if applicable)

Type of
parish
council or
meeting

Egton-with-Newland,
Mansriggs & Osmotherley:
Egton-with-Newland

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

114

669

112

Furness Peninsula

38

38

38

38

Furness Peninsula

200

100

189

95

Furness Peninsula

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

21
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Fawcett Forest

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Fawcett Forest

Parish Meeting

0

23

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

23

0

Kendal Rural

Page 200

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
Fawcett Forest parish has a very small electorate and has a recent history of not meeting, leading to the Monitoring Officer at South Lakeland District
Council being appointed by auditors to sign off its accounts.
Given this, we are proposing to create a new Parish which amalgamates the parish of Fawcett Forest with the parish of Whitwell & Selside. The new
parish would have a forecasted electorate of 183.
We recommend that the new parish is named Selside Parish, and that the parish shall not have a parish council, but a parish meeting – a map is
provided in Appendix 2 (B).
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance is: a) effective and convenient and b) reflects the identities and interests of
the community in that area.

22
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Firbank

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Firbank

Parish Meeting

0

95

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

87

0

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 201

No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

23
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Garsdale

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

176

26

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

180

26

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Page 202

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

24
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Grange
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 203

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Grange: North

Town Council
(warded)

4

1,813

454

1,677

420

Grange

Grange: South

Town Council
(warded)

4

1,600

400

1,783

446

Grange

Grange: West

Town Council
(warded)

1

181

181

150

150

Grange

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
We would like to seek views on altering the warding pattern in the parish of Grange. The small ward of Grange West was created as the properties
there were in a different district council ward to the rest of Grange. Following a further electoral review by the LGBCE this is no longer the case. We
therefore propose that the ward of Grange West is abolished and Grange Town Council is made up of two wards: Grange North and Grange South.
The properties in Grange West will become part of an enlarged Grange South. Grange North will retain four councillors, and Grange South will have
five councillors.
Attached is a map of the proposed new wards – as detailed in Appendix 2 (C)
25
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1
The average elector to councillor ratio for Grange is 401. The forecasted elector to councillor ratio for each new ward is:



Grange North – 419
Grange South – 387

We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance is:
a) effective and convenient, and
b) reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area.

Page 204
26
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Grayrigg

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Grayrigg

Parish Meeting

0

160

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

139

0

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 205

No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

27
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Haverthwaite

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

605

87

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

674

97

Broughton & Coniston

Page 206

Comments
No comments were received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

28
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Hawkshead
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Hawkshead:
Fieldhead

Parish Council
(warded)

3

119

40

119

40

Broughton & Coniston

Hawkshead:
Hawkshead

Parish Council
(warded)

4

290

73

311

78

Broughton & Coniston

Page 207

Comments
Submission received from Hawkshead Parish Council:
‘I am writing on behalf of Hawkshead Parish Council who met last week and discussed the review as an Agenda item. They have asked me to
feedback that they are happy with the way things are and the area they cover and feel that the systems in place work well’

Draft recommendations
No changes

29
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Helsington

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

269

39

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

287

41

Bowness & Levens

Page 208

Comments
Submission received from Helsington Parish Council.
The Parish Council would support a boundary change as large areas of the current Parish have little connection with Helsington and Brigsteer.
The changes should accommodate:
 Ensuring the Parish was wholly within the boundaries of the National Park.
 A new parish of minimum of 150 electorate concentrated around Brigsteer Village and Helsington(Whetstone Lane)
 Areas to the East of the A591 have more in common with Natland or Kendal and should be reallocated.
 Properties on the Moss (e.g. Low Plains Farm) and Barrowfield could be included in this Parish, currently part of Underbarrow. The suggested
boundary would be Third Moss Lane.
 Low Sizergh being east of the A591 area being reallocated to Sedgwick or Levens Parish.
The Councillors do not believe that there would be any gain in joining a group of parishes but that a new Parish of 150-200 electors with 7 Parish
Councillors centred on the settlement of Brigsteer was the most appropriate model.

30
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Draft recommendations
No changes
We are not recommending changes in Helsington Parish Council based on the comments received. However, we are open to further representations.
We are not minded to make recommendations that creates a much smaller parish council. The comments suggested would create a complex set of
proposals to the LGBCE and the benefits are not clear.
Though we are not recommending a change, we are still keen to hear more views and the following could be considered:





Create a new parish council
Change the boundaries of the existing parish council and, possibly, rename
Changing the boundaries and abolishing the parish council, moving to it being a parish meeting
Warding Helsington Parish Council to ensure those on the fringes have adequate representation

Page 209
31
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Heversham

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

587

84

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

543

78

Bowness & Levens

Page 210

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

32
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Hincaster

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Hincaster

Parish Meeting

0

164

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

171

0

Burton & Crooklands

Comments

Page 211

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

33
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Holme

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

1,186

170

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,189

170

Burton & Crooklands

Page 212

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

34
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Hutton Roof

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

175

35

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

166

34

Burton & Crooklands

Comments

Page 213

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

35
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Kendal
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 214

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Kendal: Castle

Town Council
(warded)

2

1,766

883

2,212

1,106

Kendal East

Kendal: Fell

Town Council
(warded)

2

1,673

837

1,634

817

Kendal Town

Kendal: Heron Hill

Town Council
(warded)

4

3,049

762

2,962

741

Kendal South &
Natland

Kendal: Highgate

Town Council
(warded)

2

1,644

822

1,694

847

Kendal Town

Kendal: Kirkland

Town Council
(warded)

4

3,002

751

3,027

757

Kendal West

Kendal: Mintsfeet

Town Council
(warded)

2

1,612

806

1,510

755

Kendal Town

Kendal: Nether

Town Council
(warded)

4

2,533

633

3,313

829

Kendal East

Kendal:
Oxenholme

Town Council
(warded)

1

1,067

1,067

1,251

1,251

Kendal South &
Natland

36
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Kendal
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Kendal: Stonecross

Town Council
(warded)

3

2,141

714

3,261

1,087

Kendal West

Kendal: Strickland

Town Council
(warded)

4

3,285

821

3,418

864

Kendal North

Page 215

Comments
Submission were received from Kendal Town Council, Natland Parish Council and the Oxenholme Resident’s Association.
In summary, Kendal Town Council suggested that the boundary of Kendal Parish should follow the Development Plan boundary in areas where that
currently crosses into parishes outside of Kendal Parish, as well as making some other suggestions. Their proposals are:










Aligning the Kendal Parish boundary with the development plan boundary west and north of High Sparrowmire
Aligning the Kendal Parish boundary with the development plan boundary north of Laurel Gardens
Addressing an anomaly where the boundary appears to split neighbouring properties on Gilthwaiterigg Lane
Including possible development land at Appleby Road into Kendal Parish
Aligning the Kendal Parish boundary with the development plan boundary south of Natland Mill Beck Lane
Aligning the Kendal Parish boundary with the development plan boundary at Scroggs Wood
Moving the Kendal Parish boundary to follow the A591 at Brigsteer
Including possible development land at Kendal Fell quarry into Kendal Parish
Aligning the Kendal Parish Boundary with the development plan boundary at Rochester Gardens and Burton Road, Oxenholme
37

Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1
Natland Parish Council made a submission which relates to Kendal Parish. In summary, their proposals are:



Properties south of Natland Mill Beck Lane should remain in the parish of Natland
Properties and development land at Rochester Gardens and Burton Road, Oxenholme should move out of Natland Parish into a new civil
parish of Oxenholme

Oxenholme Village Residents Group made a submission with a proposal for Oxenholme to be a new parish with its own parish council. The boundaries
of this parish would not include any properties west of the railway line which currently lie in the Oxenholme ward of Kendal Town Council.
All the above submissions are available for inspection on request.

Draft recommendations

Page 216

Several submissions were received which may have an impact on Kendal Town Council. As Kendal Town Council went through boundary changes as
part of the further electoral review by the LGBCE, any proposed change would need their approval as a consequential change to electoral
arrangements they have already considered. The decision to accept the proposal and when to implement it would be a decision for the LGBCE.
We are seeking views on the following recommendations:
A) Development land north of Strickland ward (Hallgarth)
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to align with the Development Plan boundary at this point. Any residential
development would form part of the Strickland ward of the parish of Kendal. The attached map shows the proposed new boundary between Kendal
Town Council and Burneside Parish Council – Appendix 2 (D).
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area.
B) Development land adjoining Stonecross, Heron Hill and Oxenholme wards
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to align with the Development Plan boundary in this area. Any residential
development would form part of the Stonecross ward of the parish of Kendal. The attached map shows the proposed new boundary between
Kendal Town Council and Natland Parish Council – Appendix 2 (E)
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area.
38
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1
C) Land at Rochester Gardens adjoining Oxenholme ward
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to align with the Development Plan boundary in this area. The properties
comprising of Rochester Gardens would form part of the Oxenholme ward of the Parish of Kendal. The attached map shows the proposed new
boundary between Kendal Town Council and Natland Parish Council – Appendix 2 (F)
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area.
D) Development land adjoining Oxenholme ward
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to align with the Development Plan boundary in this area. Any residential
development would form part of the Oxenholme ward of the parish of Kendal. It will also affect one property, Overdale, which will move from
Natland Parish Council into the Oxenholme ward of Kendal Town Council. The attached map shows the proposed new boundary between Kendal
Town Council and Natland Parish Council – Appendix 2 (F).
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area.

Page 217

E) Development land adjoining Stonecross ward
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Kendal Town Council to align with the Development Plan boundary in this area. The attached
map shows the proposed new boundary between Kendal Town Council and Helsington Parish Council – Appendix 2 (G).
We are recommending this change to ensure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area.

There have been submissions in stage 1 where we have not proposed a recommendation, however we would still like to seek views on them in the
second stage of the Community Governance Review.
A parish for Oxenholme
We are not proposing a recommendation to create a new civil parish of Oxenholme. From the submissions received in Stage 1 we did not feel we had
enough evidence to make this recommendation. The creation of a new parish on boundaries recently reviewed and altered by the LGBCE would
create a greater degree of complexity having, as it would, a significant impact on electoral equality within the wards of Kendal Town Council. However,
we would like to use the next consultation stage of the Community Governance Review to explore community governance in Oxenholme in terms of
the identities and interests of communities and whether local government there is effective. Suggestions could include a new parish or a new pattern of
warding in the current parish. We would welcome any views on this matter.
39
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1
Some of the suggestions included in Kendal Town Council’s submission have not been recommended, for the following reasons:






The land north of Laurel Gardens is a small triangle of land which would have initially been used for access to a wider development, there is
currently no evidence any building will take place in this parcel of land, therefore we have decided not to make a recommendation to alter the
boundary
After investigating the anomaly on Gilthwaiterigg Lane it was discovered that there are no residential properties, according to our records, on
the other side of the boundary from their immediate neighbours in the parish of Kendal.
Moving the boundary to follow the A591 near Brigsteer was not recommended as it would not affect any residential properties giving no benefit
to community governance
Potential development land at Appleby Road and at Kendal Fell quarry was not considered as a recommendation as there is little certainty of
this happening and the development plan boundary does not extend to these areas.

Page 218
40
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Kentmere

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Kentmere

Parish Meeting

0

68

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

68

0

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 219

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

41
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Killington

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Killington

Parish Meeting

0

110

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

96

0

Kendal Rural

Page 220

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

42
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Kirkby Ireleth
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 221

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Kirkby Ireleth:
Heathlands

Parish Council
(warded)

2

199

100

199

100

Broughton & Coniston

Kirkby Ireleth:
Lower Quarter

Parish Council
(warded)

6

574

96

617

103

Broughton & Coniston

Kirkby Ireleth:
Middle Quarter

Parish Council
(warded)

3

199

67

199

67

Broughton & Coniston

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
We recommend a small change to the naming of the wards in Kirkby Ireleth Parish Council. As there are only three wards we are proposing to drop the
“quarter” from those particular wards. We are proposing to name the wards as below:




Kirkby Ireleth: Lower
Kirkby Ireleth: Central
Kirkby Ireleth: Heathlands

However, we are keen to hear suggestions for other, more appropriate, names that better reflect the identities and interests of the community in that
area.
43
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Kirkby Lonsdale

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

9

1,501

167

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,485

165

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Page 222

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

44
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lakes
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 223

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Lakes: Ambleside

Parish Council
(warded)

6

1,984

331

2,013

336

Ambleside & Grasmere

Lakes: Grasmere

Parish Council
(warded)

3

506

169

524

175

Ambleside & Grasmere

Lakes: Langdales

Parish Council
(warded)

3

273

91

273

91

Ambleside & Grasmere

Lakes: Rydal &
Loughrigg

Parish Council
(warded)

2

193

97

193

97

Ambleside & Grasmere

Lakes: Troutbeck

Parish Council
(warded)

2

251

126

251

126

Ambleside & Grasmere

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes
45
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lambrigg

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Lambrigg

Parish Meeting

0

84

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

84

0

Kendal Rural

Page 224

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

46
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Levens

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

8

876

110

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

937

118

Bowness & Levens

Comments

Page 225

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

47
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lindale & Newton-in-Cartmel
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 226

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Lindale & Newtonin-Cartmel: High
Newton

Parish Council
(warded)

2

149

75

149

75

Cartmel

Lindale & Newtonin-Cartmel: Lindale

Parish Council
(warded)

7

524

75

524

75

Cartmel

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

48
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Longsleddale

Ward name (if
applicable)

Longsleddale

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Parish Meeting

0

70

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

70

0

District ward

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 227

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

49
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lower Allithwaite
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 228

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Lower Allithwaite:
Allithwaite

Parish Council
(warded)

8

973

122

974

122

Grange

Lower Allithwaite:
Cartmel

Parish Council
(warded)

5

409

82

459

92

Cartmel

Lower Allithwaite:
Upper Holker

Parish Council
(warded)

2

129

65

136

68

Cartmel

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

50
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Draft recommendations
There are two recommendations we are seeking views on for Lower Allithwaite Parish Council.
A)
We would like to seek views on reducing the number of councillors on Lower Allithwaite Parish Council to TEN. The split of councillors we are
proposing is outlined below:
 Allithwaite ward
SIX councillors
 Cartmel ward
THREE councillors
 Upper Holker ward
ONE councillor
Lower Allithwaite Parish Council currently has 15 councillors. It has, in recent years, carried many vacancies. The forecasted electorate is 1,569. In the
terms of reference for this Community Governance Review we say we will have regard to government research which shows that a parish council of
this size should have between six and twelve parish councillors. We have recommended the number of TEN to ensure a greater electoral equality
between each ward and to provide effective and convenient local governance.

Page 229

B)
We would like to seek views on altering the election cycle of Lower Allithwaite Parish Council to ensure that the elections are held on the same
cycle as the South Lakeland district election cycles for the wards of Grange and Cartmel. We propose Lower Allithwaite Parish Council holds elections
in 2020 to begin the new cycle of elections, with subsequent elections held every four years.
As a result of the further electoral review carried out by the LGBCE, Allithwaite Parish Council is part of both Grange and Cartmel district wards.
Cartmel is a two-member ward with a fallow year in 2019 (and every four years subsequent to this). Lower Allithwaite Parish Council has its scheduled
elections in 2019 and, in the two wards belonging to the Cartmel district ward, is not able to combine these elections and get the cost benefits that
combined elections bring.
The recommendation means there will be elections in 2019 and 2020, though it also ensures that the benefits afforded by the first recommendation, to
reduce councillor numbers, can be realised quickly.
This recommendation is made to provide effective and convenient local governance.

51
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lower Holker

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

1,415

203

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,377

197

Cartmel

Page 230

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

52
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lowick

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

209

42

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

209

42

Broughton & Coniston

Comments

Page 231

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

53
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Lupton

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

144

29

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

144

29

Burton & Crooklands

Page 232

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

54
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Mansergh

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Mansergh

Parish Meeting

0

120

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

120

0

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Comments

Page 233

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes

55
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Middleton

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Middleton

Parish Meeting

0

109

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

102

0

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Page 234

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

56
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Milnthorpe

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

9

1,637

182

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,553

173

Arnside & Milnthorpe

Comments

Page 235

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

57
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Natland

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

804

115

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

966

138

Kendal South & natland

Page 236

Comments
Submission received from Natland Parish Council.
Natland Parish Council submitted a comprehensive list of comments which can be read on request – see Appendix 2 (E) and 2 (G).
In summary, and following the draft recommendations below, there comments were:
A) This should remain part of Natland Parish Council due to the separation of the new properties from the current Kendal boundary by a number of
older properties with links to the Natland community. Comments here also questioned whether the development plan boundary should be used
as a factor determining any new boundaries. This comment also questioned the boundary going round industrial development land at
Watercrook.
B) and C) The comments made suggested the idea of moving the boundary to exclude new development land from Natland Parish Council had
some merit, with some specific concerns around existing housing. The comments went on to support the potential creation of a new parish
council at Oxenholme, and that these areas of development land may be better served in a newly created parish council, rather than in the
Oxenholme ward of Kendal Town Council.

Draft recommendations

58
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1
We are seeking views on a number of boundary changes to the parish of Natland. These recommendations are made to ensure community
governance is reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area.
We acknowledge the comments made by Natland Parish Council and feel that making these recommendations allows for a fuller consultation in phase
two of the Community Governance Review, giving us a better basis on which to make final recommendations.
A) Development land adjoining Stonecross, Heron Hill and Oxenholme wards
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Natland Parish Council to align, broadly, with the Development Plan boundary in this area. Any
residential development would form part of the Stonecross ward of the parish of Kendal. The attached map shows the proposed new boundary
between Kendal Town Council and Natland Parish Council.
B) Land at Rochester Gardens adjoining Oxenholme ward

Page 237

We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Natland Parish Council to align with the Development Plan boundary in this area. The properties
comprising of Rochester Gardens would form part of the Oxenholme ward of the Parish of Kendal. The attached map shows the proposed new
boundary between Kendal Town Council and Natland Parish Council.
C) Development land adjoining Oxenholme ward
We are proposing altering the parish boundary of Natland Parish Council to align with the Development Plan boundary in this area. Any residential
development would form part of the Oxenholme ward of the parish of Kendal. It will also affect one property, Overdale, which will move from
Natland Parish Council into the Oxenholme ward of Kendal Town Council. The attached map shows the proposed new boundary between Kendal
Town Council and Natland Parish Council.

59
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

New Hutton

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

295

59

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

287

58

Kendal Rural

Page 238

Comments
Submission received from Parish Council:
‘At its meeting on 22-10-2018, New Hutton Parish Council resolved that no change is needed in its governance’.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

60
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Old Hutton & Holmescales

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

342

69

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

357

72

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 239

Submission from Parish Council:
‘At its meeting on the 18th October 2018, Old Hutton & Holmescales Parish Council resolved that no change is needed in the governance of the
parish’.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

61
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Pennington
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 240

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Pennington:
Pennington

Parish Council
(warded)

2

305

153

281

141

Furness Peninsula

Pennington:
Swarthmoor

Parish Council
(warded)

5

1,314

263

1,317

264

Furness Peninsula

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

62
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Preston Patrick

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

338

49

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

313

45

Burton & Crooklands

Comments

Page 241

Submission received from Preston Patrick Parish Council:
‘Preston Patrick Parish Council has no requests for changes to their electoral arrangements’.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

63
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Preston Richard

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

8

1,012

127

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,061

133

Burton & Crooklands

Page 242

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

64
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Satterthwaite

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

176

36

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

176

36

Broughton & Coniston

Comments

Page 243

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

65
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Sedbergh

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

11

1,914

174

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

1,983

181

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale

Page 244

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

66
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Sedgwick

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

6

294

49

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

283

48

Burton & Crooklands

Comments

Page 245

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

67
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Skelsmergh & Scathwaiterigg
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 246

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Skelsmergh &
Scathwaiterigg:
Scalthwaiterigg

Parish Council
(warded)

2

82

41

78

39

Kendal Rural

Skelsmergh &
Scathwaiterigg:
Skelsmergh

Parish Council
(warded)

5

251

51

221

45

Kendal Rural

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

68
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Skelwith
Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

111

23

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

124

25

Ambleside & Grasmere

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Page 247

Draft recommendations
We are seeking views on altering the election cycle of Skelwith Parish Council to ensure that the elections are held on the same day as South
Lakeland district elections for the ward of Ambleside & Grasmere. We propose Skelwith Parish Council holds elections in 2023 to begin the new cycle
of elections, with subsequent elections held every four years.
As a result of the further electoral review carried out by the LGBCE, Skelwith Parish Council sat within the ward of Ambleside & Grasmere. Ambleside
& Grasmere is a two-member ward with a fallow year in 2020 (and every four years after this). Skelwith Parish Council has its scheduled elections in
2020 and is therefore not able to realise the cost benefits that combining parish and district elections bring.
The recommendation means there will be elections for Skelwith Parish Council in 2020, though the councillors will serve a shortened term of three
years, with new elections in 2023. These elections will align Skelwith Parish Council elections with Ambleside & Grasmere district ward elections from
then on.

69
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Stainton

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

269

54

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

266

54

Burton & Crooklands

Page 248

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

70
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Staveley-in-Cartmel

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

362

73

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

349

70

Cartmel

Comments

Page 249

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

71
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Staveley-with-Ings
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 250

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Staveley-With-Ings:
Hugill

Parish Council
(grouped)

4

361

91

361

91

Kendal Rural

Staveley-With-Ings:
Nether Staveley

Parish Council
(grouped)

4

596

149

616

154

Kendal Rural

Stavely-With-Ings:
Over Staveley

Parish Council
(grouped)

4

402

101

402

101

Kendal Rural

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

72
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Torver

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

5

105

21

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

105

21

Broughton & Coniston

Comments

Page 251

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

73
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Ulverston
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 252

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Ulverston: Central

Town Council
(warded)

3

1,418

473

1,424

475

Ulverston East

Ulverston: East

Town Council
(warded)

3

1,722

574

1,837

613

Ulverston East

Ulverston: North

Town Council
(warded)

3

1,618

540

1,618

540

Ulverston West

Ulverston: South

Town Council
(warded)

3

1,477

493

1,630

544

Ulverston West

Ulverston: Town

Town Council
(warded)

3

1,444

482

1,333

445

Ulverston East

Ulverston: West

Town Council
(warded)

3

1,484

495

1,501

501

Ulverston West

74
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Comments
No comments were received

Draft recommendations
No changes
Though we are recommending no changes to the electoral arrangements for Ulverston Town Council, we are aware of wishes to alter the names of the
wards to give them a clearer description and better reflect community identities.
We would recommend any suggestions in phase two of the consultation.

Page 253
75
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Underbarrow & Bradleyfield

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Unwarded

Parish Council

7

307

44

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

307

44

Bowness & Levens

Page 254

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

76
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Urswick, Bardsea & Stainton
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 255

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Urswick, Bardsea
& Stainton:
Bardsea

Parish Council
(warded)

2

290

145

271

136

Furness Peninsula

Urswick, Bardsea
& Stainton:
Stainton

Parish Council
(warded)

1

190

190

172

172

Furness Peninsula

Urswick, Bardsea
& Stainton: Urswick

Parish Council
(warded)

5

661

133

661

133

Furness Peninsula

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

77
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Whinfell

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Whinfell

Parish Meeting

0

143

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

143

0

Kendal Rural

Page 256

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

78
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Whitwell & Selside

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Whitwell & Selside

Parish Meeting

0

164

0

Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

160

0

Kendal Rural

Comments

Page 257

No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
We are seeking views on a recommendation to amalgamate Selside & Whitwell Parish with Fawcett Forest Parish – see Appendix 2 (B).
Fawcett Forest parish has a very small electorate and has a recent history of not meeting, leading to the Monitoring Officer at South Lakeland District
Council being appointed by auditors to sign off its accounts.
Given this, we are proposing to create a new Parish which amalgamates the parish of Fawcett Forest with the parish of Whitwell & Selside. The new
parish would have a predicted electorate of 183.
We recommend that the new parish is named Selside Parish, and that the parish shall not have a parish council, but a parish meeting.

79
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Windermere
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 258

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Windermere:
Applethwaite

Town Council
(warded)

4

1,291

323

1,529

383

Windermere

Windermere:
Bowness North

Town Council
(warded)

6

1,757

293

1,858

310

Windermere

Windermere:
Bowness South

Town Council
(warded)

4

1,335

334

1,346

337

Bowness & Levens

Windermere:
Windermere Town

Town Council
(warded)

6

1,632

272

1,632

272

Windermere

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

80
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Draft recommendations
We would like to seek views on reducing the number of councillors on Windermere Town Council to THIRTEEN. The split of councillors we are
proposing is outlined below:





Applethwaite ward
Bowness North ward
Bowness South ward
Windermere Town ward

THREE councillors
FOUR councillors
THREE councillors
THREE councillors

Windermere Town Council currently has 20 councillors. It has, in recent years, carried many vacancies and has a history of uncontested elections. The
forecasted electorate is 6,346. As per the terms of reference for this Community Governance Review we will have regard to government research
which shows that a parish council of this size should have between nine and sixteen parish councillors. We have recommended the number of
THIRTEEN to ensure a greater electoral equality between each ward.

Page 259

For this recommendation to take effect we would have to apply to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) to make a
consequential change. There are no proposals to alter any boundaries, however the electoral arrangements for Windermere Town Council were
considered as part of the further electoral review and as such are protected under law from five years after this review. It will be for the LGBCE to
decide, following receipt of the proposals, if a reduction in councillor numbers should be made and when it should be implemented.

81
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Appendix 1

Witherslack, Meathop & Ulpha
Predicted
electorate
2023

Predicted
number of
electors per
councillor
2023

District ward

Page 260

Ward name (if
applicable)

Type of parish
council or
meeting

Number of
councillors

Electorate at
3 September
2018

Electors per
councillor at
3 September
2018

Witherslack,
Meathop & Ulpha:
Meathop & Ulpha

Parish Council
(warded)

2

115

58

115

58

Bowness & Levens

Witherslack,
Meathop & Ulpha:
Witherslack

Parish Council
(warded)

5

393

79

393

79

Bowness & Levens

Comments
No comments received regarding this parish during stage one of the review.

Draft recommendations
No changes.

82
Community Governance Review 2018 -2019
Draft Recommendations Report

Page 261

Page 262

Page 263

Page 264

Page 265

Page 266

Page 267

Page 268

Appendix 3

South Lakeland District Council Community
Governance Review
Terms of Reference
A review of parishes under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007

Contents
BACKGROUND .................................................................................................................... 3
What is a Community Governance Review? ......................................................................... 3
Why is South Lakeland District Council undertaking this review? .......................................... 3
What does a Parish Council do? ........................................................................................... 4
Who will undertake the review? ............................................................................................. 4
CONSULTATION .................................................................................................................. 5
How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review ............................. 5
Timeline of the Review ...................................................................................................... 5
Review Stages .................................................................................................................. 6
ELECTORAL FORECASTS .................................................................................................. 7
PARISH AREAS ................................................................................................................... 7
Parishes ............................................................................................................................ 7
Boundaries ........................................................................................................................ 7
Viability .............................................................................................................................. 8
THE GROUPING OF PARISHES.......................................................................................... 8
Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 8
General Principles ............................................................................................................. 8
Other Matters – Styles and Parish Councillors................................................................... 8
NAMES AND STYLES .......................................................................................................... 8
The Naming of Parishes .................................................................................................... 8
Alternative Styles ............................................................................................................... 9
ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS .......................................................................................... 9
What are electoral arrangements?..................................................................................... 9
Parish Council or Parish Meeting?..................................................................................... 9
What considerations cover the number of parish councillors? ........................................... 9
Parish Warding ................................................................................................................ 10
The Number and Boundaries of Parish Wards................................................................. 10
The Number of Councillors to be Elected for Parish Wards ............................................. 11
1
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 269

Appendix 3
Naming of Parish Wards .................................................................................................. 11
REORGANISATION OF COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE ORDERS AND COMMENCEMENT
........................................................................................................................................... 11
CONSEQUENTIAL MATTERS ........................................................................................... 12
General Principles ........................................................................................................... 12
DATE OF PUBLICATION OF THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE ....................................... 12

2
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 270

Appendix 3

BACKGROUND
South Lakeland District Council has resolved to undertake a Community Governance
Review (CGR) of the whole of the District.
In undertaking the Review, the Council will be guided by Part 4 of the Local Government and
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (referred to as ‘the 2007 Act’), the relevant parts of
the Local Government Act 1972, Guidance on CGRs, issued in accordance with Section
100(4) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, by the
Department of Communities and Local Government and the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England in March 2010. Also the following Regulations which guide, in
particular, consequential matters arising from the Review: Local Government (Parishes and
Parish Councils) (England) Regulations 2008 (SI2008/625); Local Government Finance
(New Parishes) Regulations 2008 (SI2008/626). (The 2007 Act transferred powers to
principal councils which previously, under the Local Government Act 1997, had been shared
with the Electoral Commission’s Boundary Committee for England.) Section 81 of the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires the Council to publish its
Terms of Reference in a Review, clearly setting out the focus of the Review. This document
will fulfil this requirement.
The Council is also required to have regard to guidance on CGRs issued by the Secretary of
State for Communities and Local Government. This guidance was published in March 2010
and has been carefully considered when drawing up the Terms of Reference and timetable.

What is a Community Governance Review?
A CGR is a legal process whereby Councils can consider the following:





creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes,
the naming of parishes and the style of any new parishes,
the electoral arrangements for parishes, i.e. the ordinary year of election, council
size, the number of councillors to be elected to the council and parish warding,
grouping of parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping parishes.

A CGR must reflect the identities and interests of communities and should take into account
the impact of community governance arrangements on community cohesion and the size,
population and boundaries of a local community or parish.

Why is South Lakeland District Council undertaking this review?
A CGR provides an opportunity for principal councils to review and make changes to
community governance in their areas. Such reviews can be undertaken when there have
been changes in population or in reaction to specific, or new local issues to ensure that the
community governance for the area continues to be effective and convenient and reflects the
identities and interests of the communities involved.
The Government has emphasised that any recommendations made in a CGR should bring
about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better local
democracy and result in improved effective and convenient delivery of local services. The
Council will take all these factors into account as part of this review.
3
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 271

Appendix 3
Government guidance also states that it is good practice to conduct a full CGR at least every
10-15 years and keep the area under review in the meantime.
South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) believes that parish councils play an important role
in terms of community empowerment at local level and wishes to ensure that parish
governance in the District continues to be robust, representative and able to meet any future
challenges. Furthermore, it wishes to ensure that clarity and transparency exist at this level
of governance and that the electoral arrangements of all parishes are appropriate, equitable
and understood by their electorate.
The Council last undertook a full review during 2013. It received representations from some
Parishes in 2014 to consider a further community governance review but had also received
notification from the Local Government Boundary Commission (“the Boundary Commission”)
for England (LGBCE) that it was to undertake a further electoral review. The advice at that
time was not to proceed with a Community Governance Review at the same time as an
electoral review. The outcome of the review of the National Park boundaries was also
awaited and therefore any further review was considered premature and Council in
September 2014 resolved that “the Council does not undertake a further Community
Governance Review at this time but that officers look at a timetable for a review to
commence by March 2017”.
A further report to Council in March 2017 resolved that it would be appropriate to facilitate a
District-wide Community Governance Review after the implementation of the new District
Ward boundaries, following the May 2018 elections.

What does a Parish Council do?
Parish Councils are the most local form of government. They collect money from council tax
payers (via the District Council) known as a “precept” and this is used to invest in the area to
improve services or facilities. Parish Councils can take different forms but usually are made
up of local people who stand for election as Parish Councillors to represent their area. They
can be the voice of the local community and work with other tiers of government and
external organisations to co-ordinate and deliver services and work to improve the quality of
life in the area.
The Council wants to ensure that parishes are viable and possess a precept that enables
them to actively and effectively promote the well-being of their residents and to contribute to
the real provision of services in their areas in an economic and efficient manner.

Who will undertake the review?
As the principal council, the District Council is responsible for undertaking any CGR in its
electoral area. The Council will approve the final recommendations before a Community
Governance Order is made.
The main contacts for the review are:
 Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources
 Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer
 Tom Benson, Electoral Services Manager

4
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 272

Appendix 3

CONSULTATION
How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review
These terms of reference provide the aims of the review, the legislation that guides the
process, and the points that the council views as important in the process.
During the review, the Council will have regard to any local residents’ associations,
community forums or area committees, or other such community representation or
engagement, that exist who make a distinct contribution to the community of that area.
Before making any recommendations or publishing final proposals, the council will take full
account of the views of local people and will comply with the statutory consultative
requirements by:






Consulting local government electors in the Parishes,
Consulting any other person or body (including other relevant local authorities and
parish councils) which appears to the council to have an interest in the review,
Taking into account any representations received in connection with the review,
Notifying consultees of the outcome of the review,
Publishing all decisions taken and the reasons for such decisions.

Information about each stage of the review will be published on the Council’s website with
key documents available to view at South Lakeland House, Kendal, and the Town Hall,
Ulverston. Press releases or adverts will be published where appropriate. The Council will
also make use of the online consultation database to enable comments to be made online as
well as in writing.

Timeline of the Review
Under legislation a CGR must be completed within a 12 month period from the day on which
it commences. The CGR begins when the council publishes its terms of reference and
concludes when it publishes the recommendations made in the review.
The stages for the review are shown below. A timeline and task list can also be view here.

5
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 273

Appendix 3

Review Stages
Stage

Action

Timescale

Commencement Terms of Reference are
published and stakeholders
notified with clear definition
of remit of review.
Preliminary
Local briefings and
Stage
meetings.
Stage One
Initial submissions invited
from stakeholders on future
arrangements under terms
of reference.
Stage Two
Considerations of
submissions received.
Draft recommendations
prepared.
Draft recommendations to
be considered by council.
Stage Three

Stage Four

Draft recommendations
published and stakeholders
notified.
Further consultation with
stakeholders.
Consideration of final
submissions received.
Final recommendations
prepared.
Final recommendations
published concluding the
review.
Final recommendations to
be considered by Council
and decision made on
arrangements with
resolution to make a Reorganisation Order.
Re-Organisation order
made.

Dates
24th July 2018 –
Full Council
Meeting.

One Month

August 2018

Three Months

September –
November 2018

Two Months

December –
January 2019

Three Months

18th December
2018 – Full
Council Meeting
March – May 2019

Two Months

June – July 2019

23rd July 2019 –
Full Council

One Month Later

August 2019

6
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 274

Appendix 3

ELECTORAL FORECASTS
When considering the electoral arrangements of the parishes in the area, the Council must
consider any likely future change in the number or distribution of electors within five years
from the day the review commences.
Electorate forecasts have been prepared using all available information. Appendix 2 uses
the same Electorate Forecasting Methodology that was applied as part of the Local
Government Boundary Review. This methodology uses:


the 2015 electoral figures and the previous five year electorate figures at Polling
District level,
the number of new dwellings built in the five years prior to 2015 at Polling District
level,
the total number of dwellings in 2015 at Polling District level,
the number of new dwellings forecasted to be built in the five years following
2015 at Polling District level.





Officers are recommending that the 2015 data set be applied to this review, as it was used to
establish the new wards and is the most accurate.

PARISH AREAS
This part of a review covers the creation of new parishes, the alteration of parish boundaries
and the abolition of existing parishes. Legislation requires that the Council must ensure that
community governance within the area:



reflects the identities and interests of the communities in the area,
is effective and convenient and takes into account any other arrangements for the
purposes of community representation or community engagement in the area.

Parishes
The Council considers that parishes should reflect distinctive and recognisable communities
of interest, with their own sense of identity; ensuring that electors are able to clearly identify
with the parish in which they are resident, creating a common interest in parish affairs which
will, in turn, encourage participation in parish elections.

Boundaries
The Council considers that parish boundaries reflect the areas between communities with
low populations or pronounced physical barriers such as rivers and mountains or man-made
features such as railways or motorways. These barriers can result in the residents on either
side having little in common with each other and this possibility will be considered. ‘Natural’
settlements or settlements as they are defined in the Local Plan should not, in normal
circumstances, be partitioned by parish boundaries. If any changes are required to
boundaries, the Council will endeavour to select boundaries that are, and are likely to
remain, easily identifiable.

7
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 275

Appendix 3

Viability
The Council wishes to ensure that parishes are viable and that their precept enables them to
actively and effectively promote the well-being of their residents and to contribute to the real
provision of services in their areas in an economic and efficient manner. This review aims to
ensure that the parishes within South Lakeland reflect community identity and interest and
are viable as administrative units.

THE GROUPING OF PARISHES
Introduction
Grouping orders are permitted under Section 11 of the Local Government Act 1972 and
parishes grouped can be seen as a working alliance with the electors of each of the grouped
parishes electing a designated number of councillors to the council. Grouping parish councils
can be effective in ensuring parish government where small parishes are not viable on their
own but allows their separate community identity to continue.

General Principles
The Council notes that, under the Act, smaller new parishes of less than 150 electors will be
unable to establish their own parish council but that it may be possible to group some
parishes together to create a grouped parish council without changing parish boundaries,
creating new parishes or abolishing very small parishes, which still reflect community
identity, all of which may go against the wishes of the residents of the affected areas.

Other Matters – Styles and Parish Councillors
If a Reorganisation Order intends to form a group, add a parish to an existing group of
parishes or de-group a parish or group, legislation permits the provision of alternative styles
but, if a parish is removed from a group it must retain the style it had in the group until the
parish council or meeting resolved to change the style.
Where a group is to be formed by a Reorganisation Order, add a parish to an existing group
of parishes or de-group a parish or group, the Council will take into account equitability when
considering the number of councillors to be elected by each parish.

NAMES AND STYLES
The Naming of Parishes
With regard to the names of parishes, the Council will endeavour to reflect existing local or
historic place-names and will consider any ward names proposed by local interested parties.
The Council will be mindful of Section 76 of the Local Government Act 1972 with regard to
the naming of parishes and subsequent notification along with Sections 87 and 88 of the
2007 Act and relevant guidance.

8
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 276

Appendix 3

Alternative Styles
Alternative styles for parishes were introduced by the 2007 Act which could replace the
‘parish’ style. However, only one of three styles can be adopted, i.e. community,
neighbourhood or village. In addition, the style of ‘town’ is still available to a parish but for as
long as a parish has an alternative style it will not be able to also have the status of a town
and vice versa.
If an existing parish is under review, the Council will make recommendations as to whether
the geographical name of the parish should change but it will be for the parish council or
parish meeting to resolve whether the parish should have one of the alternative styles.
If a new parish is to be created, the Council would make recommendations as to the
geographical name of the new parish and whether or not it should have one of the
alternative styles.

ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS
What are electoral arrangements?
The ordinary year of election is every four years as stated in the Local Government Act
1972. However, where the electorate cycle for a district council is in thirds (as in South
Lakeland) the parish electoral cycle should coincide with the district cycle so the costs of
elections can be shared.

Parish Council or Parish Meeting?
The Council has a duty to create, or not, a parish council and must follow the guidance laid
down in legislation as follows:




where the number of electors is 1,000 or more a parish council must be created,
where the number of electors is 151-999 a parish council may be created, with a
parish meeting being the alternative form of governance,
where the number of electors is 150 or fewer a parish council is not created.

What considerations cover the number of parish councillors?
The Government’s advice is that, as an important demographic principle, each person’s vote
should be of equal weight so far as possible, having regard to other legitimate competing
factors, when electing parish councillors. This Council agrees with this principle and will take
this into account during the review also having regard to current and historical factors, along
with the fact that there should be not less than five councillors for each parish council. There
is no maximum number and no rules relating to the allocations of councillors. However, each
parish grouped under a common parish council must have at least one parish councillor.
Legislation dictates that the Council must have regard to the following factors when
considering the number of councillors to be elected for a parish:



the number of local government electors for the parish,
any change in that number which is likely to occur in the period of five years
beginning with the day when the review starts.
9

South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 277

Appendix 3
The table below is research guidance on the levels of representation for parish councils.
Electorate
Less than 500
501-2,500
2,501-10,000
10,001 – 20,000
Greater than 20,000

Councillor Allocation
5–8
6 – 12
9 – 16
13 – 27
13 – 31

The Government’s guidance is that each area should be considered on its own merits,
having regard to population, geography and the pattern of communities. Therefore, the
Council will pay particular attention to existing levels of representation, the overall pattern of
existing council sizes which have stood the test of time and the take-up of seats at elections
when considering this aspect. However, the Council acknowledges that there are exceptions
to every ‘rule’ and each area will be considered individually.

Parish Warding
The Council is required to consider the following points when deliberating whether a parish
should be divided into wards for the purposes of elections:
•
•

whether the number or distribution of the local government electors for the parish
would make a single election of councillors impracticable or inconvenient,
whether it is desirable that any area, or areas, of the parish should be separately
represented on the council.

The Government’s guidance is that warding of parishes may not be justified for largely rural
areas based predominantly on a single centrally-located village. Conversely, warding may be
appropriate where a parish encompasses a number of villages with separate identities or
where there has been urban overspill at the edge of a town into a parish.
The Council will be mindful of community identities in both rural and urban parishes, with the
latter possibly more likely to benefit from warding where community identify focuses on an
area such as a housing estate, and will endeavour to ensure that any warding arrangements
reflect local circumstances and are clearly and readily understood by the electorate.
It should be noted that ward elections should have merit, not only should they meet the two
tests given above, but should also be in the interests of effective and convenient local
government. They should not be wasteful of a parish’s resources.

The Number and Boundaries of Parish Wards
In respect of the number and boundaries of any parish wards, the Council will take into
account the criteria stated above, in particular the community identity and interests in an
area, but also whether any particular ties or links might be broken by the drawing of
particular ward boundaries. Parish wards must be easily identifiable and remain so in the
future.
Any recommendations which are intended to reflect community identities and links will be
supported by relevant evidence.
Although the Government’s guidance is that district wards and county electoral divisions
should not split an unwarded parish and that no parish ward should be split by such a
10
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 278

Appendix 3
boundary, the relevant legal provisions do not apply to reviews of parish electoral
arrangements. However, the Council will bear this in mind as requested by the LGBCE.

The Number of Councillors to be Elected for Parish Wards
The Council will take into account the following when considering the size and boundaries of
any parish wards and the number of councillors to be elected for each ward:



the number of local government electors for the parish,
any change in the number, or distribution, of the local government electors which is
likely to occur in the period of five years beginning with the day the review
commences.

The guidance advises that as an important democratic principle, each person’s vote should
be of equal weight so far as possible, having regard to other legitimated competing factors,
when it comes to the election of councillors. Although there is no provision in legislation that
each parish councillor should represent, as near as possible, the same number of electors,
the Council considers that it is not in the interests of effective and convenient local
government, either for voters or councillors, to have significant differences in levels of
representation between different parish wards.
Likewise, the Council wishes to avoid the risk that, where one or more wards of a parish are
over-represented by councillors, the residents of those wards (and their councillors) could be
perceived as having more influence than others on the council. Consequently, during the
review, the Council will show the ratios of electors to councillors that would result from any
proposals.
The same principle of equitability will apply when consideration is given to the number of
councillors to be elected to a common parish council by each parish within a grouping
arrangement.

Naming of Parish Wards
With regard to the names of parish wards, the Council will endeavour to reflect existing local
or historic place-names and will consider any ward names proposed by local interested
parties.

REORGANISATION OF COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE ORDERS AND
COMMENCEMENT
The review will be completed when the Council adopts the Reorganisation of Community
Governance Order. Copies of the Order, maps detailing the effects of the Order, and the
documents setting out the reasons for all decisions made whether for change or no change,
will be deposited and published in the same manner as at each stage of the review.
In accordance with the Government’s guidance, the Council will issue maps to illustrate each
recommendation at a scale not less than 1:10,000 wherever possible. These maps will be
deposited with the Secretary of State at the Department of Communities and Local
Government and at the Council’s offices at South Lakeland House, Kendal. In accordance
with regulations. Prints will also be supplied, , to Ordnance Survey, the Registrar General,
the Land Registry, the Valuation Office Agency, the Boundary Commission for England and
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England.
11
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 279

Appendix 3
The Order is scheduled to take effect on 1 September 2019 but any changes to electoral
arrangements for existing parishes will come into force at the next ordinary elections for the
parish council.
However, if these elections are not for some time, the Council may resolve to modify or
exclude the application of Sections 16(3) and 90 of the Local Government Act 1972 to
provide for an earlier election with councillors serving a shortened term of office to allow the
parish electoral cycle to return to that of the District.

CONSEQUENTIAL MATTERS
General Principles
The Council notes that a Reorganisation Order may cover any consequential matters that
appear to the Council to be necessary or proper to give effect to the Order, including:


the transfer and management or custody of property,



the setting of precepts for new parishes,



provision with respect to the transfer of any functions, property, rights and liabilities,



provision for the transfer of staff, compensation for loss of office, pensions and other
staffing matters.

In these matters, the Council will be guided by regulations that have been issued following
the 2007 Act including those regarding the transfer of property, rights and liabilities which
require that any apportionments shall use the population of the area as estimated by the
proper officer of the Council as an appropriate proportion. The Council also notes Regulation
3 of the Local Government Finance (New Parishes) Regulations 2008 regarding the
establishment of a precept for a new parish and their requirements.
Where any such consequential matters affect Cumbria County Council, the Council will also
seek the views of that council with regard to alterations to electoral division boundaries in
accordance with the Government’s guidance.

DATE OF PUBLICATION OF THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE
These Terms of Reference will be published on 24 July 2018.

12
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Page 280

Item No.15
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Friday, 26 April 2019

Draft Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19
Portfolio:

Cllr Vicky Hughes – Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Report from:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Anthea Lowe – Solicitor to the Council

Wards:

Not applicable

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be able to demonstrate the work that it
has undertaken during the 2018/19 municipal year and the value it has added. It will
also be able to outline the work planned for the municipal year 2019/20.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves the
draft Scrutiny report attached at Appendix 1 for referral to Full Council, subject
to any relevant updates following this meeting.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Article 6.04 (Overview and Scrutiny) of the Council’s Constitution requires that the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee must report annually to Council on its work, with
recommendations for its future work programme and any amended working methods,
if appropriate.

3.2

The Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19 looks back at the work of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee over the past twelve months, as well as looking forward to the
year ahead. The report demonstrates that effective scrutiny is taking place, in line
with good governance, but that more precise timetabling of reviews would be
beneficial in ensuring that resources can be allocated to ensure that the work
programme can be completed on time.

3.3

It is anticipated that, subject to the approval of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
the final Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19 will be presented to Council at its annual
meeting on 21 May 2019. Those areas of the report highlighted in yellow will be
updated, in consultation with the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
prior to its submission to Full Council.

3.4

Each year, a review is undertaken of the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. Since 2017, the scrutiny effectiveness review has used a checklist
framework based upon that used by the Audit Committee. The Review of
Effectiveness 2018/19 can be found elsewhere on this agenda.

Page 281

4.0

Consultation

4.1

The Scrutiny Annual Report has been produced in consultation with the Chairman
and Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required by the Council’s Constitution to
produce an annual report. Members could choose to amend the content of the report
prior to its consideration by Council in May 2019.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s broad remit and varied work programme
means that its work often links to all of the priorities and targets set out within the
current Council Plan.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no financial or resource implications arising from this report. The work
undertaken by scrutiny needs to provide value for money and make the best use of
available resources.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. However, it should
be noted that items on the work programme, such as Task & Finish Groups and
Workshops can have an impact upon staffing resources.

Legal
7.3

There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny
committee. In order to ensure that the work of the committee adds value to the work
of the Council and underpins the Council Plan priorities, it is important that the
committee is effective in its role.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
is a look back at the work undertaken over the past twelve months.

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
is a look back at the work undertaken over the past twelve months.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

An annual report is not
produced.

Failure to maintain
constitutional
requirements. The
opportunity to consider
and promote the work of
the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee is lost.

A comprehensive and
timely annual report is
produced.

Page 282

Contact Officers
Anthea Lowe – Solicitor to the Council anthea.lowe@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19

Background Documents Available
None.
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
SMT

Date sent
Report author
27 March 2019
27 March 2019
11 April 2019

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
27 March 2019
N/A
N/A
26 April 2019
N/A
N/A

Page 283

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 284

Appendix 1

SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

Page 285

Contents
Chairman’s foreword ......................................................................................................... 3
Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 3
Year in Review: Overview and Scrutiny 2018/19 ............................................................... 4
Looking ahead to 2019/20 ................................................................................................. 6
Scrutiny Contact Details .................................................................................................... 6

Page 286

Chairman’s foreword
As a non-partisan committee, an important aspect of Overview & Scrutiny’s role is to
support, challenge and maximise the effectiveness of South Lakeland District Council and its
working relationship with partners across the local and wider communities it serves.
2018/19 has been a year of change in many areas as noted within this report but despite
this, Overview & Scrutiny has continued to take a proactive approach to matters concerning
the Council and its residents, adding value in its ability to make a positive contribution to
work throughout the district.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Overview & Scrutiny members, officers and all
South Lakeland District Council partners for their important commitment and contribution
over the past year, ensuring our district continues to work with its partners to make South
Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore.
Councillor Vicky Hughes, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Introduction
Welcome to the Scrutiny Annual Report for South Lakeland District Council (SLDC). The
report sets out the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee between April 2018 and
March 2019.
Scrutiny is a key tool for promoting the best interests and wellbeing of the area and seeks to
ensure that local people receive high quality services that meet their needs. The Overview
and Scrutiny Committee does this by acting as a ‘critical friend’ to the Cabinet, holding it to
account and providing challenge where necessary. Scrutiny also plays a key role in the
areas of policy review and development; by considering topics such as the Asset
Management Strategy and the updated Council Plan at an early stage in their development,
scrutiny can add real value before a final decision is made by Cabinet.
Amongst the roles of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee set out within the Council’s
Constitution is an opportunity for scrutiny to “consider any matters which affects the
Council’s area or its communities”. This theme has been constant throughout the work of
scrutiny during 2018/19 and, building on the work of past Committees, inviting partners to
attend reviews and meetings to provide a broader perspective, reflecting the Council’s wider
reach as leader in the district, has continued to prove valuable
In 2017/18, the Performance Sub-Committee was dissolved with those responsibilities being
transferred back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. That change continues to have
positive effects with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee taking full ownership of its
returned monitoring responsibilities and each meeting having a more ‘joined-up’ approach
being able to monitor performance whilst, at the same time, scrutinise and challenge
decisions that might impact upon performance.

Page 287

Last year’s Scrutiny Annual Report made reference to the change in ward boundaries which
were implemented in May 2018. The effect of these changes will continue to be monitored
as time progresses particularly with a view to the proposed locality working arising out of the
Customer Connect programme.
As the value of South Lakeland District Council’s scrutiny function becomes increasingly well
recognised both internally and externally, its ability to make a difference to the work of the
Council and to residents becomes ever stronger. An effective, balanced and timely 2019/20
Work Programme will continue to further the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s work to
assist the Council in realising its ultimate aim of“ working together to make South Lakeland
the best place to live, work and explore.”
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Membership
Pat Bell
Helen Chaffey
Brian Cooper
Anne Hall
Hazel Hodgson
Vicky Hughes (Chairman)
Anne Hutton
Janette Jenkinson
Ian Mitchell
Doug Rathbone (Vice-Chairman)
Vivienne Rees
Mark Wilson

Year in Review: Overview and Scrutiny 2018/19
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee met six times between April 2018 and March 2019.
The Committee considered a wide variety of subjects over the course of those meetings,
including the Council’s draft budget, the draft Asset Management Strategy, the Cumbria
Public Health Strategy and the operation of the Northern Rail service within South Lakeland.
Although it was agreed in 2017/18 that the South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership
(CSP) updated the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on its work twice yearly at meetings in
October and April, due to availability of key contributors to the CSP, it was not possible for
an update to be given in October as planned. An update was given at the meeting in April
2019 as expected and….
No-deal Brexit Workshop (7 March 2019)
At the request of the Leader of the Council, an unplanned workshop was held on 7 March
2019 to consider the potential impacts of a ‘no-deal’ departure from the European Union.
The purposes of the workshop was threefold; to enable Members to gain an understanding
of how a ‘no-deal’ Brexit might impact upon the Council’s business and delivery of services,
to enable Members to gain an understanding of the mitigations in place to respond to such

Page 288

an event and to enable Members to gain an understanding of the mitigations that could be
put in place in the event of a no-deal Brexit. The workshop was attended by Members and
officers from South Lakeland District Council. The outcomes of that meeting were that
Members confirmed that they had assurances regarding the work that the Council had
undertaken to prepare for a no-deal Brexit and to hold a further workshop approximately 6
months after the country’s departure from the European Union to discuss any impacts
arising out of that.
Customer Connect Locality Working Task & Finish Group (commenced March 2019)
The first meeting in respect of the Customer Connect Locality Working Task & Finish Group
also took place on 7 March 2019. At this meeting, Members agreed the terms of reference
for the Task & Finish Group and also identified those organisations and/or individuals that
the group wished to hear from in order to inform its work. The purposes of the Task & Finish
Group are threefold; to identify new ways for the Council’s current functions to work together
more efficiently and effectively through locality working, to identify possible ways of working
within communities which can be developed as part of the Customer Connect project and to
identify the role and development of Members in locality working.
Asset Management Strategy Workshop (12 April 2018)
The Asset Management Strategy Workshop was reported to Full Council in last year’s
annual Scrutiny report. In that report, it was confirmed that suggestions arising out of the
Workshop would be considered by officers as part of the development of the draft Asset
Management Strategy. The draft Strategy was subsequently considered by the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee on 26 October 2018 and adopted by Cabinet, as the Property and
Land Management Strategy on 28 November 2018.
Effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should be an effective committee that can contribute
to the development of Council policies and also hold the Cabinet to account for its decisions.
Overview and scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way which contributes to the
efficient and effective service delivery which meets the needs and aspirations of the people
of South Lakeland. As such, an annual review is undertaken to ensure that the work of
scrutiny continues to be effective. Since 2016/17, the annual Review of Effectiveness has
mirrored the checklist methodology of the Audit Committee’s own effectiveness review.
The review concluded that the Committee continues to operate effectively in its overview and
scrutiny role, but that more precise timetabling of reviews would be beneficial in ensuring
that the work programme can be adequately addressed.
Call-in and Urgency Provisions
The call-in process may be used to challenge Executive decisions. Call-ins are only to be
used on an exceptional basis in line with paragraph 16 (a) to (i) of the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules. No call-in requests were received during 2018/19.
The urgency provisions can be used to waive the requirements of the Council’s Constitution
with regards to decision-making when an urgent decision is needed and it is not possible for

Page 289

the normal procedure to be followed to allow a decision to be made within a given timeframe.
During 2018/19, the urgency provisions were used once. This was in relation to the decision
as to whether or not the Council should express a desire to be part of a business rates
pooling pilot along with the other Cumbria authorities. A decision in this respect was made
by Cabinet in September 2018 CEX/33.

Looking Ahead to 2019/20
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed its work programme for 2019/20 at its
meeting on Friday, 26 April 2019. The topics selected for review are:- ***
With the Customer Connect programme progressing apace, the Council’s new ward
arrangements becoming embedded and Brexit potentially taking place, the 2019/20 council
year will no doubt prove to be a year of significant activity for scrutiny at South Lakeland.
This should be seen as an opportunity for scrutiny to build upon its unique ability within local
government to look strategically at topics which affect the area. Scrutiny will do this whilst
continuing to utilise partnership working, building networks and relationships and maximising
evidence gathering in a way few other committees could.

Scrutiny Contact Details
Anthea Lowe
Solicitor to the Council
01539 733333 scrutiny@southlakeland.gov.uk
More information on the scrutiny function, including agendas, minutes ongoing review work
and councillor details can be found on the Council’s website: www.southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 290

Item No.16
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Friday, 26 April 2019

Review of Effectiveness and Scrutiny
Recommendations Report
Portfolio:

Cllr Vicky Hughes – Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Report from:

David Sykes – Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Anthea Lowe – Solicitor to the Council

Wards:

N/A

Forward Plan:

N/A

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

By monitoring both the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
the progress made by Cabinet and officers in implementing the recommendations
made by the Committee, Members are able to ensure that maximum value is added
by scrutiny and retain sight of proposals and outcomes. The regular reviewing of
recommendations made by Members will also ensure that the effectiveness of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is both maintained and monitored.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the following:-

3.0

(1)

the findings of the Review of Effectiveness, as attached at Appendix 1;
and

(2)

the progress made by Cabinet in implementing the recommendations of
the Committee.

Background and Proposals
Review of Effectiveness

3.1

Each year, a review is undertaken of the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. This review is undertaken utilising a similar checklist framework to that
used by the Audit Committee. This effectiveness checklist is included as Appendix
1 to this report.

3.2

The review concludes that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has continued to be
effective over the past 12 months. Despite this, more accurate timetabling of
workshops/task and finish groups in the future would be beneficial in ensuring that
resources can be allocated to ensure that the work programme can be completed on
time. There are no other recommendations arising from the review of effectiveness.

Page 291

Scrutiny Recommendations Progress
3.3

Monitoring the progress of recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee to decision-makers is an important part of effective governance. In
addition to these biannual reports, the Committee receive verbal updates at meetings
throughout the year during consideration of the latest Work Programme.

3.4

During 2018/19, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has presented one formal
report to Cabinet arising out of the review of the Asset Management Strategy; this
later became the Property and Land Management Strategy 2019 – 2024 including
the creation of the Strategic Asset management Plan Board (CEX/62). The
recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were adopted by
Cabinet.

3.5

In addition to the consideration of the Asset Management Strategy, Overview and
Scrutiny Committee considered a number of other policy documents including, but
not limited to, the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, the Cost Recovery and
Hardship Policy in respect of Contaminated Land and the Cumbria Health Strategy.

3.6

As well as the formal recommendations made by the Committee, a number of
comments and/or suggestions were raised throughout various items considered at
committee meetings. In situations where these comments were raised against
executive items, these comments were highlighted during consideration by Cabinet.
Other changes requested of officers, for example in relation to grammatical or
presentational issues, were typically taken into account before the item was
presented to Cabinet. Throughout 2018/19, Portfolio Holders have shown a strong
commitment to the scrutiny process.

3.7

In March 2019, a Task and Finish Group held its first meeting on Customer Connect
Locality Working. This group is due to meet on at least 3 further occasions before
presenting its findings to the Committee.

3.8

Also in March 2019, a workshop was held to consider the possible impacts of a ‘nodeal Brexit’ on the Council’s business. A formal report will be presented to the
committee once central government has provided some clarity around any departure
from the European Union.

3.9

Finally, whilst not requiring any recommendations being made to Cabinet, the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has also paid attention to a number of issues
affecting the local community, including the performance of Northern Rail and the
effectiveness of the health offering within South Lakeland.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

This report has been prepared in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Council’s Corporate Management
Team.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

This report is to note. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee could choose not to
undertake regular monitoring of its effectiveness or the recommendations that it has
made. This is not recommended as the Committee will have no oversight of its
recommendations after they have been made.

5.2

Should the Committee feel that its recommendations are not being progressed
adequately it could request more regular updates from the relevant decision-maker.
It also has the power, under the Council’s Constitution, to request certain individuals
to attend a committee meeting and answer any questions that it puts to them.

Page 292

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The broad remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and its varied work
programme, mean that its work often links to all of the priorities and targets contained
within the Council Plan.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no direct staffing implications arising out of this report.

Legal
7.3

There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny
committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role. This report
demonstrates that the committee has been effective during 2018/19.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No – this report is a review of work already undertaken.

Equality and Diversity
7.5

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No – this report is a review of
work already undertaken.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

That the Council’s scrutiny
arrangements are ineffective or
inefficient.

The scrutiny work
undertaken by the
committee does not add
value in the manner that it
ought to.

An effective overview and
scrutiny function, reviewed
regularly, is in operation.

Areas where scrutiny is
required are missed.
Contact Officers
Anthea Lowe – Solicitor to the Council anthea.lowe@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Review of Effectiveness

Background Documents Available
None.
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
SMT

Date sent
Report author
1 April 2019
1 April 2019
11 April 2019

Page 293

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
1 April 2019
N/A
N/A
26 April 2019
N/A
N/A

Page 294

APPENDIX 1
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2018/19

1.
2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

ISSUE
Does the authority have a dedicated
Overview and Scrutiny Committee?
Do the terms of reference clearly set
out the purpose of the Committee?

YES
X

Does the committee fulfil the
statutory requirements surrounding
the local authority scrutiny
arrangements?
Does the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee report directly to Cabinet
and/or Full Council?

X

Does the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee provide support to the
authority in meeting the
requirements of good governance?
Does the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee use that power to
challenge the
Executive/Committees?
Is an annual evaluation undertaken
to assess whether the Committee is
fulfilling its terms of reference and
that adequate consideration has
been given to all core areas?
Has an effective committee
structure and composition of the
committee been selected? This
should include:-

X

NO

N/A

X

Comment

The Committee reviews its terms
of reference annually at its first
meeting. The terms of reference
are also reviewed annually by Full
Council.

X

The Annual Scrutiny Report is
considered by Full Council at its
Annual General Meeting.
Recommendations are also made
to Cabinet/Council as
appropriate.

X

Portfolio Holder reviews are part
of the regular agenda for the
Committee.

X

This report fulfils this objective.

X
i. separation from the Executive
X
ii. politically balanced membership
X
iii. an appropriate mix of knowledge
and skills amongst the membership
X
iv. size of committee that is not
unwieldy
X

Page 295

ISSUE
v. where co-opted members are
used, that they have been appointed
using an appropriate process.
9. Does the chair of the Committee
have appropriate knowledge and
skills?
10. Are arrangements in place to
support the committee with
briefings and training?

YES

11. Does the Committee have good
working relationships with key
people and organisations, including
the executive and management
team?

X

12. Does the Committee plan its work in
order to ensure best value added?

X

13. Does the Committee meet regularly
to a planned timetable and work
schedule
14. Are meetings free and open without
political influences being displayed
and are agenda papers available to
members of the public?
15. Are decisions reached promptly?

X

16. Are agenda papers circulated in
advance of meetings to allow
adequate preparation by Members?
17. Does the Committee have the
benefit of appropriate officers at its
meetings?

X

NO

N/A

Comment

X

The Chair continues to undertake
training relevant to scrutiny.

X

The designated Scrutiny Officer
moved into a new role in
September 2018. Since that time,
the Solicitor to the Council has
been responsible for supporting
the scrutiny function. With the
implementation of the Customer
Connect programme, the support
offered to scrutiny will need to be
kept under review through the
transition period. Training is
offered annually.
Regular attendance at committee
meetings from both Executive
members and the management
team.
As well as internal relationships,
the Committee has had good
engagement with the Director of
Public Health and Community
Safety Partnership during the
2018/19 year.
The Work Programme and
Forward Plan are considered at
each meeting.

X

X

X

Page 296

Members are required to declare
any party whip to which they are
subject. The committee is
politically balanced.
No items have been deferred in
the last 12 months. The start
times of meetings have been
brought forward on occasion to
ensure that business could be
transacted to schedule.
In accordance with legislative
requirements.

ISSUE
18. Have all portfolio holders attended a
meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee in the past year?

YES

19. Does a member of the Corporate
Management Team and a member
of the Council’s Executive attend all
meetings?
20. Does the committee take a role in: Risk management
 Performance monitoring
 Financial monitoring and
budget scrutiny
 Holding Portfolio Holders to
account?
21. Has the committee used predecision scrutiny?
22. Have the relevant performance
monitoring reports been considered
promptly?
23. Has the committee been involved in
early policy development?

X

24. Has the committee been provided
with updates on the progress of its
recommendations?
25. Have the Committee’s
recommendations been accepted by
Cabinet?
26. Has the Committee evaluated
whether and how it is adding value
to the organisation.
27. Can the Committee access other
committees and call officers to
account as necessary?
28. Is the role and purpose of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
understood and accepted across the
authority?
29. Is adequate secretarial and
administrative support provided to
the Committee?

X

NO
X

N/A

Comment
All Portfolio Holders with the
exception of Cllr Robin Ashcroft
have attended a committee
meeting in the past year.
However, Cllr Ashcroft was only
appointed to the Executive on 8
January 2019. .

X

X
X

All monitoring reports have been
received as scheduled.

X

One example being the Public
Health Strategy during the
2018/19 year.
Update reports are presented in
April and October meetings.

X

X

Through its annual report and its
annual review of effectiveness.

X

X

Training is offered on an annual
basis to officers and Members.

X

Via the Committee Services team.

Page 297

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 298

Item No.17
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Friday, 26 April 2019

Work Programme Setting 2019/20
Portfolio:

Cllr Vicky Hughes – Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Report from:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Anthea Lowe – Solicitor to the Council

Wards:

All Wards

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

It is anticipated that Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have sufficient information
to allow it to set a work programme for the forthcoming year. That work programme
will be set so as to make effective use of resources and will add strategic value to the
work of the Council in line with its local priorities as contained in the Council Plan.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to
consider and agree its 2019/20 Work Programme

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the power to review or scrutinise
decisions made, or actions taken, in connection with the discharge of any of the
Council’s functions. It also has power to make recommendations to the Council or
Cabinet and to consider any matters which affect the Council’s area or its
communities. The Committee also plays an important role in policy development and
review.

3.2

As part of these responsibilities, the Committee sets an annual work programme at
its meeting in April of each year. The work programme ensures that the Committee
is able to focus on those areas where it is likely to add the most value. It can do this
through its formal meetings, through one-day/half-day workshops or through the work
of task and finish groups.

3.3

Prioritisation is vital to ensure that there are sufficient resources to allow the work
programme planning to take place and to ensure that the work programme is
supported throughout 2019/20. An article published by the Local Government
Scrutiny Information Unit Making scrutiny count suggests that “one major scrutiny
and perhaps two shorter reviews in the course of a year is realistic”.

3.4

Submissions for topics were invited from all district councillors, SLDC Senior
Management Team and operational managers (as per the pre-1 April organisational
structure), parish and town councils and external partner organisations. The request
for topics was also placed on the SLDC website.

Page 299

3.5

Four topics were submitted during the consultation phase. These are attached for
consideration at Appendix 1. Two items from the 2018/19 work programme have
yet to be considered and are also included within the items for consideration at
Appendix 1.

3.6

The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the
Solicitor to the Council and the Council’s Corporate Management Team will, prior to
the Committee meeting, conduct an initial prioritisation of the topics submitted. An
updated Appendix 1 will be provided at the meeting to include recommendations.

3.7

It was agreed during the annual work programme setting in 2018/19, that the
Committee has an opportunity to realign its focus so as to take a strategic approach
to its Work Programme and to undertake fewer, broader, future-looking reviews
providing much greater added value than could be the case for numerous, specific,
smaller-scale reviews.

3.8

Partnership working, and particularly the engagement of partners through reviews
has been recognised by the Committee as increasingly important. The benefit of this
approach was clear when the review of the Older Persons Housing Strategy was
undertaken. It is an approach that is also being adopted for the Customer Connect
Locality Working Task & Finish Group.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

Submissions for topics were invited from all district councillors, Senior Management
Team and operational managers, parish and town councils and external partner
organisations. The request for topics was also placed on the Council’s website.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The Committee could opt not to use a structured work programme. This is not
recommended as, in order for scrutiny to operate effectively, there is a need to
ensure that that the work it carries out is timely, accords with the Council priorities,
will add value and that there are appropriate resources available for the work to be
carried out.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s broad remit and varied work programme
means that it work often links to all of the priorities and targets set out within the
current Council Plan. The links between each topic and the Council’s priorities are
set out in Appendix 1.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no direct financial or resource implications arising from this report.
However, any work pursued needs to provide good value for money and ensure that
best use is made of resources.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. There is, however, a
need to ensure that there are sufficient resources to support the work of the
Committee throughout 2019/20.

Legal
7.3

Every local authority has a legal obligation to operate an overview and scrutiny
committee. The preparation of a planned work programme ensures that the
committee is effective in its role. In turn, this will enable the Council to demonstrate
that there are effective scrutiny arrangements in place.

Page 300

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No – consideration of such matters will be given to the any chosen
topics during their review.

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No – consideration of any topics
as part of the Overview and Scrutiny work programme will be considered during any
reviews.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

The work programme does not
add value.

Resources are not used to
their maximum.

A planned work
programme that aligns
with strategic priorities and
agreed criteria.

The work programme is not
balanced effectively.

The work programme is
not completed or the
effectiveness of planned
work is reduced.

Regular reviewing of the
work programme to
ensure that the work will
continue to add value in a
timely manner.

Contact Officers
Anthea Lowe – Solicitor to the Council, anthea.lowe@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
(delete if no appendices attached)
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Table of submitted topics

Background Documents Available
None.
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
SMT

Date sent
Report author
5 April 2019
5 April 2019
11 April 2019

Circulated to
Assistant Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)

Date sent
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
5 April 2019
N/A
N/A
26 April 2019
N/A

Page 301

Circulated to
Council

Date sent
N/A

Page 302

Appendix 1

Page 303

Suggested Topic

Council Plan Links

Financial reporting – Parishes are
unaware of spending in their area,
particularly rural areas, compared
with the likes of Kendal,
Windermere etc.
Private Water Supplies – risk
assessments, testing and charges
etc. To undertake a review of the
Council’s legal obligations in
respect of private water supplies
and to review its policies in
relation to private water supplies
to ensure that it is in accordance
with the legislative requirements.
To consider any work that could be
undertaken to publicise the
Council’s legal obligations and to
improve engagement with those
members of the public affected.

All

The Council and its
communities will
enhance and protect
the district’s heritage
and high quality
environment.
Wider aspect of health
and wellbeing in
ensuring the quality of
private water supplies
is acceptable.

Does this
proposal
relate to an
SLDC
function?
Not
specified

Yes – SLDC
currently
undertakes
private
water
supply
inspections.

Expected outcome

Suggested
Format

Timing of
review

Financial reports
sent to Parish
Councils to allow
them to see what is
spent in their parish
That the Council, its
Members and
residents can be
assured that the
Council has in place
appropriately
robust, legally
compliant measures
to ensure the
wellbeing of
residents.
That the Council
considers it charging
strategy/policy to
ensure, as best as
possible, that those
in rural areas are not
subject to a financial
disbenefit by virtue
of the nature of
their water supply.

Committee
Meeting
agenda item

Not
specified

One day
review.

No

Recommendation

Appendix 1

Page 304

Suggested Topic

Council Plan Links

Does this
proposal
relate to an
SLDC
function?
Not
specified.

To monitor the scope, speed and
implementation of the new SLDC
Climate Change Policy

All aspects of the
Council Plan.

Councillors speaking at District
Council Meetings not being explicit
about on behalf of which
community they are speaking.
Economic Growth Strategy –
carried forward from 2018/19
work programme.

Housing.

Planning
Committee.

All aspects of the
Council Plan.

Yes.

Expected outcome

Suggested
Format

Timing of
review

To ensure that
addressing Climate
Change is a priority
for our District.
Clarity of
representation

Not
specified.

Not
specified.

Committee
Meeting
agenda item.

No.

An updated
Economic Growth
Strategy that takes
account of the wider
economic picture
and growth
strategies including
the development of
the Northern
Powerhouse, the
Local Industrial
Strategy, Brexit and
the potential
benefits of a
functional economic
area consisting of
South Lakeland,
Barrow and
Lancaster.

Workshop

To
coincide
with the
review of
the
Economic
Growth
Strategy

Recommendation

Appendix 1

Suggested Topic

Council Plan Links

Strategic Review of the Council’s
Health and Wellbeing priority.

Culture and Wellbeing

SLDC regulation of private water
supplies

Page 305

Economy and Culture
Regulatory
improvements and
Local authorities act as the
scheduled monitoring
regulators for private water
of private water
supplies and have a number of
supplies to commercial
statutory duties under the Private premises within our
Water Supplies Regulations 2016.
district ensures that
These Regulations place a duty on water is safe to drink
local authorities to conduct a risk
for both employee’s
assessment of each private water
working in those
supply within their area at least
premises and also the
once every five years and
high number of people
undertake monitoring (sampling
who visit South
and analysis) in order to determine Lakeland every year.
compliance with drinking water
standards.
Housing and Health
Owners of shared
South Lakeland has approximately domestic private
1700 private water supplies, of
water supplies are
which 690 are required to be
empowered to seek

Does this
proposal
relate to an
SLDC
function?
Yes.

Yes, this
topic
relates to a
regulatory
activity
currently
undertaken
by The
Public
Protection
Group

Expected outcome

Suggested
Format

Timing of
review

A review of the
health and wellbeing
priority to ensure
that it is appropriate
for the needs of
South Lakeland
residents.
That a policy for
dealing with Private
Water Supplies is
developed and
recommended for
approval to SLDC
Cabinet.

One day
review

Not
specified

Task & Finish
Group

Yes. The
changes
anticipate
d for the
service
through
Customer
Connect
including
both
service
redesign
and
restructur
ing of
budgets
will seek
to make
improve
ments to
the

Recommendation

Appendix 1

Page 306

Suggested Topic

Council Plan Links

Regulated under the 2016
Regulations. The Regulated
supplies are those which serve
either commercial premises, or
those which serve more than one
property. Single domestic supplies
are exempt from the Regulations.

improvements to their
water supplies,
subsequently reducing
any inequalities in
domestic water
provision, and building
long term resilience in
the supply of water to
their homes.

This regulation protects the health
of our residents and visitors who
consume water from a private
supply whilst living, working, or
visiting South Lakeland.

Health and
Environment
Having a wholesome
supply of water, and
This is very important as 10% of
having the assurance
the local population rely on private that your supply is
water supplies and some 2.81
safe, seeks to improve
million visitors stayed in hotels,
wellbeing and reduce
B&Bs, holiday cottages, camping
illness caused by
and caravan sites and bunkhouses consumption of
in 2017, many of which are on
unwholesome water.
private water supplies.
A policy which draws
This regulatory activity has come
together not only the
under some criticism through both activities which we
the technical requirements of the
must undertake by
regulations, e.g. the works which
statute, but also what
are required to improve water
we seek to achieve in

Does this
proposal
relate to an
SLDC
function?

Expected outcome

Suggested
Format

Timing of
review

delivery
of this
service,
however
may not
be
complete
d until
later this
year. Due
to current
member
interest
we would
however
recomme
nd that
this work,
if
accepted,
is
undertak
en over
the
summer,
with a
view that
a report

Recommendation

Appendix 1

Suggested Topic

Council Plan Links

supplies, and also the charges
which SLDC make, in accordance
with regulations, on the supply
owners.

relation to our council
prioritises, will
enhance transparency
and promote the
benefits that this
essential service
offers.

Page 307

It is anticipated that details of this
service will be presented to the
Overview & Scrutiny committee
for them to consider and identify
areas for review and improvement
to assist development of a policy
for this area of work.

Does this
proposal
relate to an
SLDC
function?

Expected outcome

Suggested
Format

Timing of
review

to cabinet
will follow
in
Autumn.

Recommendation

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 308

Item No.18
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Friday, 26 April 2019

South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership
Review 2018/19
Portfolio:

Councillor Philip Dixon - Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder

Report from:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Simon Blyth – Principal Partnerships and Communities Officer

Wards:

Not applicable

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

To provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update on the South
Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (CSP). It should be noted that Cumbria is
one of the safest counties in England, and within Cumbria, South Lakeland is one of
the 2 safest Districts, along with Eden. Members will have a greater understanding of
the work of the partnership and how the current crime priorities are being tackled
within the CSP area (South Lakeland and Barrow).

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:(1)
Receives and endorses the report, noting the contribution made
through the CSP to the Council Plan (2019-24) target: “Working with partners
to reduce domestic violence, alcohol related crime, substance misuse, child
sexual exploitation and antisocial behaviour”.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The South Cumbria CSP covers the areas of South Lakeland and Barrow. It is one
of three CSPs within Cumbria; South, West and North, each covering 2 District
areas.

3.2

The CSP aims to reduce crime and enable local communities to remain safe and
reassured, without fear or threat of crime. It does this through identifying priorities
(related to crime figures and trends, consultation and the Police and Crime Plan) for
its annual Partnership Plan. Sub-groups are convened, where necessary, to develop
projects and actions.

3.3

In April 2018 the CSP agreed to focus on 4 local priorities: Alcohol and violent
crime, Domestic abuse, Mental Health (and its impacts on the criminal justice
system) and child sexual exploitation.

3.4

There are 4 CSP meetings per annum, currently held in Barrow and Kendal. The
CSP Chair is currently Councillor Brendan Sweeney (Barrow Borough Council) who
was appointed in October 2016. The Vice Chair is Police Superintendent Matt
Pearman.

Page 309

3.5

There has been a recent focus on serious and organised crime and Prevent (antiterrorism) at recent meetings with the Police providing verbal updates of the situation
in South Cumbria, giving the opportunity for partners to be aware and work
collaboratively where applicable.

3.6

How safe is Cumbria? The Crime and Community Safety Strategic Assessment for
Cumbria 2017-18 states: Cumbria is a relatively safe place in which to live, work and
visit. In many areas, levels of crime and community safety issues are better than that
experienced nationally and / or in the North West region.
South Lakeland residents’ top three concerns are speeding vehicles, dangerous
driving and rural crime.

3.7

The latest crime statistics for South Lakeland (from Cumbria Constabulary) are
detailed below. The Police state that there are two significant contributory factors to
rising crime. Firstly, the continued increase in confidence from members of the public
to report what has happened and secondly, statistics have been impacted by greater
compliance by officers with crime recording practices. This is something which has
been recognised nationally by the Office of National Statistics.

3.8

South Lakeland crime overview (2014 – 2018):
Crime
Type

2014/15

All Crime

3452

3954

3779

4124

Anti-social
Behaviour

2795

2028

1600

1489

783

787

850

644

698

751

817

632

154

151

123

130

330

288

261

341

148

193

170

217

31

39

49

23

515

522

550

610

388

378

357

386

91

96

92

155

Domestic
Abuse
Criminal
damage
(including
arson)
Drug
crime
Violence
against
person
(alcohol)
Sexual
offences
Hate
Crime
Alcohol
related
crime
Road
Safety:
Killed and
seriously
injured
Burglary
dwelling
offences

3.9

2015/16 2016/17

2017/18

Graph

Change in
recording
burglaries

County Lines is an emerging area of organised criminality that sees criminal gangs
from other parts of the country seeking to supply controlled drugs, frequently heroin

Page 310

and crack cocaine in towns and counties geographically separate from where the
gang is based. South Cumbria has experienced this phenomena in all the main
towns, a threat which has been tackled robustly by Cumbria Constabulary who have
seen national media coverage of their approach to tackling these drugs gangs.
Offenders from cities such as London, Manchester and Liverpool have all been
prosecuted in operations to tackle drug supply over recent months. Operation
Horizon, for example was a major operation which lasted many months and, to
date, has seen 26 offenders charged with drugs offences. This enforcement activity
is supported by prevention and education work such as the ATiC project which is
supported by the South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership.
3.10

In the past 12 months (2018/19) South Cumbria CSP has:



Developed a joined up and collaborative problem solving approach to crime
prevention in South Cumbria



Developed Local Focus Units in Barrow and South Lakeland for a multi-agency
approach to local, tactical issues.



Established links between 3rd sector and statutory agencies e.g. Barrow MultiCultural Forum, the Local Focus Hubs, MIND and Morecambe Bay CCG.

3.11

The following projects were funded, and actions undertaken, to tackle the CSP
priorities:
Alcohol and Violent Crime:
•

£10,000 funding to create a welfare hub of statutory and 3rd sector partners
in Egerton Court, Barrow and installing CCTV. To tackle serious issues of
ASB, substance/ alcohol misuse etc. in the area.

•

£5000 funding to ‘Barrow Detached’ project with youth workers present in
town on Friday and Saturday nights, staff working in pairs. Aim to enable
young people to access support services, engage them in diversionary
activities and reduce the amount of anti-social behaviour.

Domestic Abuse:
•

Links were established between homeless teams (SLDC and Barrow) and
Women’s Community Matters resulting in domestic abuse training for staff
offered to, and taken up by, partner agencies.

•

£5000 funding for a CADAS collaboration with Springfield Hostel, Kendal
with the aim of working more closely to support victims and rehabilitate
perpetrators of domestic abuse and sexual violence with alcohol issues.
Focused on the overlap between sexual abuse and alcohol abuse to support
people on recovery path for both. Training is open to anyone working with
victims and perpetrators of DA.

Child Sexual Exploitation:
•

Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (missing, exploited and trafficked
children) presented at a CSP meeting and reported a significant increase in
support for children who are at risk over the last 3 years. The LSCB and
CALC agreed to raise awareness of CSE in rural areas of South Lakeland.

Page 311

Mental Health:
•

A special CSP meeting was held to look at the issues of people with mental
health problems in the criminal justice system with no access to support
agencies. Key partners attended including Haverigg Prison, The Assistant
Coroner, CCG, Cumbria Partnership Foundation Trust, Police, Probation,
MIND, Unity, and Cumbria County Council. As a result of this meeting the
group has been involved in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s plans for
development of linked up mental health services, and points raised at the
meeting have been included in the CCG plans.

•

Key issue identified by CSP partners is discharge (from prison, mental
health in-patient services and care) and the lack of liaison during this
process between partners that can lead to homelessness or not being linked
into local services. Another issue raised by the CSP partners is the inability
for statutory services to accept referrals for those with substance misuse
issues.

•

Proposal from the CSP to the CCG that key mental health issues such as
discharge, dual diagnosis and suicides should be raised with relevant
bodies, with the potential to be included in new CCC and CCG mental health
strategies. SLDC and Barrow homeless teams will meet CCG managers
regarding mental health referrals.

Applied Theatre in Cumbria (ATiC):
County Lines is a developing issue in South Cumbria involving drugs, serious
and organised crime, and exploitation and with links to modern day slavery.
Consequently Year two of ATiC will consist of interactive performances for
year 9 school students on decision-making and critical thinking related to
drugs and County Lines. With 2 venues in South Lakeland and Barrow
students will make decisions and face the consequences of those decisions.
Film, music and an interactive set will take the students on a journey.
Workshops will follow where students can reflect on what’s happened and
find out where to seek help and advice. There will be follow up in schools
from the County Council Child exploitation team. Students and professionals
are being consulted by the creative team to ensure relevance and realism.
The performances will run in May 2019.
3.12

Other activities supported by South Cumbria CSP:


Safer Cumbria and South Cumbria CSP. The wider Safer Cumbria structure
includes regular meetings between CSP chairs, the chairs of other Safer
Cumbria crime theme task groups (domestic violence, alcohol, reoffending
and sexual violence) and an officer from the PCC’s staff. This has proved
beneficial to CSP chairs and coordinators allowing for an exchange of ideas,
and providing opportunities for cross CSP and thematic working.



Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR’s) have now been held in all 3 CSP
areas in Cumbria, and there is currently a DHR in the West CSP area.
Community Safety Partnership Chairs have the responsibility to call a DHR
panel and to report on findings to the Home Office. The report has to go
through a quality assurance process before it is published. Cumbrian statutory
partners have agreed to contribute £750 per annum to a fund supporting
future DHR’s county wide. Safer Cumbria have produced DHR guidance

Page 312

showing clear responsibilities for the DHR process. Recently the CSP
coordinators have reviewed the DHR process and the County Protocol and
are working on a training session on the process for local agencies.
3.13

Cumbria wide initiatives supported and funded by the CSP:


Domestic Violence Champions Network: There are 2 DV champions at
SLDC who attend the South DV Network meetings. DV champions are
trained, supported and resourced practitioners who are a central point of
contact across the Council. SLDC have recently published a Domestic Abuse
and the Workplace Policy which highlights the support available for SLDC
employees and members who are victims of domestic abuse.



Business against Crime South Lakeland Partnership (BACSLP)
The Business Against Crime South Lakes Partnership (BACSLP) is a nonstatutory group of businesses and retailers who work together, under
Barwatch and Shopwatch schemes, to keep town centres in South Lakeland
safe. The barwatch co-ordinator identifies individuals who are involved in
violent crime and anti-social behaviour linked to alcohol in licensed premises.
Monitoring reports are provided to the CSP on number of meetings held,
number of warning letters, short term bans, indefinite bans and training
offered to licensees



Prevent is a national programme to combat terrorism using the 4 P’s: pursue,
prevent, protect and prepare. SLDC, are implementing a programme of
Council wide training on Prevent awareness. Information and updates have
also been provided at CSP meetings and work is continuing with key partners
around this agenda.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

N/A

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

There are no alternative options suggested to members. This report provides
information on a statutory body, but is not subject to a decision.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

This report links to the Council Plan target: “we will work with partners to reduce the
number of people affected by rural crime, domestic violence, alcohol related crime,
substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and serious and organised crime through
our excellent Community Safety Partnership work and the Applied Theatre in
Cumbria Project”.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

SLDC acts as accountable body for the partnership, holding and administering all
funding as directed by the CSP. The Police and Crime Commissioner allocated
£20,000 to each CSP area (i.e. north, south and west) with effect from 2017/18. In
addition, £15,000 is allocated to each CSP area towards the cost of managing the
work of the CSP and £15,000 towards the maintenance of Barwatch schemes across

Page 313

the county, with a direct benefit to Business Against Crime South Lakeland
Partnership.

AMOUNT
PURPOSE
(per annum
to March
2020)
£15,000
Contribution to costs of CSP coordinator in administering the CSP and
delivering on projects.
£20,000
Funding for local projects that support
the Police and Crime Plan and the local
CSP action plan aimed at reducing
crime and anti-social behaviour and
supporting victims of crime and tackling
emerging issues.
£15,000
Contribution to Barwatch schemes
across Barrow and South Lakeland

ORGANISATION

SLDC

Held by SLDC

Business Against Crime
South Lakeland
Partnership (BACSLP)

Human Resources
7.2

SLDC provides the coordination of the CSP and administrative support. This is
funded through the OPCC. No other specific SLDC issues have been identified.

Legal
7.3

This report relates to statutory responsibilities detailed in the Crime and Disorder Act
1998, the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (Section
108)

7.3.1

There remains a statutory requirement for CSPs to produce a Strategic Assessment,
currently undertaken by the Cumbria Intelligence Observatory and an annual
Partnership Plan.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? Yes (attached at Appendix 1)

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, N/A

7.6

Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: Positive impact on
crime, poverty, education, alcohol, drugs and risk taking behaviour.

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
report does not relate to a proposal or require a decision.

7.9

Summary of equality and diversity impacts: N/A

Page 314

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

There are no significant risks
associated with updating this
committee on the work of South
Lakeland CSP

Not applicable

Not applicable

Contact Officers
Simon Blyth, Principal Partnership and Communities Officer, Partnerships and
Organisational Development, 01539 793262, email: s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

South Cumbria CSP Partnership
Plan

South Lakeland and Barrow CSP Partnership Plan
2018-19: https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/yourcouncil/partnerships/community-safetypartnership/south-cumbria-community-safetypartnership-plan/

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
SMT

Date sent
19/3/19
19/3/19
19/3/19
19/3/19

Circulated to
Assistant Director

Date sent
19/3/19

Human Resources Manager

19/3/19

Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

N/A
19/3/19
N/A
19/3/19
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Page 315

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 316

Appendix 1

South Lakeland District Council
Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma
Project, policy or programme: Community Safety Partnership Review 2018/19
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Please tick the appropriate box

Environmental Conditions
Air quality

x

Water quality and
pollution

x

Built environment

x

Natural environment
and biodiversity

x

Energy
consumption/efficiency

x

Noise

x

Transport

x

Recycling

x

Food production

x

Social and Economic Factors
Employment

x

Income

x

Poverty

x

Education, skills and
training

x

Housing

Applied Theatre in
Cumbria (ATiC)
Project will employ
local creative
professionals.
ATiC
CSP projects
including work with
DA victims and
perpetrators and
Egerton Court project.
CSP projects
including work with
DA victims and
perpetrators and
Egerton Court project.
x

Page 317

Recommendations

Appendix 1
Project, policy or programme: Community Safety Partnership Review 2018/19
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

Crime

x

Work environment

x

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing
Nutrition and diet

x

Physical activity

x

Alcohol

x

See above

Drugs

x

See above

Risk taking behaviour

x

Smoking

x

Loneliness and
isolation

x

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health
Communication
methods

x

Active travel

x

Access to leisure

x

Access to culture

x

Access to green
spaces

x

Page 318

